s Crystal Crank Club Craving Connection Cock Condom Cum Cam Consent Co xt Control Compulsion Coping Concealment Consequences Care Competence assion Comprehensive Change Community Colonization Culture Ceremony C Club Craving Connection Cock Condom Cum Cam Consent Conversation Co ulsion Coping Concealment Consequences Care Competence Compassion ( rehensive Change Community Colonization Culture Ceremony Chems Crystal ng Connection Cock Condom Cum Cam Consent Conversation Context Contro ulsion Coping Concealment Consequences Care Competence Compassion ( rehensive Change Community Colonization Culture Coromonia Change Consta **CONNECTION, CARE, COMMUNITY:** Strengthening Harm Reduction for GBT2Q People who Use Drugs in Canada zation Culture Ceremony Chems Crystal Crank Change Club Cr nt Conversation Context Control Culture Club Ceremony Community Conceal quences Care Competence Connection Comprehensive Change Community zation Ceremony Chems Crystal Care Club Craving Connection Cock Condo assion Conversation Context Control Community Coping Club Concealment ( quences Chems Crystal Crank Club Craving Connection Cock Condom Cum ( ealment Conversation Context Control Compulsion Coping Concealment Cons nony Chems Crystal Crank Club Craving Connection Cock Condom Cum Cam ersation Context Control duent Consequences Ca Colonization Culture etence Compassic **SUMMARY REPORT** Cam Consent Co s Crystal Crank ( xt Control Competence Club Craving Connection Cock Condom Cum Cam Consent Conversation Co ulsion Coping Concealment Consequences Care Competence Compassion ( rehensive Change Community Colonization Culture Ceremony Chems Crystal ig Configer ıl Craii ersa ol Comb **LEGAL JURIDIQUE** nce comp NETWORK Crystal t Contro Same thinking of white or ce Compassion C rehensive Change Community Colonization Culture Ceremony Chems Crystal ng Connection Cock Condom Cum Cam Consent Conversation Context Contro ulsion Coping Concealment Consequences Care Competence Compassion C rehensive Change Community Colonization Culture Ceremony Chems Crystal ng Connection Cock Condom Cum Cam Consent Conversation Context Contro

## **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

Richard Elliott researched and drafted this document, with review and input from Sandra Ka Hon Chu.

Thank you to the key informants who shared their valuable insights via interviews: Andrew Thomas, with additional input from Patrick Maubert (AIDS Coalition of Nova Scotia), Colin Johnson (Toronto Harm Reduction Alliance), Jordan Bond-Gorr (Gay Men's Sexual Health Alliance), Jess Murray (Queer & Trans Health Collective), Mathieu Gagnon Mailhot (RÉZO), and Nicholas Boyce (Canadian Drug Policy Coalition), as well as an additional expert in queer and trans health who has previously undertaken community advocacy related to substance use but who could only speak informally and without attribution. The observations attributed to them in this report are not necessarily positions of any organization with which they are affiliated. In some instances, a key informant was clear that, out of an abundance of caution, they did not want an observation to risk being attributed to an organization; in those instances, we have simply identified the source as being a key informant, without naming the person.

Thank you as well to the external reviewers of a partial draft of the literature review that informed this report:

Matthew Numer (Dalhousie University), Trevor Hart
(Toronto Metropolitan University) and Rod Knight
(Université de Montréal, University of British Columbia, and British Columbia Centre on Substance Use). Any errors and omissions are the responsibility of the author.

Production of this document has been made possible through a financial contribution from the Public Health Agency of Canada. The views expressed herein do not necessarily represent the views of the Public Health Agency of Canada.

#### **Graphic design and layout:**

Dylan DeMarsh

#### **Suggested Citation**

R. Elliott. Connection, Care, Community: Strengthening Harm Reduction for GBT2Q people who use drugs in Canada – Summary Report. Toronto: HIV Legal Network, 2023.

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Introduction	1
Objective, outputs, scope, and approach of this project	2
Scope and methods of literature review	3
Insights from key informants	4
Notes on terminology	4
Sexual orientation and gender identity	4
Substance use	5
Key findings	5
Substance use among GBT2Q people	5
Sexualized drug use	6
Context of substance use among GBT2Q people	10
Harms associated with substance use among GBTQ2 people	19
Specific GBT2Q populations	24
Interventions	33
Barriers to services for GBT2Q people who use drugs	38
Interventions needed for GBT2Q people who use drugs	43
Scan of resources, services, and federal strategies and funding	56
Educational resources	56
Services	56
Training of service providers	57
Federal strategies and funding	57
Conclusion	59

## **INTRODUCTION**

The use of both legal and criminalized substances plays a significant role in the lives of many gay, bisexual, trans and/or queer men, and other men who have sex with men, as well as Two-Spirit and non-binary people ("GBT2Q people"). This role can be both positive and negative. There is ample evidence that, for various reasons, GBT2Q people have higher rates of substance use, including problematic use. Similarly, at the population level, the types and patterns of drug use are different for GBT2Q people than for the population as a whole, and many GBT2Q people have particular relationships with substances and patterns of use that are intertwined with social and sexual identities, networks, and behaviours. This has implications for reducing the harms sometimes associated with substance use, and preventing and treating problematic use, among GBT2Q people.

In Canada, gay, bisexual, and other men who have sex with men (GBMSM) have long been, and remain, the single largest "key population" represented among people living with HIV, and people who inject drugs (and who are not identified as GBMSM) represent the third largest.[1] As a population, men who both have sex with men and use drugs face heightened risk of HIV, hepatitis C virus (HCV), and other sexually transmitted or bloodborne infections (STBBIs),[2] as well as other harms sometimes associated with substance use. Meanwhile, both GBT2Q people and people who use drugs face barriers to healthcare, including harm reduction services and services for preventing and treating problematic substance use. The intersection of these two identities means that GBT2Q people who use drugs have particular needs and face additional barriers. Differences in relation to HIV status, gender identity, Indigeneity, race, ethnicity, age, ability, level of education, socio-economic status, involvement in sex work, current or previous incarceration, and more play a role in shaping one's sexual identity and behaviour, use of substances, and access to health and other services.

Despite this, until recently there has been limited research into the health needs of GBT2Q people who use drugs. Less than a decade ago, Rainbow Health Ontario and the Canadian Harm Reduction Network jointly observed that "Canadian data is solely lacking on 2SLGBTQ+ substance use, associated risks, and harm reduction."[3] Encouragingly, there has been a significant increase over the past decade in research into drug use among GBT2Q people and related health concerns, and important initiatives to create information and services. Much of the research that does exist is driven by a concern about HIV and other STBBIs, particularly among GBMSM who use drugs. In particular, the topic of sexualized drug use — including the sub-category known as "chemsex" or "party and play" (PnP) — has attracted attention. More data and discussion has helped spur new initiatives and programs to address problematic chemsex. But the response is still in its early stages. There are still many gaps in the research, relatively few programs specifically for this population, and ongoing barriers to the services that do exist. Equitable access to needed programs — both for the prevention of HIV and other STBBIs specifically and for the protection and promotion of health more generally — is a matter of ongoing public health and human rights concern.

There has been even less attention to the need for action at the level of public policy as part of protecting and promoting the health and human rights of GBT2Q people who use drugs. To the extent that this has been considered, it has been largely in the context of HIV-related advocacy, where the links between advocating for

the rights of LGBTQ+ people and the rights of people who use drugs, particularly based on a concern for health, are well understood. But the health and other human rights of LGBTQ+ people who use drugs should also be a consideration more broadly, beyond just HIV, within both drug policy and LGBTQ+ rights movements. There have been important instances where these connections have been made,[4] including in the Canadian context.[5] But these have been relatively few and far between. For various reasons, including the stigma and prejudice still surrounding both gay sex and drug use — and particularly the combination of the two — there has been reticence in some quarters to take up the health of GBT2Q people who use drugs as an important human rights issue.[6]

Both the LGBTQ+ liberation and drug policy reform movements are rooted in the principles of privacy, personal and bodily autonomy, and the need to tackle stigma, moral panic, police surveillance and repression. [7]

- HIV Legal Network, Submission to Parliamentary committee, 2019

# OBJECTIVE, OUTPUTS, SCOPE, AND APPROACH OF THIS PROJECT

This project seeks to identify what can and needs to be done to strengthen the response to HIV, other STBBIs, and other health concerns among GBT2Q people who use drugs, including in the areas of legal and policy measures, funding, research, education and training, service provision, and community spaces. To that end, the HIV Legal Network is producing the following resources:

- This **Summary Report** draws on three sources: an extensive literature review; interviews with selected key informants, most of whom are GBT2Q people who use(d) drugs and all of whom are involved in providing services and/or community organizing related to harm reduction; and an environmental scan of programs and initiatives in Canada relevant to substance use by GBT2Q people.
- An Agenda for Action sets out recommendations for action in various areas, informed by and complementing this summary report.

## Scope and methods of literature review

This document contains a heavily abridged summary of the most salient literature regarding substance use, and harm reduction and treatment needs and interventions, among GBT2Q people. Selected references are cited.

The exercise was not conducted as a systematic review of literature indexed in multiple databases. Instead, it was an iterative process that included:

- searches via Google Scholar using a variety of search terms for articles related to substance use among 2SLGBTQ+ people (with a focus on GBT2Q people);
- searches in selected journals identified as important and likely sources of relevant articles, based on their subject matter focus (e.g. substance use, drug policy, 2SLGBTQ+ health, HIV and sexual health), prominence in the field, and observed history of publishing relevant articles;
- reviewing reference lists in the peer-reviewed literature and reports in the grey literature to identify other items of potential relevance;
- webinars and recordings of select conference presentations available online;
- consultation with particular experts in specific fields (including the key informants interviewed) about any documents they consider key;
- review of a partial draft of the literature review from three independent, external reviewers who are all academic researchers with years of expertise in this field;
- searching websites of civil society organizations and government departments of relevance; and
- contacting some organizations directly with inquiries.

There is potential bias in that the review of literature was conducted primarily in English, although Frenchlanguage materials were reviewed where identified.

This summary report does not provide an exhaustive summary of the peer-reviewed or grey literature; such a task was beyond the scope of this project. Rather, particularly in the context of non-Canadian literature where scoping and/or systematic reviews have been published in recent years, it captures the key findings of those reviews and updates them with more recent, relevant studies where applicable. In the case of individual studies, those from similar high-income countries have generally been considered more relevant, depending on the subject matter. In the case of Canadian literature, there is an attempt to include individual studies over at least the past decade, but some studies have been omitted where similar data has been reported more recently. In other instances, especially where relatively little literature exists on a specific point or population, particularly in relation to the Canadian context, some older studies or sources, including from beyond Canada, have been included if they seem still relevant.

## **Insights from key informants**

A selected number of key informants who are members of the 2SLGBTQ+ community were interviewed for their insights. All but one identify as someone with personal experience of drug use. All of them work in the field of harm reduction and/or drug policy in some capacity. They drew upon their expertise to answer questions about: the needs of GBTQ2 people in relation to preventing, treating, and reducing the harm associated with problematic substance use, including sexualized use; barriers to, and facilitators of, access to needed information and services; considerations affecting specific populations of GBT2Q people; community organizing and community spaces, physical and virtual, for addressing substance use among GBT2Q people; funding needs and priorities; and possible legal, policy, and programmatic measures to better protect the health and human rights of GBT2Q people who use drugs. Key themes that emerged from those interviews are integrated into the summary of findings below, alongside the review of the literature.

## **NOTES ON TERMINOLOGY**

## **Sexual orientation and gender identity**

This project addresses harm reduction and other needs related to substance use among gay, bisexual, and other men (both cisgender and trans) who have sex with men, as well as Two-Spirit and non-binary people ("GBT2Q people"). Much of the research is specific to the narrower category of gay, bisexual, and other men who have sex with men (GBMSM), so much of what can be said based on the literature is best supported in relation to this particular population. However, this report and related documents also include some specific discussion of the situation among trans women, another population of concern that also experiences higher prevalence of problematic substance use (including sexualized drug use), HIV and other STBBIs, and unmet health needs. There are similarities to the situation of GBT2Q men, but also specific concerns and needs of trans women that warrant their own analysis, funding, and services.

In some instances, the broader, all-encompassing terms "sexual and gender minorities" ("SGM") or "LGBTQ+" are used when an observation applies to all lesbian, gay, bisexual, trans, or otherwise queer people more broadly. When referring to the Canadian context specifically, the acronym "2SLGBTQ+" is generally used, thereby also explicitly including persons who identify as Two-Spirit – a pan-(North American)-Indigenous term coined by Two-Spirit people that may "be used interchangeably to express one's sexuality, gender, and spirituality as separate terms for each or together as an interrelated identity that captures the wholeness of their gender and sexuality with their spirituality."[8]

#### **Substance use**

Unless referencing specific sources, this document generally avoids terms such as "addiction" or "substance use disorder," which are often stigmatizing, and instead uses the term "problematic substance use." This term is itself imperfect. It should not be misinterpreted as suggesting that substance use is inherently problematic. To the contrary, the qualifier "problematic" signals that there is also non-problematic substance use. In fact, most instances of substance use, regardless of the legal status of a substance, do not cause significant harm.[9] The frequency and/or intensity of use can become "problematic" for a person when it begins to cause actual harm or significant risk of harm, either to themselves or to another person. In the case of the person using the substance, this harm can come in the form of negative consequences in one or more domains of their life (e.g. health, work, relationships, legal difficulties) that they find disproportionate compared to the benefits of their use and that they wish were otherwise. In recognition of the agency and autonomy of people who use drugs, it is in this sense that this report uses the term "problematic substance use."

Problematic use among LGBTQ+ people of any substance — including alcohol as well as psychoactive drugs, regardless of their legal status — is of concern. This report is focused primarily on the use of substances other than alcohol and uses the terms "substances" and "drugs" interchangeably, as does much of the literature. However, problematic alcohol use is also higher among LGBTQ+ people, often for many of the same reasons underlying problematic use of other substances, including ones that are connected to sexual and/or gender identity in the context of homophobia and transphobia. As such, it should be kept in mind that some of the other observations below, which relate to (problematic) substance use more generally among LGBTQ+ people, are also applicable to problematic alcohol use.

## **KEY FINDINGS**

## Substance use among GBT2Q people

Studies from multiple countries have found that GBMSM are more likely to report the use of substances, including criminalized drugs, than the general population.[10] There is now also a significant and growing body of research confirming this among GBMSM in Canada.[11]

The most recent national data comes from the 2021 national *Sex Now* survey, conducted by the Community-Based Research Centre (CBRC) and involving more than 5800 GBT2Q respondents nation-wide, of whom more than 3800 responded to questions about substance use. More than 90% reported using a substance within the past six months. As is the case with the population in Canada as a whole, across all demographics, the most commonly used substances were alcohol (used by 82% of respondents) and cannabis (used by 53% of respondents). A significant percentage of respondents indicated use of psychedelics (16.2%), ecstasy/MDMA (10.1%), cocaine

(9.9%), GHB (7.7%), crystal meth (7.6%), and ketamine (4.8%).[12] Other local or provincial-level research in recent years confirms the general observation about higher prevalence of substance use among GBMSM and/or among 2SLGBTQ+ people more generally.

While there is ample evidence of disproportionate substance use among sexual and gender minorities, fewer studies have examined problematic substance use by sexual orientation or gender identity.[13] However, studies in the US have demonstrated a greater risk for "substance use disorder" among MSM compared to men who do not have sex with men,[14] and data from a large survey of more than 6400 LGBTQA+ youth in Australia found not only high prevalence of drug use in the previous six months, but that nearly one quarter had been concerned about their own drug use.[15] In Canada, the national 2012 *Mental Health Survey* found that 18% of respondents who identified as lesbian, gay, or bisexual met the criteria for substance use disorder within the previous 12 months, compared to only 4% among self-identified heterosexuals,[16] and in 2017, in a survey of more than 700 GBMSM in Vancouver, 17.4% indicated having been diagnosed by a doctor with an alcohol or substance use disorder at some point in their life.[17]

While not all substance use is "disordered" or "problematic," greater prevalence of substance use in a population does give rise to a greater population-level risk of harms associated with that use. As presented below, there is also extensive evidence that with respect to (i) the use of substances; (ii) the factors associated with their use; (iii) risks and experiences of harm; and (iv) the services and policies needed,

- sexual and gender minorities differ from heterosexual and/or cisgender people in some important respects;
- there are some differences between sexual and gender minority populations; and
- different considerations exist within sexual and gender minority populations based on factors such as HIV status, gender identity, race, age, ability, engagement in sex work, income, incarceration, etc., and the intersection of such factors with sexual or gender identity and substance use.

Effectively responding to the real and warranted health and human rights concerns raised by the high prevalence of substance use among GBT2Q people requires attending to these realities.

## Sexualized drug use

## Clarifying terminology: sexualized drug use and chemsex/"party-and-play"

Over the past two decades a growing body of research has identified and characterized patterns of drug use among GBMSM that are also linked with sex. In recent years, the term "sexualized drug use" (SDU) has generally emerged as a broad term referring to the use of any drug before or during sex, while the term "chemsex" — in Canada, more commonly referred to within the GBT2Q community as "Party and Play" (PnP) — is often used more narrowly to refer to a sub-category of SDU, namely sex that is accompanied, before and/or during the

encounter, by the use of certain drugs in order to facilitate, prolong, disinhibit, or enhance the experience.[18] These purposes are, of course, highly relevant to efforts to reduce the harms that may arise for some who PnP.

There is no universally agreed definition of "chemsex." [19] While sexualized drug use is common across genders and sexualities, [20] some have considered the term "chemsex" to refer to the use of specific drugs, and specifically for sex-related purposes, by GBMSM, [21] although some have extended it to trans people [22] and yet others have applied it more broadly. [23] Some researchers have argued it is not helpful "to narrowly delimit chemsex as a narrow and uniform set of identifiable and determinable risky contexts and behaviours," as this is too simplistic and risks reinforcing incorrect and stigmatizing assumptions (e.g. about how and why GBMSM use substances, that all use is problematic, etc.), which ultimately also undermines more effective practice in responding to problematic chemsex. They instead argue for a more flexible and expansive use of the term to leave room for complexity, including GBMSM's strategies of harm reduction within chemsex practice. [24] Perhaps more important than the precise definition of the term is the observation that the experiences of GBMSM and other sexual and gender minorities — and the ways in which sexual and gender minority identities intersect with substance use — must not be erased or sidelined in the appropriation of a term that originally emerged specifically out of their social and sexual spaces and culture.

In any event, the term "chemsex" is elastic and used inconsistently, particularly with respect to which drugs are included in the definition for purposes of a given study. [25] The list always includes methamphetamine, GHB/GBL, and mephedrone (and sometimes other amphetamine-type stimulants). Ketamine, ecstasy/MDMA, and cocaine are often included, given the frequency of their use in conjunction with sexual activity to enhance or intensify the experience. Some researchers include substances that have less potential for problematic use but that are regularly used in a sexual context for these purposes, such as alkyl nitrites ("poppers"), which are associated with sexual practices posing higher HIV risk, [26] and erectile dysfunction medications (sometimes used to counteract the effects for some men of stimulants). Canadian data shows that for some GBMSM, cannabis is also used for chemsex. [27]

Adding to the confusion, while the terms "sexualized drug use" and "chemsex" are distinguished from each other in much of the literature, some studies use them interchangeably — and this is also sometimes the case in common parlance. However, this report uses the terms "chemsex" and "PnP" in the narrower sense described above, i.e. as a sub-category of sexualized drug use defined by the deliberate combination of certain substances with sex for the purpose of facilitating, prolonging, disinhibiting, or otherwise enhancing the encounter. While others also engage in what could be characterized as chemsex, this report focuses on the experiences and needs of GBT2Q people, given the ways in which substance use and sex(uality) intersect.

#### Sexualized drug use among GBT2Q people

Recent systematic reviews and multi-country studies have found that sexualized drug use is higher among GBMSM.[28] In 2019, Maxwell and colleagues published the first systematic review of published research on the antecedents, behaviours, and consequences associated specifically with chemsex (as opposed to sexualized drug use more broadly) among men who have sex with men.[29] They concluded that a minority of MSM engage in chemsex behaviours but they are at risk of this negatively affecting their health and well-being. Based on their global survey, Lawn and colleagues suggested that up to 45% of GBMSM have engaged in chemsex at least once, although a much lower proportion report recent or recurrent participation.[30] Much of the research to date has been done in North America, Oceania, and Europe,[31] but recent studies from Latin America and Asia confirm a higher prevalence of sexualized drug use among GBMSM in those regions as well.[32]

In the Canadian context, there have been numerous local and provincial-level studies over the past decade. CATIE reported in 2019 that, based on then available data, somewhere between 5% and 20% of GBMSM in Canada have participated in sexualized drug use.[33] In 2017, Canada participated, for the first time, in a multi-country internet survey originating in and covering most of Europe, the European Men-who-have-sex-with-men Internet Survey (EMIS).[34] More than 5000 GBMSM (including cisgender and transgender men) from across Canada participated. Of these, two-thirds (64.1%) indicated ever using any illegal substance, with cannabis (not legalized at the time), cocaine, and ecstasy as the most commonly used. Fewer than 5% of respondents reported using other substances within the previous year, such as ketamine (4.1%) or amphetamine (4.4%). (For purposes of comparison, note that, according to data from the most recent national survey on substance use among people in Canada, also conducted in 2017, past-year use of methamphetamine among the population as a whole was less than 1%.[35]) One-fifth (21.5%) of GBMSM participating in EMIS reported ever having participated in chemsex, and 5.8% of respondents had done so within the previous six months.[36] The researchers observed that: "Substance use was high and, for the first time, there are national data showing that over 20% of participants engaged in chemsex." They concluded: "The EMIS-2017 findings point to the need for implementation research to determine best practices to address the high levels of discrimination, poor mental health and substance use harms that gbMSM experience."

> Substance use was high and, for the first time, there are national [Canadian] data showing that over 20% of participants engaged in chemsex.

- Brogan et al., 2019

The most recent nationwide data regarding substance use among GBT2Q people is from CBRC's *Sex Now* survey in 2021, of a similar sample size to EMIS-2017. Of those who answered questions about substance use, more than one-quarter (27%) reported using substances *during* sex within the past six months. This figure was similar across age, gender identity, and ethno-racial categories, but was significantly higher among respondents living with HIV (43%). Poppers, cannabis, and alcohol were the most used, but crystal meth, GHB, and psychedelics were also often used. [37]

Specifically in relation to the use of methamphetamine, since that national survey by CBRC, Berlin and colleagues have reported in 2022 further data from the ongoing Engage Cohort Study, involving nearly 2500 GBMSM in Montreal, Toronto, and Vancouver[38]. They note that an estimated 8-20% of GBMSM in Canada have used methamphetamine in the past year, mostly in a sexual context. From the Engage cohort data, they reported that 28% of men living with HIV and 4% of seronegative men reported using methamphetamine within the past six months. This latter figure seems a likely underestimate given the somewhat higher prevalence (4.4%) reported in the national EMIS-2017 survey noted above, the even higher figure (7.6%) reported in the CBRC 2021 national *Sex Now* survey noted above, and some earlier, local studies in Canada reporting a significantly higher prevalence: e.g. the report by Card and colleagues in 2018 estimating that 19% of GBMSM in Vancouver had used methamphetamine in the previous six months.[39]

Compared to the population as a whole, recent crystal meth use is at least four times higher among HIV-negative GBMSM and likely substantially higher, and is many times higher still among GBMSM living with HIV.

As for how frequently GBMSM use a substance such as methamphetamine, in 2020, McGuire and colleagues reported the results of the Crystal Methamphetamine Project. This project drew upon both in-depth interviews with 33 men across BC and the responses of 780 participants in a national survey, all of whom self-identified as men or non-binary people who, within the previous six months, had both had sex with a man and used crystal methamphetamine. [40] They found that just over half (55%) of respondents had used it at least weekly; the remaining 45% used it only a few times a month or less frequently. The following year, Card and colleagues reported on data from a sample of nearly 400 men across Canada who reported methamphetamine use within the previous six months. Just over one-third reported using daily or almost daily, just over another third reported using either weekly or monthly, and the remaining third reported using only once or twice within the past six months, the majority of whom reported using methamphetamine prior to or during sex. [41]

#### "Slamsex"

The use of chemsex drugs by injection — known as "slamming" or "slamsex" — is a well-known phenomenon, "but there is a lack of research examining MSM sexualised injecting of drugs."[42] Some studies indicate it has been associated with more significant harms to physical and mental health, including increased potential for transmission of HIV, HCV, and other STBBIs.[43] In the EMIS-2017 survey of GBMSM across Canada, 3.5% reported ever injecting drugs, although the report does not indicate whether this was in a sexual or non-sexual context.[44]

More recently, two Canadian studies provide some data specific to practices among MSM who report recent crystal meth use. In 2020, McGuire and colleagues reported that, among the 780 respondents to the national survey that was a component of the Crystal Methamphetamine Project, 58% had never injected, while 32% had injected within the past six months.[45] In 2021, Card and colleagues reported that in their national sample of nearly 400 SGM men, nearly one-quarter (23.3%) reported injecting methamphetamine. Two recent reviews of the broader literature found that: (i) the prevalence of slamming among MSM was highly variable across the studies, but methamphetamine and mephedrone were the two most frequently injected drugs;[46] and (ii) "traditional services are ill-equipped to address SIDU [sexualized injection drug use] because of a lack of knowledge of practices, lack of associated vocabulary, and a failure to integrate sexual health with drug services."[47] Researchers have explored the ways in which injection becomes eroticized as part of the sexual experience, how it constitutes forms of connection and norms of care among participants, and for some, a means of harm reduction by limiting how much they use (as opposed to smoking, which, for some men, would lead to greater consumption over an extended period).[48] (Pipe sharing when smoking crystal methamphetamine is similarly commonly eroticized and identified as an important social aspect of PnP.[49]) Researchers have also highlighted that "intersecting forms of stigma may discourage GBM from accessing supports which have historically targeted opioid-injecting and streetbased drug use. Harm reduction interventions tailored for people who inject drugs may not be equally effective in addressing GBM-specific needs."[50]

## Context of substance use among GBT2Q people

Responding effectively to problematic substance use among GBT2Q people requires understanding why and how people are using those substances. This section briefly summarizes some relevant considerations as identified in the literature and by key informants.

#### Reasons GBT2Q people use drugs

People use substances for physical and psychological pleasure, to alter consciousness, as part of spiritual practice or cultural tradition, to relax, to boost confidence, to connect socially with others (including sexually), to lower inhibitions, to relieve physical and emotional pain, to cope with stress, and to escape temporarily from life's problems or challenges. There may also be other specific, functional reasons to use particular substances. For example, depending on the user and approach, a stimulant such as methamphetamine and a depressant such as heroin might be used together to enhance the overall effect sought by the user, or one may be used to counter certain effects of, or withdrawal from, the other.[51] Stimulants enable people to stay awake and alert for extended periods: in some studies, sex workers have reported that its use enables them to work longer and see more clients,[52] while some people experiencing homelessness report using methamphetamine to stay awake to protect themselves and their belongings.[53] Some have described smoking methamphetamine as a weight loss strategy and, among those who experience food insecurity, as a way of reducing appetite and feelings of hunger.[54]

#### Nexus between substances, sexuality, and social location

All these reasons can exist for GBT2Q people who use substances. But reasons for use are also mediated through the experience of belonging to a sexual and/or gender minority — and especially in the context of sexualized substance use, there is a particular connection between sex(uality) and substance use for many GBT2Q people. There are historical and ongoing links between substance use and the spaces, physical and now virtual, that GBMSM access for social and sexual connection, where alcohol and other drug use is normative.[55] Social marginalization and discrimination, and the accompanying "minority stress,"[56] have been discussed extensively in the literature as factors contributing to higher prevalence of substance use, including problematic use, among 2SLGBTQ+ people.[57]

"For sexual and gender minorities, drug and alcohol use can be a creative or experimental response to social marginalisation — and not necessarily a problematic one in every instance." [58]

In addition, "recreational drug use has been framed as a valued cultural practice among GBM, in part due to benefiting the formation of gay identities" [59] and "it is also a matter of historical record that certain communities and social relations have been brought into being through drug practices," including gay sexual subcultures. [60] For some, substances offer "one way of acting upon sexual desires and activities whose performance is otherwise foreclosed by the normative pressures of heterosexual culture and/or HIV prevention." [61] Both the quantitative and qualitative literature converge in documenting norms and attitudes within gay culture that support chemsex among GBMSM. [62]

"Substance use is sometimes associated with the celebration of positive sexuality and the loss of shame and inhibitions. Thus, for many G2G [guys into guys], taking drugs or drinking can be closely tied to how they hook-up and have sex. Some may feel that they need to take substances to have sex or to enjoy having sex. Because of this, shifting one's relationship to substance use (or to a specific substance) can sometimes be quite challenging, especially when substance use is tightly wrapped up with one's sexual identity and practices." [63]

Both the literature and the key informants identify the strong connection for some GBT2Q people between the use of substances and their sexual lives and practices. Given this, addressing problematic use will often require at least a discussion of sexuality and, in the case of those who engage in problematic chemsex, will involve changing not only substance use behaviour but also sexual behaviour, another domain of life that involves strong psychological and physiological impulses. Several key informants noted this important point about the connection between sex and substances, which must be addressed if harm reduction or other interventions are to be effective.

Through the literature — which largely focuses on GBMSM — multiple reasons emerge for PnP, many of which were echoed by the key informants interviewed for this project. [64] As summarized by Knowles, [65] the literature indicates that GBMSM (and likely other gender-diverse people) incorporate drugs into their sexual encounters to:

- "increase their sexual confidence and help them overcome their self-doubt, body image issues, and sexual insecurities;
- increase their libido or sexual desire, which may have changed as they age;
- create a sense of community through participation;
- increase feelings of intimacy and sexual connection with sex partners;
- increase their sexual longevity, allowing them to have sex for longer periods of time without ejaculating or to be ready to have sex again soon after ejaculating this can also allow for sex with more partners over the same length of time;
- participate in a more diverse range of sexual activities because of a loss of inhibition;" and
- "for some HIV-positive gbMSM, PnP may help them to deal with negative feelings arising from stigma and discrimination related to their HIV status and/or sexuality."

#### **Pleasure**

One key theme that emerges from the literature, and from discussions with the key informants, is the importance of acknowledging the benefits that people receive from their substance use, including sexualized drug use. The physical and/or emotional pleasure of an intensified, enhanced sexual encounter is obviously a primary motivation.[66] By way of illustration, in their survey of more than 1600 GBMSM in the UK, Hibbert and colleagues found that 41% reported sexualized drug use during the previous 12 months, and those who engaged in SDU reported greater sexual satisfaction, compared with those not engaging in SDU.[67]

"Why are people using crystal meth? One word: sex. Black and Latino MSM overwhelmingly described crystal meth use as a tool to enhance a sexual experience and to promote connection and intimacy." [68]

Taking the centrality of pleasure into account is also key to designing and implementing interventions aimed at preventing, treating, and reducing the harms of use that becomes problematic. Twenty years ago, McFarlane and the LGBT Health Association of BC reported from focus groups that gay, bi, and trans men "stressed that reframing harm reduction messages as 'pleasure enhancement' messages would be more successful in gaining currency and attention."[69]

More recently, based on focus group data from the Meth@morphose project in Montreal, aimed at improving local services available to GBMSM who use methamphetamine, Flores-Aranda and colleagues concluded: "These findings question the content of methamphetamine use prevention campaigns, which mainly target the negative potential consequences of this form of substance use. By not taking into account the pleasure associated with the use of this substance, these campaigns are likely to fail.... However, the concept of pleasure, especially sexual pleasure, in relation to substance use, is seldom addressed in sexual health and addictions services." [70]

Similarly, key informants were unanimous in their assertions that substance use is not always or necessarily about coping with or escaping negative things; the pursuit of pleasure and other benefits is part of substance use for many GBT2Q people just as it is for others. But as some pointed out, interventions that solely focus on conveying that "drugs are bad and dangerous" could inadvertently reinforce the stigma surrounding drug use, which is a key barrier to seeking support. Simply focusing on the harms that may arise in connection with some substance use risks ignoring the experience of the person who uses, why they use in the way(s) they do, and what they get out of their use. Practically speaking, understanding these factors is necessary in order to more effectively support someone in modifying their behaviour to reduce their risk of harm and/or stop their use, depending on the goal — for example, by figuring out ways, other than through particular substance use or ways of using, that they can experience pleasure, community, connection, or the other positive benefits they derive from their substance use.

The conventional pathways for people who want to receive services in relation to chemsex are things like NA [Narcotics Anonymous] and CMA [Crystal Meth Anonymous]. Most people try those and get disillusioned because it requires abstinence and if they relapse, they're shunned. So, people try it that way, it doesn't work out and then they stop looking for help. What I've seen in individual and group counselling, the crystal meth and GHB use is closely connected to their sexuality, and experiences have been so intense they don't want to let go of it. So, one of the obstacles is defining a desirable outcome that is realistic, this is something that I hear again and again.

— Mathieu Mailhot-Gagnon, RÉZO (Montréal)

#### **Connection**

Another key motivation underscored by the literature and key informants is a desire for connection. As LaFortune and colleagues note, their review of the literature shows that it is important to also consider "...the social motives underlying engagement in Chemsex, notably as a means to develop sexual intimacy and emotional closeness, an opportunity to strengthen belonging to a community (e.g., friends, sexual scenes), or an escape from patterns of marginalization and loneliness."[71] This is especially relevant as GBMSM report high rates of loneliness.[72] As Bryant and colleagues put it, drug use can "serve to establish belonging in contexts of social exclusion,"[73] or as one therapist observed, "for men who feel different or isolated, chemsex can come to be their community and place to connect."[74]

How a sense of connection and community operates in relation to GBMSM's chemsex practices is complicated. For example, Hawkins and colleagues have reported that substance use can both facilitate and inhibit entrance into gay community settings among GBMSM in Vancouver.[75] At the same time, other research, involving qualitative interviews with GBMSM in Halifax, Ottawa, and Vancouver, reveals that the link between sexualized drug use and community can be a powerful factor contributing to substance use becoming problematic and more difficult to manage, ultimately contributing to isolation, including as a result of the stigma surrounding drug use and chemsex in particular.[76]

More positively, a desire for pleasure and connection can exist without being rooted in loneliness and this desire has been found to feature prominently in the motivations for sexualized drug use among GBMSM, including in Canadian studies.[77] For example, in a study among GBMSM in Toronto, "[p]ipe sharing was widespread among participants and was deemed integral to the social experience of smoking crystal methamphetamine."[78] A study among more than 700 gay and bisexual men living with HIV in Australia found that, on self-reported measures of general health, wellbeing, and general social support, there was no difference between men who used PnP drugs and those who did not, but men who reported use of PnP drugs reported higher levels of resilience and lower levels of perceived HIV-related stigma; this was associated with spending more time with other people living with HIV and lesbian/gay friends. The researchers concluded that the social contexts in which PnP drugs are used may provide wellbeing benefits, particularly for gay and bisexual men living with HIV.[79]

In a similar vein, Beijamal conducted a survey among GBMSM in Toronto regarding their "satisfaction" with their gay community, investigating how such sense of satisfaction correlated with their sexual activity and substance use, and the combination of the two. He reported that a higher proportion (nearly two-thirds) of men who used "party substances" — defined as including crystal meth, GHB, cocaine, ketamine, MDMA/ecstasy, erectile drugs, and poppers — reported being satisfied with their community than that of men who did not use these substances. Similarly, a greater proportion of men (almost two-thirds) who had engaged in chemsex specifically (i.e. using party drugs during their sexual encounters) reported community satisfaction than among men who did not engage in chemsex. Beijamal concluded that the results suggest that there is an "invisible population" of men who use substances who are coping well and perhaps this can be attributed to a sense of community among men who PnP, with community functioning as a protective factor against the adverse effects of using substances. He speculated that, as with embracing a queer identity in a heteronormative world, perhaps identifying as part of the PnP community also creates group cohesion in a world that is drug prohibitive.[80]

Connection similarly emerged as a key motivation for use in the Crystal Methamphetamine Project, the results of which were reported by McGuire and colleagues in 2020. Nearly half the participants identified "connecting with others sexually" as the main reason for their use, while a quarter identified "connecting with others socially" as a reason. As the researchers note:

In addition, a common theme among interview participants was that they felt that being part of the PnP community had led to deeper connections and lasting friendships... Sex is an important part of socializing and community for many gbMSM, and sexuality is one of the ways, through identity and practice, that social circles and relationships are formed. Patterns of substance use among gbMSM are also shaped by the presence of sex and sexuality in community and social spaces, with many gay, bi, and queer men choosing to use meth in sexual and social contexts due to its positive effects on pleasure, intimacy, and social connectedness.[81]

It is also worth noting that, in identifying important characteristics of what supports and services should look like for people seeking help with problematic methamphetamine use, the themes of connection and care recurred: two-thirds of respondents said that it was important that a program "includes social activities with other guys" and 70% identified as important that "the program gives me opportunities to help other participants." [82]

Consistent with the literature, several key informants spoke about not only the connection that can form between sex and substance in the context of sexualized drug use, but also the sense of connection and community that can form among men who PnP specifically — which is the flipside of the isolation arising out of the stigma related to chemsex. This can also complicate efforts to reduce or cease using for those for whom this is the goal.

Relationships may exist beyond just the sexual, making it more challenging to end the PnP connection while maintaining the friendship. With sex and substances — and possibly social connections — so intertwined, the cost of stopping substance use becomes even greater. Abstinence represents not only the loss of pleasure and/or a means of coping with or escaping from life's challenges, but for some, the loss of friends (with benefits), of a social circle, of a sense of belonging. Even more profoundly, it can mean the loss of a sexual life and identity — one that, for many, was established at considerable psychological and sometimes physical cost, against the expectations and edicts of a heteronormative and rigidly gendered world that is often actively hostile to the existence of sexual and gender minorities.

We're dealing with the sexual sphere and the social sphere, two parts of one's life that are very significant. When people stop doing chemsex, sometimes they let go of all their friends, but they also have to let go of sex, sometimes for months or more, and some of them grieve their sexuality.

— Mathieu Mailhot-Gagnon, RÉZO (Montreal)

The literature and insights from many of the key informants underscore that support for GBT2Q people struggling with problematic drug use, including in a sexualized context, needs to include opportunities for connection, and for the creation of community, independent of substances.[83]

#### Virtual (dis)connections

Sexualized drug use is neither new nor limited to GBT2Q people. But the emergence of "chemsex" or "PnP" as a specific category of sexualized connection has coincided significantly with the rapid spread of online technologies, including the use of social networking platforms (both websites and smartphone apps) among GBMSM that facilitate both sexual encounters and access to substances — to the point that such technologies are seen by some as central to the emergence of "chemsex" and as one of its defining, or at least highly significant, features.[84] Alongside the decline of public spaces of gay social life has been the corresponding "virtualization" of queer community, as described by Numer and colleagues.[85] As they point out, this is noteworthy not only because of the predominance now of such virtual space as the environment within which GBMSM meet for sexual encounters and relationships, but for the immediacy and constancy of access to such space.

These platforms play a significant role in the sexual lives of many GBT2Q people,[86] in part because of their accessibility, affordability, and anonymity.[87] As such they shape community norms and perceptions regarding sexual identity and practice. They facilitate easier access to both sex and substances, and feature prominently in PnP/chemsex practice[88] — a common combination of apps, sex, and drugs that is a community cultural practice that Holmes and colleagues term "wired sex."[89] Consequently, they are key features in the relationships that GBT2Q people who use them have with both sex and substances. Therefore, they are also spaces that cannot be ignored, and that have significant potential benefit, in efforts to reduce the harms of problematic substance use among GBT2Q people.

The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic has accelerated the virtualization of many activities. This has included the use of video conferencing platforms for GBT2Q people who PnP to create new social networks and to hook up digitally.[90] As one service provider interviewed by Holmes et al. observed:

In addition, a common theme among interview participants was that they felt that being part of the PnP community had led to deeper connections and lasting friendships... Sex is an important part of socializing and community for many gbMSM, and sexuality is one of the ways, through identity and practice, that social circles and relationships are formed. Patterns of substance use among gbMSM are also shaped by the presence of sex and sexuality in community and social spaces, with many gay, bi, and queer men choosing to use meth in sexual and social contexts due to its positive effects on pleasure, intimacy, and social connectedness.[91]

Similarly, such technologies enable virtual connection to harm reduction and other support services for GBT2Q people — e.g. "virtual drop-in" spaces or counselling and peer support sessions via Zoom or similar platforms. While limited, research confirms a need and demand for online outreach services for GBT2Q people using various information and communication technologies (ICT), including via such social networking platforms — because they allow greater anonymity, facilitate access to populations that face greater barriers to connection to an identifiable gay community or to in-person services (e.g. stigma, distance,[92] age, ability, etc.), allow

faster access, and lend themselves well to a peer model of outreach.[93] All key informants spoke of providing services virtually, in some cases before COVID-19 but in other cases as an adaptation in light of it; some spoke specifically of the need for such online engagement. This includes not just the distribution of information about safer sex and drug use or how to connect with various services, but also interactive tools (e.g. the MonBuzz/MyBuzz self-assessment tool described below), individual and group counselling, and forms of virtual peer support. Some observed that such access, including in modes that allow someone to remain unidentified, are important as a means of increasing greater, more equitable access to services:

"Online spaces are key to addressing sexualized substance use but the risk service providers run when we come into these spaces wearing professional hats is that we are perceived as interlopers. We're invading a very private, clandestine space, where community holds safety and discretion dear. We need to strategize about how to support peers to engage in those spaces in a less intrusive, less formalized way to be advocates for harm reduction. The anonymity available online can be a facilitator for people to engage, going to attract more people than asking people to come into an agency that is identified as being for substance use or HIV. The building can be a barrier." [94]

"It's absolutely critical to have such virtual spaces that allow guys to connect and get support with less fear of being outed about their sexuality or drug use, but these don't replace that sense of community, of connecting in person. We need all of it, really." [95]

Lack of collaboration by operators of online platforms can be a barrier to effective outreach[96] — and there is a mixed track record on the part of such companies. For example, some hook-up apps have been willing to willing to occasionally carry advertising of harm reduction information or tools (e.g. the MonBuzz.ca/MyBuzz.ca tool). Yet the same apps simultaneously purport to censor their users. Many have banned the use of certain words (e.g. "party") or images that indicate an interest in sexualized drug use with sexual partners, and enforce such bans — albeit inconsistently — by suspending or permanently blocking user accounts for breaching the rules.[97] In fact, *Grindr*, the largest gay hook-up app, not only expressly bans any mention of the use of criminalized drugs but even threatens to identify site users to law enforcement if it deems it "appropriate."[98]

More recently, in 2022, *Squirt.org*, a global hook-up site for GBMSM operated by the Toronto-based Pink Triangle Press (PTP), advised users that it was removing "Party & Play" from the possible tags users could attach to their profile, thereby also precluding searching for other site users using this tag, on the stated basis that drugs are illegal — even though the tag had been available for years in the same legal environment and the gay sex the website facilitates is also illegal in many jurisdictions. [99]

Unsurprisingly, users of these platforms have adapted with cryptic workarounds to nonetheless communicate those interests. As Patten and colleagues note, "GBMSM use a variety of terms and symbols as coded language that is understood to signify SDU [sexualized drug use]. Censoring SDU language may lead to stigmatization and further risk-taking behaviour."[100] Holmes et al. note that service providers working with GBMSM reported that codes used on social networking platforms to avoid such censorship can also breed misunderstandings between those seeking encounters.[101] Key informants consulted for this project saw no value, and some harm, in such policies.[102] They certainly recognized, as does the literature, that access to such apps can also make it challenging for people who are seeking to abstain from substance use, because of the way in which they facilitate access to substances and connections with sexual partners with whom they can PnP. But none of the key informants were of the view that the measures taken by the apps (or site in the case of Squirt.org) impeded this in any way, and several criticized such measures as stigmatizing and counterproductive.

"I don't think it impedes in any way people talking about chemsex or PnP, because people find other ways or use emojis. It's very easy for people to identify who is doing chemsex, and word goes around about who might be able to sell you crystal and at a good price. And I think it makes it really difficult for a lot of men to stop using. They can delete the number of the person they get it from or who they PnP with, but then they go back on the app and that person is right there, so it's really hard to break that chain of accessibility of the substance." [103]

"You've got a bunch of apps corporations that aren't necessarily GBMSM-run but make a profit off our community. And some owners of these apps are very anti-drug, so drug discussion on apps is clamped down on or outright forbidden. Allowing people to talk about drug use on these platforms is incredibly important to keeping people safe and health, it's not promoting drug use." [104]

"It's asinine and stupid for these hook-up apps to state that you can't use this app for party-andplay. People are getting around that. You tell us no, we're going to find a way." [105]

Along with suggestions about how best to use hook-up apps and websites to strengthen harm reduction outreach and support, there is information in the literature, and practice models, regarding other digital interventions to respond to problematic substance use. There are some encouraging examples and results reported when it comes to technology-assisted interventions,[106] and World Health Organization (WHO) guidelines on HIV and other STI prevention recommend that virtual interventions be included in the approach, as complementary to in-person services.[107] *Text messaging interventions* with social support and health education content transmitted in real time has been found helpful to GBMSM in reducing their frequency of methamphetamine use and condomless sex while using it.[108] *A web-based intervention* aimed at reducing drug use among sexual minority young people —

consisting of three short sessions building their skills for identifying and managing stress, making decisions, and examining their drug use rates and refusing to use — has also shown positive outcomes.[109] Some preliminary results from recent research suggests that the addition of brief computerized interventions for depression may assist GBMSM in reducing their use of methamphetamine and sexual risk-taking.[110] Platteau and colleagues argue that, as GBMSM are avid users of digital communication technologies for social and sexual connections, including in relation to chemsex, these offer opportunities for interventions to provide support and care.[111] Such efforts are consistent with previous Canadian research exploring the relationship between online sex-seeking, community/social attachment, and sexual behaviour among GBMSM, and recommending that both internet and community-based interventions be used to reach website and app users in promoting safer sex.[112]

## Harms associated with substance use among GBTQ2 people

#### HIV, HCV, and other STBBIs

Studies in various countries have identified the strong association between substance use — particularly sexualized substance use — and risk of HIV, HCV, and other STBBIs among GBMSM.[113] Some studies have also reported that chemsex — particularly "slamsex" — is associated with an increased likelihood of acquiring HCV[114] and mpox.[115] Canadian data gathered over the past decade has similarly substantiated the concern about sexualized drug use playing a role in contributing to new infections with HIV, HCV, and other STBBIs,[116] given its association with: a greater number of sexual partners;[117] sexual acts posing a higher possibility of transmission (although this landscape has been changing with the scale-up of HIV treatment among men living with HIV and of pre-exposure prophylaxis among men who are HIV-negative);[118] and the sharing of injection equipment. For example, among nearly 400 SGMSM (sexual and gender minority men who have sex with men) from across Canada who reported methamphetamine use within the previous six months, nearly one-quarter (23.3%) reported injecting it, and of these, more than 1 in 5 (21.7%) used shared syringes.[119] These figures indicate that GBMSM would benefit from evidence-based interventions that address both HIV and syndemic factors, including mental health and substance use concerns.[120]

Most recently, using data gathered from nearly 2500 GBMSM in Vancouver, Toronto, and Montreal via the Engage Cohort Study, Hart and colleagues examined the causal pathways between crystal meth use and STIs.[121] They found that "not all crystal methamphetamine use is equal": among those reporting its use, negative attitudes toward condoms, and "escape motives" (i.e. the expectation that substance use will lead to greater enjoyment of sex by enabling disengagement from negative thoughts, emotions and sexual pressures), were associated with condomless anal sex and with a greater number of partners. They observed this data reinforces the need for harm reduction efforts to address the STI risks (and other sexual health-related risks) among GBMSM who use crystal meth. This requires not only more and better access to care that can respond effectively to this population, but also better coordination and integration of sexual health services and services responding to mental health and substance use needs (e.g. the delivery of services related to substance use via sexual health clinics already reaching GBMSM).

#### **Overdose and overamping**

Some earlier U.S. studies have found that being lesbian, gay, bisexual, or transgender has been associated with a higher risk of experiencing overdose.[122] In 2019, Moazen-Zadeh and colleagues lamented the limitations with the existing data on this point, but nevertheless concluded that the available evidence points to overdose likely being substantially higher among sexual and gender minority people.[123]

Overdose is an obvious concern among people who use opioids, particularly given an illegal market heavily contaminated with fentanyl and other potent opioids as is the case in Canada.[124] There is also some evidence that a significant number of people use methamphetamine as an intended harm reduction measure based on the (incorrect) belief that it will reduce the risk of an opioid overdose.[125] The potential for overdose also exists with certain chemsex drugs — such as ketamine (a fast-acting anesthetic producing a dissociative and pleasurable effect) and GHB/GBL (a depressant that also has euphoric and sedative effects) — and even more so if used in combination with other substances, particularly those that depress the central nervous system (e.g. alcohol, opioids).[126] GBMSM may be a heightened risk for overdose, given that GBMSM have disproportionately high rates of problematic substance use, but "there is a substantial gap in our understandings about how overdoses are occurring within other key populations not conventionally identified within the overdose surveillance data, including among young ... 2SLGBTQ+ people."[127] Data from the Manitoba 2SGBQ+ Men's Health Study showed nearly 1 in 5 (19.3%) reported that they had experienced an overdose at some point (and only 6.8% reported using naloxone).[128] But in contrast, some data more recently reported from Vancouver, focused on people (of all ages) in three prospective cohorts of people who use drugs who reported crystal meth use, did not find an association between MSM identity and overdose risk.[129]

Stimulant overdose ("overamping") is of growing concern as the increase in use of methamphetamine (including among GBMSM) is intertwined in the ongoing crisis of deaths following the use of (ostensible) opioids from the unregulated illegal market.[130] There has been a recent increase in overdose deaths apparently involving stimulants alone, in both the US and Canada.[131] In Canada, the available data suggest that the use of methamphetamine among people who use drugs has risen sharply in recent years,[132] and the number of hospital admissions[133] and deaths involving stimulants also appears to be rising: of the accidental apparent stimulant toxicity deaths between January and September 2022, 63% involved cocaine, while 52% involved methamphetamine.[134] Cases of cardiac arrest have been documented, and as noted below, more frequent and longer-term use of some stimulants can significantly increase the risk of fatal stroke. But overall, the phenomenon of stimulant overdose is less well defined and understood; harm reduction efforts should address this so that users (and service providers) can better identify the signs of overamping and be better equipped to respond.[135] Given their higher prevalence of stimulant use, this is of heightened relevance to GBT2Q people.

#### Mental health issues

Data from studies among GBMSM suggest a two-way relationship between problematic sexualized drug use and poor mental health for some — and hence the importance of addressing these as interconnected health problems: a history of mental health issues can contribute to problematic use; in addition, substance use can cause harm to mental health.[136] GBT2Q people are already a population with a higher prevalence of mental health concerns given experiences of homophobia, transphobia, violence, and trauma.[137] A range of mental health concerns relate to substances that are among those more commonly used by GBT2Q people, including in the context of chemsex/PnP. Again, methamphetamine, the most commonly used (criminalized) amphetamine, [138] is the substance that causes the greatest concern, with systematic reviews and meta-analyses suggesting a significant association between "psychotic disorders" and both methamphetamine use generally (particularly more frequent use)[139] and amphetamine use disorder specifically, although high-quality population-level studies are needed to more accurately quantify the risks.[140] Persecutory delusions, auditory and visual hallucinations, hostility, depression, and conceptual disorganization are central among such symptoms.[141]

Among GBMSM, a recent systematic review reported that those who practice SDU were more likely to experience depression, anxiety, or a substance dependence, although these results were not found in all the studies analyzed and mental health symptoms were more severe among those who reported injecting drugs for chemsex.[142] However, the authors caution that: "The findings found in these studies do not allow us to conclude that practicing chemsex in itself is a risk to poorer mental health. This may be partly due to the question of whether these mental health outcomes are directly related to chemsex practice or, to some extent, represent a priori vulnerabilities." Furthermore, they observe that: "Not all MSM who engage in chemsex experience mental health symptoms... The findings of this review suggest that problematic drug use in sexual contexts might only occur in a minority of men who practice chemsex." In what appears to be the first systematic review of the relationship between chemsex (among GBMSM and trans people) and the development of "psychosis,"[143] Moreno-Gámez and colleagues reported that in the studies reviewed the percentage of participants reporting "psychotic symptoms" ranged from 6.7% to 37.2%, and injection of drugs ("slamsex"), polydrug use, and smoked methamphetamine use posed up to a three-fold increased risk of psychosis.[144]

#### **Physical health issues**

There is significant literature regarding a range of harms to physical health associated with long-term use of various substances, including those frequently used in the context of chemsex.[145] Again using the example of methamphetamine for illustration, concerns include *cardiovascular* damage,[146] as well as *pulmonary* damage and damage to the immune system.[147] Specific concern has been raised that methamphetamine use could *exacerbate progression of HIV*.[148] Research has reported systemic inflammation in both the brain and gut associated with methamphetamine use,[149] and studies among young GBMSM have found that methamphetamine use has been associated with a microbial imbalance favouring pro-inflammatory bacteria in the *gastrointestinal microbiome*, including some that have previously been associated with poor HIV outcomes in those living with HIV.[150]

There are numerous studies documenting the neurotoxicity of methamphetamine use,[151] including its involvement in strokes, Parkinson's disease (although rare), and seizures, as well as neurocognitive impairment — although specifically with respect to claims about adverse impact on cognitive functioning, Hart and colleagues have challenged some simplistic claims made in previous studies that are methodologically suspect, and have suggested it is not clearly established that in fact there is a clinically significant impairment. [152] *Dental health* is another concern: long-term use of amphetamine has been associated with severe dry mouth, gingivitis, gum disease, cavities, and fractured teeth,[153] although again it has been suggested that the evidence linking methamphetamine use and tooth decay is anecdotal and that the popularly reported phenomenon of "meth mouth" has less to do with pharmacological effect of methamphetamine and more with non-pharmacological factors such as poor dental hygiene and media sensationalism.[154]

Poly-substance use can increase the risk of harm, given the potential for harmful interactions between specific drugs; there is also the potential for interaction between certain HIV medications and recreational drugs.[155] Finally, concerns have also been raised about an increased risk of sexual violence in some chemsex contexts, given the potential for impaired judgment and, with some drugs (e.g. GHB/GBL, ketamine), the potential for overdose that could leave a person unconscious.[156]

#### Legal, employment, and relationship issues

As a result of the criminalized status of most substances used recreationally, drug use also carries the risk of legal sanctions (and the harms to health that may arise from imprisonment if such a sentence is imposed). Canada criminalizes possession of various substances, as well as *possession for the purpose of trafficking* and *trafficking* (which includes any act of giving drugs to another person, including social sharing among friends or sexual partners, even for free.)[157] Given the prevalence of use, the threat of such sanctions obviously does not constitute a significant deterrent for a substantial number of people. However, in addition to infringing upon various human rights, the policy choice of criminalization does cause other multiple harms, including to the health of people who use drugs.[158] Studies have also shown, including among GBT2Q people, that a significant minority have experienced detrimental impact of substance use on their work (e.g. missing work, loss of employment), income, housing, and/or family and other social relationships,[159] at least some of which consequences are partly the result of stigma and discrimination and, directly or indirectly, the criminalization of people who use certain substances.

#### Thinking critically about the "problems" and "harms" of substance use

In keeping with the importance of acknowledging the benefits, including pleasure and connection, that people seek through substance use, it is essential to guard against the moral panic that so often accompanies discussions of drugs and sex — and particularly a phenomenon such as chemsex/PnP, which fuses the two. Amundsen and colleagues have flagged the potential bias in the research that may overstate at least some of the harms, such as the observation that about one-third of studies examining chemsex recruited exclusively from clinical settings. [160]

Schwartz and colleagues have made a similar observation about the systematic bias in the research toward identification of poppers-related harms, while disregarding poppers-related benefits.[161] And as Schroeder and colleagues have noted, from their review of the most influential research studies of substance use among GBMSM published during the past twenty years, the public health framing has often pathologized GBMSM's substance use and contributed to stigma, highlighting the need for more critical thinking and practice.[162] A similar concern was articulated in this fashion by one of the key informants for this project, someone who has spent years working in harm reduction (including in relation to PnP):

"Sometimes, the public health approach to GBMSM and substance use can be part of the problem. GBMSM are already over-surveilled by public health — our sex lives are a public health concern. Because public health has a narrow, highly problematized view of what PnP is (bareback, multiple partners, anonymous and extended sessions) and has linked PnP to increases in HIV and other STBBI infection, anyone who parties and plays is part of this 'crystal meth epidemic' we've seen reported on, although the prevalence of crystal meth is very low in comparison to other drugs used in the community. The hyper-focus on PnP leads to further monitoring of GBMSM and contributes to the stigma, including against guys who are HIV+. Addressing PnP is important, but it cannot come at the expense of attention to other substance use concerns that affect more people, such as alcohol use among GBMSM."[163]

Bryant and colleagues have also criticized the "rush to risk" — i.e. "the tendency in much research towards problem inflation, including that view that methamphetamine use is inevitably problematic regardless of the ways in which it is used."[164] They have cautioned against overly individualized understandings of the relationship between methamphetamine use and sexual risk, and instead urged more careful research that seeks to better understand the different ways in which GBMSM use it, the contexts of use, and the social functions it serves — what others have characterized as "gay ways of using."[165]

"Many of the sites that epidemiologists identify as pathogenic are also key sites for the elaboration of significant social bonds.

In these spaces, participants are undertaking some of the affective groundwork from which relations of community, care and connection may emerge." [166]

In this spirit, Ismail and colleagues from the Gay Men's Sexual Health Alliance (GMSH) in Ontario have described how they sought to "reconcile the epidemiological definitions of PnP prevalent throughout the [health and social care] sector with the insights of people who PnP" in developing a public health education and prevention campaign to respond to chemsex as a behaviour contributing to increased transmission of HIV and other STBBIs among GBT2Q men.[167] As they note, the GMSH is committed to preventing HIV/STBBI infections and treatment failure among 2SGBTQ+ men, but it "also sees the need to mitigate the 'risk and danger'-based narratives associated with 2SGBTQ+ identities and cultures. It recognizes that these stigmatizing, disempowering narratives can affect the resilience, health and well-being of 2SGBTQ+ men." Of note, they describe how focus groups with men who PnP to review the draft content of a website and digital resources had a significant impact in rethinking the design of the campaign, including through recounting their personal experience:

[T]he stories that emerged profoundly centred on participants' demotivating experiences of being stigmatized within their own community. These experiences led to social alienation, challenges getting dignified and meaningful healthcare relating to their PnP and a broader culture of silence that was disempowering to them. Despite these challenges, what also came through in the discussions were themes of supportive community networks, caring practices within these networks and strategies of resilience that were life-affirming. These run contrary to the predominant narratives surrounding PnP. Even more revealing was the heterogeneity of participants' experiences of PnP: it became increasingly evident to us that there were diverse groups within the population of 2SGBTQ+ men who PnP, highlighting the need for nuanced and multiple strategies for meaningfully engaging these groups in health promotion.[168]

## **Specific GBT2Q populations**

Among GBT2Q people, different identities and social locations also intersect to shape different populations' use of substances, their patterns of use, and the health implications of substance use. Understanding these differences is important in determining how best to protect and promote the health of all GBT2Q people. While a full discussion of all these considerations exceeds the scope of this summary report, some key considerations are identified below.

As noted above, substance use, including sexualized drug use, is more prevalent among **GBMSM living with HIV**, [169] and some studies suggest it has a detrimental impact on clinic attendance and adherence to antiretroviral therapy (ART)[170] and may *exacerbate HIV disease* progression and impact,[171] while some *ART could enhance exposure to certain recreational drugs*, increasing the possibility of intoxication or overdose.[172] Harm reduction education for people living with HIV needs to include this information and support for maintaining HIV-related care. **HIV-negative GBT2Q people** who use substances, particularly in the context of sexualized drug use, are a priority population for scaling up pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) to reduce HIV risk and are receptive to its use. [173] While concerns have been raised that substance use (especially of alcohol and stimulants), might adversely affect PrEP adherence, the bulk of the evidence demonstrates the effective use of PrEP among GBMSM who engage in chemsex.[174]

The limited literature on this point, including Canadian data, suggests higher levels of substance use — and problematic substance use — among **bisexual men** in comparison to gay men, but also that it may differ in terms of sexual context, with less of the strong association between sex and substances characterized as "PnP" among gay men.[175] In a recent scoping review of the literature regarding opioid use and outcomes (e.g. overdose) among LGBTQ+ populations, bisexuals appeared to be at highest risk for problematic opioid use (although some other studies found that gay men faced the greatest disparities compared with heterosexual men).[176]

## Services need to be destigmatizing and trans-inclusive and designed with the awareness that many people have had negative experiences when accessing services.

Jess Murray, Queer and Trans Health Collective (Edmonton)

Among transgender people, the literature overall confirms a high prevalence of substance use generally when compared with cisgender people, correlated with "transphobic discrimination or violence, unemployment and sex work, gender dysphoria, high visual gender non-conformity and intersectional sexual minority status." [177] As for problematic substance use among trans people, the available data is limited and mixed, and there are conflicting interpretations. A recent scoping review by Paschen-Wolff and colleagues regarding opioid use and outcomes among LGBTQ+ populations found that only one of the studies explicitly measured gender identity, [178] although an additional study published soon after their review found trans individuals had a higher prevalence of opioid use disorder (OUD) diagnoses than cisgender individuals.[179] The bulk of the limited literature that exists focuses on trans women;[180] the literature regarding substance use among trans men, of various sexual orientations, is more sparse.[181] Canadian data about use of chemsex drugs among trans men suggests it may not differ significantly from use by cisgender GBMSM or perhaps be less prevalent.[182] Whatever the limited data may suggest regarding sexualized drug use among trans men, overall, the available data suggest greater prevalence of substance use among trans people,[183] and concerns associated with such use, including past-year stimulant use associated with higher risk of sexual exposure to HIV among trans men.[184] A 2019 national survey among trans and nonbinary youth found that alcohol and cannabis are by far the most commonly used substances, but nearly one-fifth (19%) of youth reported use of prescription pills without a prescription, with mushrooms (15%) and ecstasy/MDMA (12%) the next most common, while 6% reported ever using amphetamines, 3% reported use of crystal methamphetamine, and 3% reported use of ketamine, [185] higher than among the population as a whole. While prevalence of substance use, and hence the potential for harm, is higher among trans people, they often face additional discrimination in access to services.

"When you are visibly queer, you may not necessarily feel safe around health care and service providers (let alone police or ambulance services). When you're visibly trans or queer it adds another layer of discrimination that makes it even harder to reach out for life-saving support. Overdose rates in these communities are much harder to track, and no government health care service is looking at these deaths. If I died today, the coroner's report would say 'M'[for gender] not only making me invisible as a trans person, but also contributing to the lack of awareness that this is a real issue." [186]

The situation for **Indigenous 2SGBTQ+** people is marked simultaneously by both an abundance and a paucity of data to inform the response. There is extensive evidence that Indigenous people in general experience higher rates of personal trauma (including assault, abuse, and systemic racism) than the population in Canada as a whole, as well as intergenerational trauma arising out of centuries of cultural genocide, dispossession of lands,

and destruction of family and kinship connections.[187] Both the Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada (TRCC) and the National Inquiry into Missing and Murdered Indigenous Women and Girls (MMIWG) have highlighted the ways in which such government policies of colonization have produced or contributed to the health challenges facing Indigenous people and communities; they also underscore the resilience of Indigenous people and communities in the face of such harms.[188] Punitive drug laws, rooted in racism and colonialism,[189] have been among those harmful policies, contributing in multiple ways to ongoing health and other inequities among Indigenous people.[190] These include significant over-representation among those experiencing incarceration (and the health harms that follow, including reduced life expectancy),[191] as well as higher prevalence of problematic substance use,[192] overdose/poisoning from the toxic unregulated illegal market,[193] and HIV and related harms.[194]

"The disproportionately greater harm from substance use experienced by Indigenous people... is not a drug crisis but a colonial crisis and a trauma crisis.... While our response has to include the appropriate treatment of harmful crystal meth use, if we want to prevent further crises, we also have to focus on the root causes of trauma and colonization and provide spaces and programs where people can rebuild their connections, their meaning, their belonging, their purpose and their hope." [195]

Community researchers and advocates have also highlighted that problematic substance use and other contemporary health challenges that Indigenous 2SLGBTQ+ people face, such as violence, abuse, and HIV/STBBIs, have their roots in such colonization. This includes the deliberate destruction of traditional cultural roles and authority that Two-Spirit people enjoyed among many peoples indigenous to North America — through, for example, the sexist, gendered structures imposed under the *Indian Act*, and the imposition of Christian teachings and the residential school system, which stigmatized sex and sexuality and promoted a rigid gender binary and hegemonic, homophobic conceptions of masculinity, while subjecting many to sexual and physical abuse.[196]

The health of 2SLGBTQ+ Indigenous people specifically — including questions of sexual health and of substance use — has been the subject of little research until recently.[197] However, some studies that do exist suggest that, in comparison to cisgender and/or heterosexual Indigenous people, to non-Indigenous 2SLGBTQ+ people, and to the population of Canada as a whole, people who are both Indigenous and 2SLGBTQ+ face higher levels of poverty, homelessness, emotional distress, abuse and violence, and substance use, including problematic substance use. [198] The literature also speaks to Two-Spirit men coping with the dual challenges of the effects of colonization and racism as well as homophobia and/or transphobia.[199]

Where there has been some more concentrated research is in the area of HIV, which has hit Indigenous communities hard, with injection drug use as the major driver. [200] Data gathered in the context of HIV

surveillance include the most recent data from the national Tracks Survey, conducted among people who inject drugs in 14 sentinel sites between 2017-2019, in which 42% identified as Indigenous (although Indigenous people constitute approximately 4.9% of the population in Canada as a whole according to the 2016 census). Of these Indigenous participants, 13.5% identified as gay/lesbian, bisexual, or Two-Spirit and 2.6% identified as trans; these figures suggest a disproportionate representation of 2SLGBTQ+ people among this population of people who inject drugs, which is consistent with the well-established observation of higher prevalence of substance use among sexual and gender minorities. The Tracks Survey data show, among Indigenous people who inject substances, not only elevated HIV and HCV prevalence and gaps in the testing-and-treatment care cascade, but also significant deficits in access to the social determinants of health (e.g. education, housing, income) and a high prevalence of experiencing violence and abuse, stigma, discrimination, and incarceration.[201] Remarkably, and in a testament to their resilience, most (84%) reported their mental health as "fair to excellent" despite such statistics.

Stimulants were the most commonly injected substances, while opioids were used by a substantial minority, and a substantial minority reported daily injection in the past month. As for non-injection drug use, about half of respondents had used each of methamphetamine, cocaine, and crack, and more than 80% of participants reported substance use before or during sex.

There was seemingly good access among the survey population to at least basic harm reduction services, with the large majority (> 90%) having made use of a needle and syringe program (NSP) within the past 12 months and having used sterile equipment at last injection (although still 10% reported injecting with a used needle and/or syringe at some point within the previous six months). As for treatment for problematic substance use, 43.6% had accessed opioid agonist therapy within the past 12 months, while one-quarter had used other treatment services for drug or alcohol use.

However, a recent national workshop (focused on the response to methamphetamine and other stimulants) highlighted that access to treatment for Indigenous people on reserves and in isolated communities is poor, in part because of stigma and lack of funding.[202] Other barriers to health services are of concern, too. Nearly half of the Indigenous participants had avoided healthcare services within the previous 12 months. Among those who had never tested for HIV, one-quarter avoided getting tested because of stigma and discrimination (which included fear of negative legal consequences). Barriers to health care for Indigenous GBT2Q people, including those who use drugs, encompass the deep stigma surrounding drug use, the racism they often encounter in non-Indigenous health care settings,[203] and also homophobia and/or transphobia from within their own Indigenous community and from Indigenous service providers.[204] Concerns about confidentiality in health care can be accentuated in smaller communities for 2SLGBTQ+ people, where it may also be harder to find affirming health care from 2SLGBTQ+-knowledgeable providers.[205] Among 2SLGBTQ+ Indigenous people, a significant percentage report experiencing discrimination in their home Indigenous communities and migrating to larger urban centres, but dealing there with high levels of poverty and encountering racism, including within LGTBQ communities and social services.[206] Others have also reported not being welcome as Two-Spirit people within Indigenous health services[207] and, in a recent national study, a high proportion 80%) of trans, Two-Spirit, and non-binary

Indigenous people report challenges accessing or participating in traditional ceremonies,[208] despite this (re)connection with culture being important to many, including Two-Spirit people who use drugs.[209]

An additional challenge is a complicated relationship to harm reduction within some Indigenous communities and organizations — including a perceived incompatibility with Indigenous culture(s) in some cases. However, a growing body of commentary and resources has sought to address this, outlining the ways in which harm reduction philosophy and practice connects to and reflects various principles and teachings that are common to many Indigenous Peoples,[210] and is also part of acting on the calls for action from the TRCC and the MMIWG inquiry.[211]

While it is essential for practitioners to consider how experiences of historical trauma intersect with stressors commonly associated with sexual and gender nonconforming status,[212] it is equally important to guard against a simplistic over-emphasis on socio-behavioural deficits, which risks negatively constructing Indigenous identity in a manner that reinforces stigma, skewing services to address what are seen only as individual deficits, [213] and obscuring the structural factors that are at play, including colonization. In addition to recognizing this structural context, the literature emphasizes the importance of a "strengths-based approach" to promoting health, which underscores "the capacity to achieve wellness despite adversity." [214] In their recent review of the literature, Brennan and colleagues observe that: "Indigenous peoples experience resiliency that is grounded in cultural assets, extending beyond the individual to also include a focus on social, cultural and community assets." [215] In talking circles recently convened by 2-Spirited People of the 1st Nations to discuss how to strengthen the response to opioid overdoses, participants underscored the importance of funding Indigenous harm reduction initiatives directly, and made the following point: "[I]n order to receive funding Indigenous organizations are always having to 'mine their traumas', meaning they have to discuss everything that is going wrong within their communities, instead of being able to discuss the wonderful and resilient work their community has been and is doing."[216] Adopting a strengths-based approach has been specifically urged in relation to addressing substance use issues among Indigenous people and [217] is seen as central to promoting the health of Two-Spirit people. [218]

Indigenous harm reduction is not just needles and naloxone. It addresses the consequences of colonization. It connects people to community, culture, and ceremony.

The Canadian literature in relation to substance use among **African, Caribbean, and Black (ACB) GBT2Q people** remains "strikingly limited," as it was at the time of a 2006 review.[219] However, some key themes emerge from studies in the US and the UK (to be interpreted with appropriate caveats about different contexts), which also accord with observations from key informants and other Canadian sources. These include: the greater role of religious institutions as sources of homophobia and stigmatization surrounding drug use;[220] the dual

challenge of homophobia within ACB communities and racism (including sexual racism) within gay communities, and a corresponding sense of social isolation; self-distancing from a gay or bisexual identity, and the related association of some substances (e.g. crystal meth) with gay sex (in contradistinction to e.g. cannabis);[221] and additional "minority stress," related to substance use, that arises from structural inequalities in access to healthcare, employment, and income, as well as greater involvement with the criminal legal system.[222] There are variations correlated with race/ethnicity in both patterns of substance use observed in some US studies — e.g. that African-American/Black MSM overall are less likely to use substances compared to white MSM (although those who have sex with both men and women report *more frequent* use of certain substances), and, more specifically, white MSM are more likely to use methamphetamine (and to report recent use) compared to MSM of colour.[223] There are also differences when it comes to engagement with, and successful outcomes of, treatment for substance use disorder — although a recent analysis suggests socio-economic status may have a greater effect in explaining these worse treatment outcomes, and has underscored the importance of studying how baseline differences, including on the basis of race and ethnicity, in the social determinants of health affect outcomes related to substance use.[224]

Stigma is the biggest part. There are some things we don't discuss in ACB communities, including drugs and harm reduction. The only discussion in many quarters is about abstinence, and this is underpinned by religious beliefs and the demonizing of drugs.

— Colin Johnson, Toronto Harm Reduction Alliance

At a series of meetings over the past dozen years, Black gay men in Ontario have identified the need for the following: challenging stigma surrounding substance use; greater conversation among Black gay men about substance use; harm reduction messaging that goes beyond just abstinence; service providers who are more culturally competent to serve Black gay men dealing with substance use; and a wider range of services related to supporting abstinence, decreased use, and safer use.[225]

There is no Canadian data regarding substance use issues among **GBT2Q people with various kinds of disability**, although obviously the dual barriers of homophobia and ableism complicate access to information and health services. There is extensive evidence that people with a serious mental health disorder are at higher risk of also developing substance use disorder, and the prevalence of each, and of their co-occurrence, is higher among GBMSM (which is also associated with an increased risk of experiencing homelessness).[226] GBT2Q people with physical disabilities also face additional challenges. For example, at the CBRC Summit 2019, Szeto highlighted the multiple barriers faced by deaf 2SLGBTQ+ in accessing health information and services, including in relation to mental health and substance use needs, and offered practical tips for service providers to increase accessibility for deaf people (e.g. the use of queer-friendly sign language interpreters; being attentive to client preference in choice

of interpreter, not least because of concerns when discussing what may be sensitive personal information such as sex and drug use; the use of accessibility apps such as those that do live captioning of conversation).[227]

In the case of **young GBT2Q people**,[228] the association between sexual minority status and higher substance use — and hence risk of problematic use — during adolescence has been well documented, including in Canada[229] (as has the positive effect of LGBTQ+-supportive communities, which is protective against such outcomes).[230] Unsurprisingly, high prevalence of substance use also translates into higher risk of harms, including HIV, among young GBT2Q people. In a recent study, young GBMSM in Vancouver also reported growing apprehension about the risk of overdose in the context of a toxic unregulated drug market, adding to the data supporting the researchers' conclusion that: "Equity-oriented policies and programming that can facilitate opportunities for safer substance use among young sexual minority men are critically needed, including community- and peer-led initiatives, access to low-barrier harm reduction services within commonly frequented social spaces (e.g. Pride, night clubs, bathhouses), nonjudgmental and inclusive substance use-related health services, the decriminalization of drug use, and the provision of a safe drug supply."[231]

As for **GBT2Q** sex workers, there is some, albeit insufficient, data on trans women who do sex work. But even less studied and visible is the minority of sex workers who are men, and what specific health challenges and needs they may face, [232] including in the case of those who use drugs. The available Canadian (and international) data suggest that the proportion of sex workers who are men is higher than commonly perceived; that there is considerable variation of sexual and gender identities among men and trans sex workers; [233] and that a significant minority of GBMSM, cisgender and transgender, have engaged in what they recognize as sex work or other transactional sex. [234] The available evidence consistently shows both substance use and HIV as health concerns for male sex workers, including an association in some studies between escort work and methamphetamine use among GBMSM, [235] as well as identifying the role that substance use may play for some in contributing to risk of HIV or other STBBIs. [236] Recent Canadian studies support this concern, [237] including data gathered from male sex workers by a number of GBT2Q health organizations, although it should be noted that it does not show a prevalence of substance use that is dramatically different from that observed among GBMSM as a whole. [238]

"Too often, sex work and drugs are automatically linked in people's minds....

Some sex workers do use drugs, just like some accountants and lawyers, but not all of us do. And for those of us who do, it's not necessarily a problem in our work or personal lives. ... There are definitely sex workers who party when they are working, but there are lots out there who don't." [239]

What <u>is</u> clear is the harm done to the mental and physical health of GBT2Q sex workers by the stigmatization and criminalization of sex work and drugs,[240] including by increasing exposure to violence and impeding their access to services,[241] including harm reduction services.[242] Researchers have also called for structural interventions that would increase housing stability among GBMSM who engage in transactional sex, as well as harm reduction interventions that will speak to specific needs of GBMSM who sell sex — including interventions that support those who do street-based sex work as well as those that involve engaging online, where much of this work is organized. [243]

Canadian data on both **poverty and homelessness** among 2SLGBTQ+ people, and specific correlations between these factors and problematic substance use among 2SLGBTQ+ people, is limited.[244] So, too, is data from other settings such as the US, although it suggests a link, among MSM, between use of criminalized substances and homelessness or marginal housing,[245] and also confirms both of these as outcomes of homophobic victimization.[246] The available data indicates associations between LGBT identity and lower income, as well as an association, among GBT2Q people, between problematic substance use and lower income.[247] Homelessness can result from problematic substance use for some, and can also exacerbate that use.

Homophobia and transphobia contribute significantly to 2SLGTBTQ+ people being heavily overrepresented among *youth* experiencing homelessness.[248] Queer youth have higher prevalence and more varied substance use than heterosexual youth; queer youth experiencing homelessness are also more likely to report problematic substance use than queer youth who are housed; substance use is associated with continued homelessness into adulthood; and queer youth experiencing homelessness need both queer-specific services (including housing) and mainstream services that provide an inclusive and safe environment.[249]

The limited data on the prevalence of homelessness among 2SLGBTQ+ adults in Canada shows a higher proportion of 2SLGBTQ+ households "in core housing need," and that sexual minorities are at greater risk of homelessness and experience "hidden homelessness" at much higher levels than heterosexuals,[250] while transgender and non-binary individuals are also overrepresented in populations experiencing homelessness.[251] A 2017 review noted the associations in the literature between internalized homophobia, "substance abuse," and becoming homeless, concluding that the available data "demonstrate that homeless LGBTQ adults have unique physical and mental health challenges, largely concerning HIV and substance use" and that "[w]hat little research does exist highlights that LGBTQ adults who experience homelessness are at greater risk for HIV and mental health and substance use challenges."[252] This association is borne out in more recent Canadian data from Vancouver,[253] while data from Manitoba indicates high prevalence of both substance use and of experiencing homelessness and low income among 2SGBQ+ men (especially among First Nations men),[254] and a more recent review confirmed substance use is among the factors associated with homelessness among LGBTQ+ people.[255] There are few studies into interventions to promote the health of LGBTQ+ people experiencing homelessness who use substances (one among trans women, the other among GBMSM who use stimulants); both showed positive but modest results.[256]

In most settings, including Canada, people who use drugs experience a high burden of **arrest and incarceration** and a high proportion of those incarcerated are there for drug-related offences. [257] The available data confirms that among people imprisoned in Canada, a very high percentage report previous substance use. [258] Black and Indigenous people are significantly over-represented among those imprisoned in Canada. [259] Reliably measuring the extent to which sexual and gender minorities experience arrest and incarceration, and the relationship between these experiences and substance use, is challenging for various reasons. [260] Until recently, there has been no data on the prevalence of incarceration among *sexual* minority populations in Canada, and the very limited data on incarceration among *gender* minority populations showed a substantially higher prevalence of incarceration among trans people than among the general population. [261] A study among trans Ontarians found that 6% reported having been incarcerated previously (compared to 0.4% of the general population), with Indigenous people over-represented among those trans people with this experience, consistent with the significant overrepresentation of Indigenous people generally in prison populations in Canada. [262] In 2022, Correctional Service Canada (CSC) published its first study with a profile of gender-diverse people in Canada's federal prisons, [263] but has no data regarding the sexual orientation of those incarcerated in federal prisons. [264]

The only other Canadian study to date was published in early 2023, based on data from nearly 9000 participants in CBRC's Sex Now national surveys in 2018 and 2019.[265] The researchers found that 3.7% of cisgender (non-Two-Spirit) men, 5.7% of trans participants, 10.6% of non-binary participants, and nearly 20% of Two-Spirit participants reported having been incarcerated at some point, figures that are all much higher than the prevalence of incarceration among the general population in Canada. For non-binary and Two-Spirit participants, either ever having injected drugs or having used substances (other than alcohol, cannabis, or tobacco) in the past six months were each associated with a greater likelihood of having also been incarcerated. For trans participants, having been diagnosed with HCV or HIV was linked with higher odds of incarceration. The researchers note other Canadian research in the general population has linked incarceration to higher rates of syringe-sharing and HIV/HCV risk,[266] resumption of stimulant and opioid use, overdose-related deaths, and less use of methadone and community-based health services. They conclude that: "Given that sexual and gender minority people already face additional stigma- and discrimination-related barriers to accessing harm reduction services outside of carceral settings..., our results highlight the need for gender-sensitive prevention, screening, treatment and harm reduction programs in correctional facilities and upon release to prevent HCV and HIV transmission, overdoses, and other potential substance-use related harms." [267] Comprehensive harm reduction services in all Canada's prisons — including, e.g. easy, confidential access to sterile injection equipment — is supported by ample previous research, [268] and by domestic medical and public health experts, human rights bodies, and the federal Correctional Investigator, as well as being recommended by UN agencies.[269] It has not yet been realized — and in fact, in some provincial prison systems, even access to condoms and other safer sex materials is limited.

#### **Interventions**

#### **Substance use-related interventions**

Broadly understood, reducing the harms associated with problematic substance use among GBT2Q people can and should encompass interventions aimed at (i) supporting reduction of use and abstinence from use, for those for whom this is the goal; and (ii) reducing harms associated with continued use. (In addition, service providers must contend with, and policymakers should act to reduce, the harms arising from punitive drug policies.) In the case of *sexualized* drug use among GBT2Q people, both substance use–related and sex-related interventions are needed, the latter discussed further below.

#### Reducing or abstaining from drug use

In a recent scoping review of the literature regarding interventions to address problematic drug use among LGBTQ+ populations, Kidd and colleagues found that research into substance use interventions among sexual and gender minority people "is in its infancy"; of the limited number of articles, the majority focused on GBMSM and on psychotherapies for the use of alcohol, tobacco, or methamphetamine.[270]

In the case of <u>opioids</u>, opioid agonist therapy (OAT) is a well-established, evidence-based pharmaceutical option for use in the treatment of "opioid use disorder" (OUD), thereby also reducing the risk of some harms of use (e.g. injection-related risks such as HIV and HCV, as well as overdose/poisoning from illegal unregulated supply).[271] However, as noted in a 2018 review, there is still limited literature specifically about treatment of OUD among LGBTQ+ people, although evidence-informed recommendations have been made. These include (i) integrating OUD care with other behavioural health and primary care services, and (ii) adopting an approach to treatment that actively resists homophobia/transphobia in that it recognizes "the dual stigma of addiction and LGBTQ minority status," challenges structural stigma against LGBTQ people, and taps into the strengths and resilience of LGBTQ people and communities.[272]

Unlike the situation with opioids, there is little in the way of evidence-based pharmacotherapy for problematic stimulant use.[273] While a few medications may show some potential efficacy, the quality of the evidence base is low and further research is needed;[274] there are no medications approved by the regulator in either the US or Canada for stimulant use disorder or withdrawal.[275] In the context of an ongoing crisis of drug poisoning deaths related to a toxic illegal drug market, and hence growing and urgent calls for access to "safe supply,"[276] the BC Centre on Substance Use (BCCSU) has provided practice guidance regarding prescription of certain stimulant medications as a "risk mitigation" measure to help individuals reduce their reliance on the illicit drug supply, for those who do not wish to pursue evidence-based psychosocial treatment or who, despite such treatment, continue to use stimulants and are therefore at high risk.[277]

Psychosocial therapies represent the current standard of care for stimulant use disorder.[278] In 2020, AshaRani and colleagues published a systematic review of non-pharmacological interventions for methamphetamine use disorder, concluding that various behavioural interventions were shown to have positive effects in promoting

abstinence, reducing use or reducing cravings; *contingency management* interventions showed the strongest evidence, but *cognitive behavioural therapy* also showed efficacy.[279] Some other researchers have been less encouraged by the evidence: the same year, Ronsley and colleagues published their "systematic review of reviews" regarding treatment of stimulant use disorder. They concluded that there was sufficient evidence only for the efficacy of contingency management programs, and insufficient evidence to either support or discount the use of various other interventions (including various pharmacotherapies).[280]

As for interventions addressing substance use (and sexual risk) among GBMSM specifically, in 2019, Knight and colleagues published a systematic review of (English-language) peer-reviewed and grey literature (up until October 2017) regarding interventions to address substance use and sexual risk among GBMSM who use methamphetamine. They found that while psychosocial interventions tend to hold more promise than the limited efficacy of pharmacological interventions, the overall quality of the data is moderate, and it is difficult to compare study outcomes given varying study designs. They urged further development of interventions to address both drug- and sexual health–related outcomes among GBMSM who use methamphetamine.[281] Subsequent to this review, additional reports have appeared in the literature, suggesting modest positive outcomes from some a variety of psychosocial interventions addressed specifically to GBMSM (including some reaching men living with HIV specifically).[282]

It has been widely recognized that effective HIV prevention and treatment among GBMSM requires addressing other psychosocial challenges among GBMSM (e.g. substance use, violence, etc.) that interact with HIV, and with each other, to create a combined greater impact on the health of a person or community. Informed by such "syndemic" theory, in 2020, Pantalone and colleagues reported on the results of a systematic review and meta-analysis of trials of "combination behavioural interventions" among sexual minority men that sought to simultaneously address both HIV-related behaviours and other syndemic factors, such as substance use.[283] Specifically with respect to the outcomes of interventions that addressed drug use, there were mixed results. While the heterogeneity of the interventions studied made it challenging to draw general conclusions, they suggested that interventions of "greater intensity" — i.e. more frequent and lasting longer — are likely to produce better outcomes, as are interventions that are culturally tailored for sexual minority men. In addition, they recommended that interventions seek to address not only factors at the level of the individual, but also other factors such as the behaviour of service providers and structural factors (e.g. housing) that affect the health of stigmatized populations such as sexual minority men. According to a subsequent scoping review published in 2022 by Kidd and colleagues, the available data suggest that, when looking at various modalities for psychosocial interventions, tailoring those interventions for GBMSM improves their effectiveness.[284]

#### Reducing harms while using drugs

For those who use drugs, interventions needed to reduce harms sometimes associated with such use, such as HIV, other STBBIs, and overdose, are well known. Albeit never with sufficient scale and funding, some such services have been implemented for years in Canada, such as *safer injection education* and *sterile needle/syringe distribution*, later expanded to include *distribution of safer inhalation supplies*. Other interventions are of more recent vintage and remain contested and vulnerable to changing political circumstances, such as *supervised* 

consumption services (SCS), also known in some instances as overdose prevention sites (usually in a lower-threshold set-up).[285] Even some medical interventions with decades of evidence to substantiate them, such as opioid agonist treatment with methadone and buprenorphine, still face opposition in some quarters.[286] In the face of an increasingly toxic illegal drug market, drug checking services and tools (e.g. FTIR spectrometry, fentanyl and benzodiazepine test strips) have increasingly been implemented, albeit again with insufficient funding.[287]

At least with respect to opioids, concern about the contaminated market has also led to the expansion of OAT in some settings to broader *safe supply programs* — i.e. the provision of a legal, regulated supply of drugs with mind/body altering properties that are otherwise only accessible illegally[288] — as an upstream harm reduction intervention. This has also provoked substantial political opposition from some quarters. As of 2022, safe supply programs (SSPs) were being piloted in 11 sites in three provinces. Among the documented benefits of such programs has been the sense of community and connection experienced by participants,[289] even as implementation has occurred mostly in fairly restricted medicalized models and with challenges.[290] It is worth noting that a less medicalized, more accessible model proposed by the Drug User Liberation Front in Vancouver was rejected in July 2022 by the federal government: Health Canada refused to grant an exemption to allow such a program to operate without risk of criminal prosecution.[291] Meanwhile, alongside small-scale projects offering a legally authorized, quality-controlled supply of otherwise illegal substances, a body of research demonstrates the existing reality of people using *cannabis for harm reduction*, including as a substitute for stimulants and opioids, to treat withdrawal, or to come down off other drugs — and this practice has been documented as more likely among people who reported difficulty accessing addiction treatment or who used drugs for which effective treatments are limited, such as methamphetamine.[292]

#### **Sex-related interventions**

As discussed above, both the literature and the key informants identify the strong connection for some GBT2Q people between the use of substances and their sexual lives and practices. Given this, addressing problematic use will often implicate at least a discussion of sexuality and, in the case of those who engage in problematic chemsex, will necessarily involve changing not only substance use behaviour but also sexual behaviour, another domain of life that implicates strong psychological and physiological impulses. Several key informants noted this important point about the connection between sex and substances, which must be addressed if harm reduction or other interventions are to be effective.

Harm reduction needs to encompass not just drug-related harms but sex-related harms. We cannot just deal with the drugs part or the sex part; they are combined.

— Colin Johnson, Toronto Harm Reduction Alliance

All of the elements of <u>substance use-related harm reduction</u> described above are of relevance generally to GBT2Q people who use drugs. Most of them are also applicable in the context of sexualized drug use, including chemsex/PnP, although some would require adaptation — e.g. operation of a supervised consumption space in a sex-on-premises venue such as a bathhouse.[293] Obviously, in the context of sexualized drug use, also relevant are long-standing <u>sex-related harm reduction</u> interventions aimed at reducing risk of HIV or other STBBIs, such as condom use and the use of ARVs for HIV prevention (as treatment to achieve viral suppression among men living with HIV, and as pre- and post-exposure prophylaxis among HIV-negative men). The combination of substances and sexual activity necessarily requires the combination of these two dimensions of harm reduction. This is, unsurprisingly, reflected in individual practice. For example, as Gaudette and colleagues have reported, GBT2Q people in Quebec who engage in chemsex identify many individual strategies for minimizing harms, including learning about the substances being used, avoiding combining substances, using sterile equipment, and using in safe spaces, as well as discussing substances and sexual practices with partners to ensure consent, and providing direct assistance to those in need.[294]

This also points to the need for <u>integration</u> of service provision. One need frequently mentioned by key informants was for substance use-related services to be integrated with other mental health services and with sexual health services, particularly in cases where someone is seeking support in relation to chemsex/PnP. Most spoke of the need for a full range of "wrap-around" supports, including forms of peer support. Support in addressing housing and income needs is also important (see point below).

[It's really important that we] be able to offer integrated services.

For example, a big part of the counselling for people who PnP is a reappropriation of their sexuality. People need access to substance use counselling that is integrated with sex therapy.

— Mathieu Mailhot-Gagnon, RÉZO (Montreal)

Such integration has also been recommended by researchers such as Knight and colleagues: in their review of interventions to address methamphetamine use among GBMSM, they underscored that, given the prevalence of *sexualized* use of methamphetamine among GBMSM, "disregarding sexual health risk in [methamphetamine] interventions and research is a missed opportunity." Given the nexus between sexuality and substance use for a significant number of GBTQ men and other sexual and gender minority people, they conclude their review "provides compelling evidence" for integrating interventions to reduce both drug- and sexual-related harms (e.g. distributing harm reduction kits for safer substance use via sexual health care settings). Subsequent research in Vancouver has shown such integration would be welcomed by service users.[295] In its updated consolidated guidelines on HIV prevention among key populations, WHO includes "addressing chemsex" as a "good practice" forming part of essential health interventions, noting this can include integrated services for sexual and reproductive health, mental health, access to sterile injection equipment and OAT.[296]

For people who engage in sexualized drug use, effective harm reduction must also address sexual health-related harms, including measures to prevent HIV and other STBBIs, such as access to safer sex materials and universal access to pharmacological interventions such as PrEP and PEP. Integrating harm reduction services and outreach into sexual health care settings is also key.

#### **Need for additional research and interventions**

The range of tools in the harm reduction toolbox, and knowledge of how best to use them, needs to be strengthened. In particular, given the central role that stimulants play in drug use among GBT2Q people, particularly in the context of chemsex, there is a need for substantial and sustained investment to develop effective psychosocial and pharmaceutical interventions for *preventing and treating* problematic stimulant use, as well as investment in scaling up comprehensive *harm reduction* approaches.[297] These include the interventions identified above, but because the phenomenon of stimulant overdose is less well defined and understood, harm reduction efforts also need to include increased overdose education so that users (and service providers) can better identify the signs of stimulant overdosing and be better equipped to respond so as to minimize harm.[298]

There is also a need for more *implementation research* to guide the design and delivery of harm reduction interventions in relation to stimulant use and in relation to the drug use patterns and practices of GBT2Q people. In a US study, Wilkerson and colleagues were able to determine differences between different sub-categories of MSM who use methamphetamine for PnP as to which substance use-related and sexual behaviour-related strategies they used to reduce risk of harm, and to correlate this with demographic information and the degree to which men were "out" as GBMSM. They suggest this could be helpful in tailoring intervention messages about different harm reduction strategies for certain groups and in communicating those messages.[299] Researchers in Canada have noted that there is a "need for implementation research to determine best practices to address the high levels of discrimination, poor mental health and substance use harms that gbMSM experience."[300] As Knight and colleagues concluded, the dearth of published studies of harm reduction interventions — as opposed to interventions primarily focused on treatment of "substance use disorder"— among GBMSM who use methamphetamine "is worrisome — particularly in a medical context where there is currently no 'gold standard' in MA [methamphetamine] use treatment,"[301] and more research is needed to assess harm reduction interventions such as syringe exchanges, drug checking, nutritional supplements, clean pipe kits, etc. in this population. It should be noted that, specifically with respect to methamphetamine, as of early 2022, it appears that there had not yet been any randomized controlled trials of harm reduction interventions in relation to methamphetamine use.[302]

Other evidence confirms additional barriers to harm reduction practice. For example, in the 2018 Edmonton 2SLGBTQ+ substance use survey, of those who reported using substances in the past 12 months, the large majority (80%) indicated knowing where to get a naloxone kit, but only one-quarter (24%) indicated they had one. Only one-third (34%) of respondents reported knowing where to get a drug testing kit or strips, and only 13% reported actually having these. Most recently, Chayama and colleagues have reported on the first study in Canada to gather data from sexual and gender minority (SGM) men regarding drug checking services. Among this sample of young SGM men, all of whom reported using substances for sex within the past year, there was limited awareness and experience with drug checking services, but strong interest in accessing them as a harm reduction measure. They identified social (e.g. anti-drug stigma), structural (e.g. drug criminalization), and spatial (e.g. lack of services outside of downtown Vancouver) barriers in the current context of drug checking services and supported greater access to such services in GBT2Q community settings.[303] In short, there is a need and there is a will for harm reduction among GBT2Q people, including those who engage in sexualized drug use, but work to be done to expand the range of interventions and to strengthen both access to and the uptake of those interventions.

# Barriers to services for GBT2Q people who use drugs

### **Insufficiency of services**

As a general matter, Health Canada has recognized that "only a small fraction of people in Canada who seek treatment for problematic substance use are able to access it when they need it... Part of the challenge is that treatment options are not always available when and where Canadians need them, partly driven by insufficient numbers of health professionals with the appropriate training in substance use issues."[304] This was reiterated in the public consultation held in 2018 to solicit input regarding strengthening Canada's response to substance use issues in the next phase of the *Canadian Drugs and Substances Strategy*.[305] It is against this backdrop of insufficient services overall that GBT2Q people who use drugs face additional challenges in accessing care and support.[306]

Scheim and colleagues have reported that GBMSM in Vancouver who inject drugs have a lower likelihood of accessing addiction treatment. [307] In Edmonton, the Queer and Trans Health Collective reported that, among respondents to its 2018 survey of 2SLGBTQ+ people who use substances, between 30% and 76% of people reported sharing equipment with others — and yet only three individuals reported accessing harm reduction or safe consumption supplies. [308] In 2019, Salway and colleagues reported results from a survey of STI clinic users in the Vancouver area, two-thirds of whom identified as sexual minorities: 10% reported a recent need for care related to substance use, and of these, more than three-quarters had not met with a care provider about this need. A greater proportion of gender minorities, sexual minorities, and those attending suburban STI clinics reported barriers to accessing services for mental health or substance use concerns, compared to cisgender, heterosexual, and urban comparators. [309] Arthur and colleagues analyzed data from both CBRC's 2019 Sex Now Survey and an online survey (part of the "CrystalMethamphetamine Project") that specifically surveyed more than 200

GBT2Q people in the Vancouver area who had used methamphetamine in the past six months. When asked how easy it was to get help for their substance use, nearly one-quarter of respondents replied "not at all easy" and more than another one-third replied "only a little." Nearly one-third were not confident that they would be able to get help, 70% had not used services providing safer injection materials within the past six months, and less than half had ever received treatment, counselling, or harm reduction services.[310] Gaudette and colleagues reported, from in-depth interviews with men and non-binary people in Quebec who engage in chemsex, that waiting lists and the dearth of resources in certain regions, especially outside urban centres, are barriers.[311]

The most recent national data come from CBRC's 2021 *Sex Now* survey: while just over half of the respondents were not actively seeking to change their substance use, almost one-third (31%) wanted to reduce or quit their use. However, about one in 10 people who used crystal meth (11%) and people who injected drugs (12%) reported facing barriers in access to services. Meanwhile, a high percentage of people who use opioids (17%) reported a need for naloxone kits, and the need for harm reduction supplies was reported by a quarter (26%) of people who use crystal meth and half (49%) of those who reported injecting any substance.[312]

#### **Cost of services**

Cost is a significant barrier. As Health Canada has recognized, private "addiction treatment" providers in Canada are not regulated and the quality of service varies, with a lack of minimum standards and consumer protection.[313] (Certain health care professionals working in such private settings are subject to their professional regulatory standards, where these exist.) Furthermore, the cost of such private services makes them inaccessible to many, particularly those most marginalized and at risk.[314]

As for data regarding GBT2Q people and their access to services, Salway and colleagues reported in 2019 that, among service users of sexual health clinics in Vancouver (two-thirds of whom were sexual minorities), one-quarter of those who reported a recent need for care related to mental health or substance use indicated they couldn't afford the service.[315] Similarly, Ferlatte and colleagues also examined barriers to mental health services among SGM people: from an online survey of nearly 2800 SGM people, inability to pay was the most frequently cited barrier, mentioned by nearly two-thirds of respondents.[316] As Gaspar and colleagues reported in their 2019 qualitative study among sexual minority men in Toronto regarding their experiences in accessing mental health care (including for substance use), the most common barrier cited was that services were unaffordable.[317] The national study by Card and colleagues, as well as research specifically in BC and in Quebec, confirms that among GBT2Q people who use methamphetamine (including in the context of chemsex), cost of access to therapy not covered by public health insurance systems is a barrier to access. [318]

## **Stigma**

GBT2Q people who use drugs face at least two kinds of stigma — in relation to their substance use and in relation to their sexual and/or gender minority status — in accessing at least some kinds of services, depending on the setting and provider.[319] Some GBT2Q people may face additional kinds of stigma depending on such factors as

race, engaging in sex work, etc. As Kidd et al. have summarized the research, "sexual and gender minority" (SGM) populations face providers' negative or ambivalent views about SGM patients; and relatedly, concern about potential negative experiences in *treatment*, such as providers' bias and the safety of disclosing one's sexual or gender identity. It is therefore not surprising that SGM individuals report lower satisfaction with treatment compared to heterosexuals.[320] For trans people, there is a broader problem of access to care generally. Research in Ontario has found that more than half of trans people reported negative experiences when presenting in their felt gender in hospital emergency departments, and one in five reported having avoided emergency care at some point because they expected that they would experience negative treatment as a result of their gender identity.[321] Additional data from Ontario reported in 2017 showed that transgender people are a medically underserved population, with barriers ranging from lack of provider knowledge on trans issues to refusal of care.[322]

#### Stigma surrounding substance use

The stigma surrounding drug use, particularly problematic use and particularly certain substances, is deeply entrenched — and reinforced by the criminalization of (certain) drugs and of people who use them. It also operates as a significant barrier to services. [323] Canadian data suggests stigma related to substance use operates as a significant barrier to care among GBT2Q people who use drugs. For example, Salway and colleagues have reported that, from their survey of service-users at sexual health clinics in Vancouver (two-thirds of whom were sexual minorities), of those who reported a recent need for care related to mental health or substance use, one-quarter identified shame as a barrier that had kept them from accessing care. [324] Among 2SLGBTQ+ people in Edmonton who use drugs, stigma and discrimination featured prominently as reasons respondents delayed access to substance use support, tools, or services: 31% identified concerns about stigma and discrimination against people who use drugs, 24% expressed a general concern about service providers being judgmental, and 15% raised concerns about discrimination against 2SLGBTQ+ people. [325]

#### Stigma related to sexualized drug use

Furthermore, as has been highlighted in the literature, and repeatedly by all the key informants consulted for this project, given the *stigma surrounding sexualized drug use*, it becomes even more challenging to find a service provider who is knowledgeable and equipped provide non-stigmatizing services in particular to SGMSM who engage in chemsex.

In the Greater Vancouver area, consultations with GBT2Q people who use(d) crystal meth and with service providers have highlighted that "the stigma associated with general and sexualized crystal meth use was commonly reported as a barrier to service access among peers and providers, especially when this intersected with stigma related to HIV and GBT2Q identities."[326] Among those who had a regular healthcare provider, while more than 90% were out to their provider about their sexual orientation, only 54% had disclosed their use of crystal meth use to their provider; only 61% were "very" or "somewhat" confident that they could disclose this to their provider. In Quebec, in-depth interviews with 64 sexually diverse men and non-binary people indicated that participants anticipate stigmatization with regard to their methamphetamine use and the associated sexual

practices, and, more generally, their sexual orientation, which constitutes a barrier to service accessibility.[327] Reflecting on their experiences with service providers, participants also identified a range of positive and negative responses, the latter including alarmist and stigmatizing commentary about methamphetamine and chemsex.[328] Among participants in a BC project interviewing GBMSM who use crystal methamphetamine, only 60% were confident that they could disclose their use to their doctor, and just under half were confident that they would be able to find a program for support regarding their use where they are comfortable. Furthermore, two-thirds had never received any treatment, counselling, or harm reduction services.[329]

"Substance use for LGBT people is often enmeshed in issues relating to sexual orientation, gender identity, and/or making connections with queer people and communities. It is not possible for LGBT people to successfully address alcohol and drug issues without dealing with issues relating to sexual orientation and gender identity. LGBT people are not able to bring forward the whole of their experiences when they are in environments that are non-supportive and where they experience homophobia or transphobia." [330]

Key informants were unanimous in highlighting stigma — and its enactment through discriminatory policies and practices — as among the most significant challenges to overcome in protecting and promoting the health of GBT2Q people who use drugs, and observed that multiple, often intersecting, kinds of stigma were at issue. Stigma surrounding gay sex, and the homophobia and discomfort discussing gay sex — let alone gay sex in combination with drugs — that people experience in their encounters with some service providers, impede access to services. Shaming those who have multiple sexual partners, including in the context of sexualized drug use, compounds the situation for GBMSM generally and particularly for those who do sex work. Additional kinds of stigma and discrimination, such as structural racism, transphobia, and ableism, can not only create additional risk of substance use becoming problematic but impede access to services needed. The role of conservative religious or other cultural norms in creating and deepening stigma, especially in relation to sex(uality) and substance use, cannot be ignored, and can be even more pronounced in some communities.

It's all kinds of stigma at work — about sex, sexuality, drugs... Then when you get into particular communities, because of the historical relation to drugs, there is a whole other layer of stigma that can come along with it. Some will feel like you're letting your community down. There's the whole tie-in with religion. There's the relationship with the legal system and how some communities have been over-policed... If it's already challenging enough for a middle-class white guy to find services, what about other guys in our community facing these additional layers of stigma?

— Nick Boyce, Canadian Drug Policy Coalition (Ottawa)

Numerous informants also spoke specifically about the heightened stigma attached to specific drugs —crystal methamphetamine in particular — and about specific modes of drug use, i.e. injection. Several informants also spoke about the unsurprising challenge of deeply internalized stigma experienced by many GBT2Q people who experience problematic substance use, which itself is a barrier to even seeking support and attempting to overcome other barriers.

Stigma is one of the biggest barriers relating to queer substance use. Not just stigma regarding substances, but regarding sex and substance use together (PnP), especially with crystal meth. There is a hierarchy of substances and of stigma about meth in particular... Previous anti-drug — and especially anti-meth — publicity campaigns perpetuated negative and often inaccurate views towards substance use, such as the "Dare" campaign and also "The Face of Meth" campaign... that was really harmful!... You see people's faces change when you admit to doing meth, and then the way they treat you changes. There's also a lot of stigma surrounding sex and having a lot of sex as well, slut-shaming.

— Andrew Thomas, AIDS Coalition of Nova Scotia (Halifax)

Stigma emanates not just from service providers but from within 2SLGBTQ+ communities as well, creating a further barrier: as Day points out, "the denial and stigmatisation of men participating in chemsex by their gay peers... created a barrier to accessing services, either with gay men's health services that often [have an...] aversion to drug use, or traditional heteronormative harm reduction services."[331] A number of studies and commentaries have highlighted the stigmatization within gay communities of people who use drugs (and particularly methamphetamine).[332] Key informants unanimously noted the need to tackle stigma related to drug use, including sexualized drug use, within GBT2Q communities. One key informant noted that even among those who PnP, there can be stigma (e.g. against those who inject).

There's stigma within the MSM community but there's also stigma within the chemsex community. For instance, people who smoke crystal might talk about people who inject in a demeaning or judgmental way. I see the damage it causes — this is why people isolate, because they feel their behaviour is unacceptable. They may want to stop using, but at the same time there's such a connection with pleasure, intimacy, sexuality that it's really hard to stop.

— Mathieu Mailhot-Gagnon, RÉZO (Montreal)

The PnP community is both within the wider GBMSM community but apart from it; we stick to ourselves. There is such judgment and shaming of GBMSM who use substances, and in particular PnP, within our own community. If we want to reduce the stigma in our community it will take more people stepping out and sharing their stories. People can identify with the human being telling the story and begin to challenge the simplistic stereotypes that exist.

— Key informant

# Interventions needed for GBT2Q people who use drugs

## **Access to culturally competent services**

Given the above, it is not surprising that a key conclusion emerging from the literature, and highlighted by key informants, is the need for health services that are specifically oriented to serving 2SLGBTQ+ people who use drugs. This has been highlighted in particular in relation to GBMSM who struggle with problematic sexualized drug use, and especially with particularly stigmatized substances, such as crystal meth. Numerous Canadian studies are consistent with literature from other jurisdictions in pointing to the need for services specifically equipped to meet the needs of 2SLGBTQ+ people, including GBT2Q people who engaged in sexualized drug use.[333] For example, in a BC project interviewing GBMSM who use crystal methamphetamine, Fulcher and colleagues have reported that participants wanted services tailored to their specific needs and called for making culturally competent adjustments related to sexuality to provide GBMSM-specific treatment: "Given the interrelatedness of sexual activity, sociality, and identity with methamphetamine use among gbMSM..., understanding this population's experiences with substance use services is critical. Characteristics of treatment programs that may be appropriate for individuals who use substances in general—such as a requirement of abstinence—may be a barrier to care for gbMSM, whose patterns of substance use are often strongly influenced by their sexual and social interactions...."[334] In 2021, highlighting the specific needs of SGMSM who use drugs, Card and colleagues called for: "the creation of one-stop, low-barrier, integrated care that is culturally sensitive and trauma-informed. The need for these services is particularly important given the bifurcation of services tailored for SGMSM (i.e. SGMSM services may not be culturally safe to people who methamphetamine and other services tailored for people who use methamphetamine may not be culturally safe to SGMSM.)"[335]

"This important intersection of sex, sexuality, and drug use is rarely taken into account by addictions or recovery services.... Most programs and organizations don't even know what PnP is... This means that PnP often isn't addressed in mainstream programming, counselling support groups, or in educational materials, which often focus solely on substance use without connecting it to queer sex and sexuality. ... This is a huge component of our lives and often a big piece of why we use substances. To go to a support group, for example, and not feel comfortable discussing your sexuality is a huge barrier." [336]

While there is a need for services that are specifically tailored to GBT2Q people, this must be accompanied by efforts to ensure other services are also inclusive, welcoming spaces for GBT2Q people. This echoes observations in the literature: "at a population level, the greatest benefit to MSM who use drugs is likely to emerge from equal access to existing harm reduction services that are attentive to their specific needs and social or cultural circumstance." [337] For example, in the UK, interviews with both GBMSM who PnP (and were not accessing services) and service providers identified the need for the latter to work in partnership with local LGBTQ+ organizations to ensure cultural competence, including in relation to the intersection of sexual and mental health and in addressing the needs of GBMSM who inject drugs associated with chemsex. [338]

Many of the Canadian studies cited above regarding stigma call for efforts to develop the "cultural competence" of service providers to provide informed, non-stigmatizing services to GBT2Q people, including in relation to sexualized drug use. Key informants also spoke of the need to support service providers in becoming properly "culturally competent" in relation to substance use, including sexualized use, among GBT2Q people — including acquiring some basic understanding of, and comfort addressing with service users, the socio-cultural factors affecting substance use by GBT2Q people, norms within GBT2Q communities, and sexual and drug-use practices.

GMSH is offering a CME-accredited course for clinicians — a "PnP 101" intro course designed to inform professionals to adopt a cultural humility approach to working with GBMSM who use substances. I would love to see the mental health sector and the professional schools and colleges step up and commit to doing this kind of training. Be it in the hospital emergency or the therapist's office, safe and unbiased care shouldn't be optional, and it should be a standard part of training for any profession that works with GBMSM. We also need some sort of accountability for ensuring good practice. If you're a drug user often you feel you cannot push back against stigma and poor care so who do you turn to? We need to have systems in place that will hold professionals accountable and empower GBMSM who use substances to stand up for better

Jordan Bond-Gorr, Gay Men's Sexual Health Alliance (Toronto) Additionally, harm reduction and other service providers need to be supported to acquire the cultural competence to effectively provide services GBT2Q people in all their diversity. This includes developing an understanding of structural inequities based on racism and colonization, as well as sexual or gender minority status. It also means taking an approach in harm reduction practice that seeks to counter these inequities (themselves a key source of harm), while recognizing and reinforcing the strengths and resilience that GBT2Q people have — which is evidenced not only by their survival despite such inequities, but by the steps they take to protect and promote their health, including in the context of their substance use.

How do we provide services related to PnP that are adapted to the needs of trans men, trans women, non-binary individuals? I feel there's a gap there. There is some info addressed to trans men in a guide recently released, but I don't know of any other resource like at the moment.... I hope it's possible in the future to create tools adapted to the needs of trans people, but we need to assess what the needs are.

— Mathieu Mailhot-Gagnon, RÉZO (Montreal)

Key informants who spoke to this issue were also all fully supportive of taking proactive measures to increase this competence of service providers, from "softer" approaches such as making educational resources and opportunities available to setting and enforcing certain standards of good and acceptable practice.

Pull all the levers possible, from licensing bodies or schools or professional associations making suggestions, all the way up to enforcing some sort of policy and mandating training. There are enough good people out there who are genuinely interested and want to learn, but sometimes there's also a need for some top-down approaches, saying "you need to do this."

Nick Boyce, Canadian Drug Policy Coalition

## Queer spaces, peer places and faces

In light of the particular ways in which sexual identity intersect with substance use for many GBT2Q people (including sexual practices in the context of chemsex), and of the multiple stigmas often at play, the literature suggests — and key informants uniformly agreed — that there is a need for services that are offered by and for GBT2Q people. This is related to the observation that there is little access to services that are equipped to provide proper, non-judgmental, culturally competent service to GBT2Q people who use, particularly in relation to sexualized drug use.

Mainstream addiction treatment programs have absolutely no understanding of gay men's health issues, how to talk openly about these... We need to build up competence of mainstream service providers, but you can only build up some people's capacity so much if you don't have that lived insight. We need to be ramping up queer service providers to do this work too.

— Nick Boyce, Canadian Drug Policy Coalition (Ottawa)

— Nick Boyce, Canadian Drug Policy Coalition (Ottawa)

Community organizations — including people with personal experience of substance use — are key to identifying and shaping services to respond to priority needs. In addition, as part of building the capacity of 2SLGBTQ+ people and of people who use drugs to support and strengthen their own communities, some key informants also expressly noted the importance of training and hiring people with lived experience to do some of this work:

Having community groups at the forefront of being able to distribute harm reduction supplies, test substances and provide supports similar to SCS sites is really priority number one, recognizing that community members are the true experts in their field.

Those organizations who hire those with lived experience, and are by and for the community, are those that the government/funders need to support the most.

—Jess Murray, Queer and Trans Health Collective (Edmonton)

The literature also highlights the importance of ensuring services that are by and for GBT2Q people. For example, in the national survey of 780 men and non-binary people who have sex with men and use methamphetamine (one component of the Crystal Methamphetamine Project), respondents reported the "most important characteristics" in a program addressing meth use as including the following: "the staff understand the role of drugs in my social or sexual life" (84%); "the staff understand the role that drugs have in my mental health" (80%); "the staff have experience using methamphetamine" (i.e. were peers) (73%); "the staff understand the role that drugs have as a part of my identity" (70%); and "the staff identify as LGBTQ2S" (65%).

Among GBMSM who use methamphetamine interviewed in British Columbia in 2018, study participants highlighted the desire to connect and find support from others who could empathize based on personal experience, and "expressed feeling safer and wanting to access services specifically for gbMSM," particularly given fear and/or experience of stigma — related to both sexuality and substance use — in the context of current substance use treatment services. [339] Additional consultations with GBT2Q men in the Greater Vancouver area have identified several key findings regarding the services and supports needed for GBT2Q people who use crystal meth, including (1) the need for GBT2Q-sensitive and -specific programs, and (2) the importance of involving peers (i.e. GBT2Q people with personal experience of substance use) in developing and delivering services. [340] In Quebec, among those GBT2Q people who engage in chemsex interviewed by Gaudette and colleagues, a common theme was that "peer helpers," people who have their own lived experience of chemsex, "have an excellent understanding of the issues and potential repercussions of methamphetamine use in a sexual context." [341]

This includes having staff (and volunteers) who represent the diversity of GBT2Q communities, so that who works, and who is seen as working, in harm reduction (and other) organizations communicates to potential service-users that they are welcome and supported. For example, which faces and voices are seen and heard in outreach materials signals who can expect to feel welcome and supported when seeking services. In the national survey that formed part of the Crystal Methamphetamine Project, not only did participants strongly identify the importance of programs provided by queer people, including those with first-hand knowledge of substance use, but among participants who were not white, 15% stated that having other participants in a support service of the same ethnicity was important, while 29% of the participants who identified as Indigenous rated it important that program staff be Indigenous.[341]

Two major concerns come up [for Black people who use drugs]. Do they feel safe in that space? Are you making them feel safe? This includes the language that's used, the looks that [are] used, the body language that is used. And are you sure that what we do with you is not going to come outside, that nobody is going to hear it? Unless people can feel safe and that what they're doing is confidential...it will not work.

— Colin Johnson, Toronto Harm Reduction Alliance [342]

Several key informants also spoke of the fundamental importance of support services that create the opportunity for connection, including with others who have some similar shared experience. This is particularly important in the case of problematic chemsex: it often attracts an even deeper stigma — including from within the GBT2Q community, and an internalized stigma for some; it can result in a more profound isolation from family, friends and community other than fellow PnP'ers. As a result, breaking patterns of problematic use can be particularly difficult, making support from others with similar experience particularly valuable.

When support is coming from someone who has had a similar experience to you, it seems more genuine and there is almost an immediate sense of connection through shared trauma that is established. I can't stress enough how important this is.

— Andrew Thomas, AIDS Coalition of Nova Scotia (Halifax)

It's really hard to address stigma. One of the ways I've found useful is with group work...

Guys I counsel on an individual basis tell me it's eye-opening. Men tell me stuff like: "I see myself as a piece of shit, and then I meet these men [in the group] who don't look like pieces of shit, but who also see themselves the same way; it changes everything about how I see myself now." Even if they think negatively about themselves, there's a switch [in their perception of themselves]; that's why it's so valuable to have such a group.

— Mathieu Mailhot-Gagnon, RÉZO (Montreal)

This call for queer spaces, and for the presence of peers — i.e. other GBT2Q people with personal experience of substance use — in various roles, is consistent with a broader well-established literature and practice outlining and demonstrating the case for the meaningful involvement of people who use drugs in all facets of the response to drugs and drug policy, including harm reduction,[344] as well as describing the meaningful roles they can play.[345] Such guidance should be kept in mind as efforts are made to strengthen the harm reduction response to problematic substance use among GBT2Q people, and in a manner that engages peers in various aspects of that response.

### Easy access to harm reduction information and supplies

Several key informants made the point that harm reduction services need to address *when, where, and how* GBTQ2 people are using drugs. In particular, having access harm reduction information, supplies, and services in ways that help protect confidentiality is key, given the stigma surrounding drug use and concerns about being identified as GBT2Q if accessing services in a particular location. Outreach of various kinds is key to increase access — including discreet mail-order distribution, mobile distribution sites, dispensing machines, and the possibility of direct delivery. Fixed site, or even mobile but still public, supervised consumption services and needle/syringe programs will not address harms associated with substance use in a sexual context. Recognizing the connection between sex and substance use means that harm reduction practice needs to include making information and supplies accessible where sexualized substance use happens, whether it's in a sex-on-premises venue (e.g. bathhouses/saunas) or in private spaces (e.g. homes, hotel rooms) and when it happens (e.g. including overnight and on weekends).

Taking harm reduction services — including, for example, drug checking — to spaces and events where GBT2Q people gather (e.g. bars, festivals, events) is important to connect with those in need.

Some key informants pointed out that both 2SLGBTQ+ community organizations and businesses that seek or rely upon 2SLGBTQ+ customers should commit to harm reduction to protect the health of GBT2Q people who use drugs. There were mixed reports about the extent to which bars or bathhouses/saunas serving GB2TQ communities were allowing or even proactively engaging in the distribution of harm reduction information — and, beyond that, the distribution actual safer drug use kits, as they do with safer sex supplies. Some key informants reported previous opposition in years past to even the provision of safer drug use information, although this appears to have improved. In some settings, with some establishments, this is now accepted practice, and some also provide "sharps" containers for safe disposal of syringes/needles and other equipment. While some key informants suggested the distribution of harm reduction supplies was happening in some such local venues, others said it was not.

We have a mobile FTIR spectrometer that enables us to provide support at a wide range of outreach events throughout Alberta, particularly queer events and festivals where individuals need safer/braver spaces. Within Edmonton, we are providing substance checking support at our office, and we're currently looking into getting a van to meet our participants wherever they are. As with supervised consumption sites, people in the queer community may not feel comfortable or have the ability to access drug testing support at one physical location. So, if we're meeting them for harm reduction supply delivery at their own home, or where they go to party/use substances, we're one step closer to providing them with the support they need. Jess Murray, Queer and Trans Health Collective (Edmonton)

I would love to see bathhouses distributing harm reduction supplies, but I'm not aware of any formal partnerships [between them and community organizations] doing this.

— Key informant

The saunas... provide access to yellow [safe disposal] boxes to throw away used drug injection and other drug use material. They don't provide access to safer drug use material on site and don't allow it. People generally come to our offices to obtain this type of material rather than getting it there.

— Mathieu Mailhot-Gagnon, RÉZO (Montreal)

# **Full range of services**

Several key informants spoke of the need for substance use services for GBT2Q people that are multi-faceted and address the range of factors affecting their substance use and their health more broadly. Some people need support with abstaining from substances. Others need support in reducing their use or modifying when and how they use and, in the case of sexualized use, in reducing risks of harm related to sexual behaviour. Improved access to safe supply would reduce the occurrence of overdoses. Support needs to be available in multiple forms (e.g. groups, oneon-one) and ways (e.g. in-person, online, via phone or chat/text, etc.). For those using drugs, easy access to accurate, nonstigmatizing information and to harm reduction materials (e.g. safer injection or inhalation kits, test strips, naloxone) is key, taking into account when, where, and with whom people use. Most spoke of the need for a full range of "wrap-around" supports, including forms of peer support.

One approach does not fit all, and we need to use as many tools in the toolbox as possible. We should have the entire spectrum of care from abstinence programs to safe supply and harm reduction. We need to include both individual and group counselling services, peer support, outpatient education and therapy (including online), in-patient and residential treatment. There should be options for people who cannot be abstinent to get into programs where they can detox and start care, rather than have to demonstrate a period of sobriety after detox. We should have better drug testing services, including a spectrometer, as people are dying due to contaminated product. More access to vending machines with harm reduction supplies. Safe consumption sites and sharps disposal programs throughout the province. Andrew Thomas and Patrick Maubert, AIDS Coalition of Nova Scotia

It would be great to have ... a line for people who engage in chemsex that is accessible 24/7, so that if someone comes out of a PnP episode, they can just call and get counselling, or if they get a craving, they can get support.

— Mathieu Mailhot-Gagnon, RÉZO (Montreal)

When I think about guys I know who have accessed services, harm reduction is one thing, but when they need withdrawal, detox, and treatment support, even if they can find something it's rarely culturally relevant, and even if there is some understanding, there's no aftercare. You may end up in a detox program or do a bit of drug treatment, but then you're right back into your community, with no follow-through, little other support, especially in a community where there is such normalized drug use.

— Nick Boyce, Canadian Drug Policy Coalition (Ottawa)

### Underlying factors, including social determinants of health for GBT2Q people

Numerous key informants highlighted the importance of adequately addressing, through funding and policies, the various social and individual determinants of health among GBT2Q people. This is consistent with the literature that demonstrates the many ways in which factors such as trauma, bullying, abuse, violence, isolation, and discrimination — including those rooted in systems and practices of colonization, racism, homophobia, biphobia, transphobia, HIV stigma, sexism, etc. — contribute to poorer outcomes with respect to education, income, and ultimately physical and mental health, including problematic substance use and additional challenges in accessing services.

We need a more diverse range of options to support people, across the spectrum of substance use. We could prevent a lot of harm by funding upstream interventions to help people deal with things in life that can turn drug use from recreational and controlled to problematic — things like grief counselling, counselling about job loss, etc. Rock bottom is not a concept we need to take with us.

— Jordan Bond-Gorr, Gay Men's Sexual Health Alliance, Toronto

Basic needs, such as housing and income security, were highlighted by several key informants as essential aspects of preventing, treating, and reducing the harms of problematic substance use among GBT2Q people — as they are among other people, but recognizing that homophobia and transphobia create heightened risk of poverty and homelessness and sometimes additional barriers to accessing, e.g. safe housing and shelter services.

We need more social funding. Social programs are critical to bettering the health and happiness of our community. ... Many of the clients who've accessed our programs have required much more than solely harm reduction supplies or support around substance use, so a holistic approach looking at all key areas of health and basic human needs must be adopted.

— Andrew Thomas and Patrick Maubert, AIDS Coalition of Nova Scotia

## **Securing and sustaining funding**

Several key informants spoke about the challenges of sustaining services without sustained funding. This has negative effects on the capacity of the community sector to respond to communities' needs and, ultimately, on the health and wellbeing of GBT2Q people who use drugs. Regularly changing funding programs and priorities is part of the problem.

Additionally, there is a lack of stable programming, due in part because of the short-term nature of funding. Funding instability leads to instability in services, and that breaks community trust in our organizations and often further disenfranchises people who are now without support. We cannot force essential programs to justify their existence every 2-5 years. Funding needs to be stable and longer term.

— Key informant

Current funding [from Health Canada] is about to run out, and isn't being renewed, even though we've met and exceeded all the deliverables. We're trying to find some other funding to sustain some of the work on PnP, even if the full program we've built can't continue. At least it would be good if we could continue the "PnP Hangouts" because these are really important for people to develop social connections with other guys who have a similar experience of PnP, because it can be a really isolating experience.

Andrew Thomas, AIDS Coalition of Nova Scotia (Halifax)

Another problem is access to funding in the first place, including for truly community-driven responses, as a result of the onerous processes and requirements involved to secure funding from some sources, especially government.

When it comes to community-based solutions that might benefit GBMSM who use substances, it's very complicated for community members to apply for funding. Funding applications are prohibitively complex, difficult to navigate and too tied to research. It would be great to see funding set aside, including by PHAC [Public Health Agency of Canada] and other government funders, that is dedicated to community organizations doing local, smaller-scale projects that does not require a post-doc to apply for.

— Key informant

Gaps in what services are funded are also sometimes the downstream effect of gaps in the research, which then perpetuates the problem because there isn't as clear "evidence of need," even if community-level experience is that harms are occurring.

When chemsex became a phenomenon that gained more public attention, what became immediately apparent to me is that much of the funding for programming addressing our communities' needs was created by and for the GBMSM community. While there is a very real need for harm reduction support that is targeted to this community, we have also seen that this need extends to the 2SLGBTQ+ community as a whole. The problem seems to be that there is a significant lack of research — which ultimately translates to funding — extended to the rest of the queer communities' unique needs.

— Jess Murray, Queer and Trans Health Collective (Edmonton)

## Legal and policy changes

In light of the harm caused by drug prohibition, including and especially to the health of people who use drugs, calls for *decriminalization* of simple possession are growing, including being recommended unanimously by all UN agencies. [346] British Columbia currently has in place a three-year exemption (until early 2026) from federal law criminalizing simple possession, albeit with unnecessary and unhelpful restrictions. [347] A request from the City of Toronto for a municipal exemption is still under consideration by Health Canada. In line with this, key informants were unanimous in their strong view that legal and policy changes are needed as part of responding effectively to problematic substance use, including among GBT2Q people, including decriminalizing possession. It was also noted that the protection against possible criminal charges for possession afforded by the *Good Samaritan Drug Overdose Act* needs to be expanded. Related to this, aside from what the law may say on paper, as a matter of practice, having police attend respond to a call for emergency services from the scene of an overdose is unhelpful and a barrier to care. [348]

The two biggest barriers are criminalization and stigma. Criminalization impacts all communities — it is THE most pressing barrier to attend to. Criminalization feeds into stigma, and stigma is one of the biggest barriers for GBMSM who use drugs to accessing healthcare and other supports. Stigma and moralizing narratives about drugs make it impossible to have rational, honest, and public conversations about our own substance use and creates the silence that keeps us in the closet about substance use.

— Jordan Bond-Gorr, Gay Men's Sexual Health Alliance (Toronto)

In addition, several key informants called for scaling up access to "safe supply," including through legalizing and regulating the supply of substances to better protect the health of consumers.

We need decriminalization of drugs, perhaps legalization. This would lead to fewer people being punished and imprisoned for using substances, which makes no sense — why are we making these people's lives harder by giving them a criminal record? It would lead to less violence and crime. It would mean less stigma and a less toxic supply of drugs. It would allow people to speak more openly about substance use and allow for earlier interventions and better access to supports.

— Andrew Thomas, AIDS Coalition of Nova Scotia (Halifax)

We need legal regulation, in addition to decriminalization — and we need to think about the models for that, including going beyond a medical model. Probably going the buyers' compassion clubs is the way to go, and being more critical of alcohol and tobacco models, with such blatant commercialization of those drugs. If we're talking about harm to gay men from substance use, when are we going to talk about alcohol?

— Nick Boyce, Canadian Drug Policy Coalition (Ottawa)

One example of a need for an improved approach to legal regulation is the case of poppers, commonly used by GBMSM in conjunction with sex. In Canada, it is not illegal to possess poppers for personal use. However, in 2013, Health Canada began a crackdown on the sale of poppers, taking the (disputed) position that they are "drugs" under the *Food and Drugs Act* and therefore selling them without authorization (of the kind required for

pharmaceutical products) is an offence punishable with fines and/or imprisonment. Despite this, use of poppers among GBMSM remains high, with multiple studies showing recent use by nearly one-third of GBMSM (and by half of those living with HIV).[349] The harms of Canada's prohibition on poppers have recently been analyzed elsewhere, with advocates calling for an end to the ban as unwarranted and as doing more harm than good, particularly to GBMSM.[350]

Some key informants also called for efforts to undo the harm of being saddled with a criminal record for drug charges.

I know enough gay guys who've got criminal charges related to drug use, so expungement of records would be an important area for advocacy.

— Nick Boyce, Canadian Drug Policy Coalition (Ottawa)

As detailed above, the stigmatization and criminalization of sex work harms the mental and physical health of GBT2Q sex workers, including by increasing exposure to violence and impeding their access to harm reduction services,[351] and sex workers across Canada have called for law reform to better protect health and human rights, with decriminalization of sex work as a priority.[352] Some key informants also noted how the continued criminalization and stigmatization of sex work further burdens some GBT2Q people who use drugs and mentioned the need for law reform on this front.

In 2018, we conducted a survey on sexualized substance use, and we've just finished redoing it to look at the needs of the whole 2SLGBTQ+ community in Alberta. Through that survey, we learned some valuable lessons. We discovered that the needs of the GBMSM community differ from other parts of the queer community. One example being trans sex workers: while some trans sex workers engage in sexualized substance use without issue, others struggle with it. Some of us use substances as a coping mechanism or because we feel isolated from our community. This isolation can lead to problematic substance use, much like it can among GBMSM.

Jess Murray, Queer and Trans Health Collective (Edmonton)

Aside from specific legal changes, key informants also agreed that governments need to incorporate 2SLGBTQ+ people and their specific needs into relevant strategies and policy initiatives, not just those in relation to drugs specifically but other related determinants of health and health outcomes (e.g. housing, poverty reduction, sexual health).

# SCAN OF RESOURCES, SERVICES, AND FEDERAL STRATEGIES AND FUNDING

Over the past decade, there has been a welcome increase in resources aimed at supporting GBT2Q who use drugs to protect and promote their health, reflecting the growing evidence base and attention to the issue, but overall, they remain insufficient in number and insufficiently resourced.

### **Educational resources**

Several (mostly online) information resources exist to provide harm reduction information to GBT2Q people who use drugs. The most recent of these include GMSH's "Party and Play" website and Your Party and Play Field Guide, a harm reduction handbook with practical tips produced in collaboration with CATIE. In addition to these useful static information resources, MonBuzz/MyBuzz (www.monbuzz.ca / www.MyBuzz.ca) is a bilingual online tool, developed by RÉZO and l'Université de Sherbrooke, to help GBMSM assess their drug and alcohol use and consider the effects these may be having on their sex life and sexual health. It is available as an interactive website and occasionally promoted via at least some mobile social networking apps (e.g. Grindr, Scruff). At certain times, the online assessment is backed by access to online chat with a counsellor.[353]

## **Services**

CBRC maintains a periodically updated <u>national map of services related to PnP</u>. Several organizations addressing the health of GBT2Q people have integrated harm reduction and other services for people who use drugs into their programming, and some also have specific services for particular communities among GBT2Q people, such as those who do sex work. A few other organizations focusing on HIV among particular communities — such as specific ethno-racial communities or people currently or formerly in prison — have included programs for GBT2Q people and/or people who use drugs in their services. Among the services being provided to varying degrees are the following:

- **harm reduction education,** including through workshops and presentations, which sometimes include training on use of naloxone for reversing opioid overdose;
- **drop-in supports**, sometimes oriented to specific communities, with some taking place in-person, others online as virtual drop-ins (and some in a hybrid format);
- **counselling and other psychosocial support services**, including both individual and group counselling (also sometimes available through health centres specializing in queer and trans health);
- **distribution of harm reduction (and safer sex) supplies** in various ways, including: onsite at their premises; through street outreach programs and other mobile outreach (e.g. van/bus); in some cases, distribution of at least harm reduction *information* (but not supplies) in spaces such as bars and sex-on-premises venues (e.g. bathhouses) and at GBT2Q-specific specific events; delivery by mail; and direct, in-person delivery of harm reduction (and safer sex) supplies to a private residence or other location; and
- **drug checking services** (e.g. FTIR spectrometers in some cases, but at least fentanyl test strips, which many also offer for take-home use; some organizations also provide benzodiazepine test strips).

# **Training of service providers**

Some organizations offer training specifically for providers of health and other social services, with a view to assisting them in becoming more culturally competent to meet the needs of 2SLGBTQ+ people, including in relation to sexualized substance use. Examples include: the <a href="Intersexion">Intersexion</a> community of practice and virtual training platform for service providers regarding sexualized drug use, hosted by the Association des intervenants en dépendance du Québec (AIDQ); the multi-part video series of <a href="e-learning modules">e-learning modules</a> produced by St. Stephen's Community House in Toronto; GMSH's <a href="www.PartyandPlay.info">www.PartyandPlay.info</a> website, which hosts a secondary site specifically for service providers, and its <a href="interactive training sessions">interactive training sessions</a> providing an "Introduction to Chemsex/PnP" for front-line sexual health and harm reduction staff, physicians, and other clinical care providers; and a module on "Substance Use Care for 2SLGBTQ+ People" in the Addiction Care and Treatment Online Course (ACTOC) for healthcare practitioners by the University of British Columbia. Both the GMSH and UBC training sessions are certified for continuing professional development credits.

# **Federal strategies and funding**

There are important examples of *some provincial and municipal governments* funding initiatives to address problematic substance use among GBT2Q+ people, including harm reduction services, but it was beyond the scope of this project to do a comprehensive scan of these. A snapshot of recent/current funding at the *federal level*, in relation to (i) health, (ii) drugs, and (iii) 2SLGBTQ+ communities, suggests that some important initiatives have been supported, but funding is short-term, *ad hoc*, and far from adequate. There is an opportunity and a need to strengthen attention to the health of GBT2Q people who use drugs in all of these.

#### STBBIs and/or sexual health

In Canada, the burden of HIV falls most heavily on GBMSM and significantly on people who inject drugs, and the specific population of GBMSM who inject drugs is considered epidemiologically significant enough to warrant its own specific category in PHAC's HIV surveillance data.[354] Yet neither the *pan-Canadian framework* for action on STBBIs, nor the *federal government's action plan* to address STBBIs (as a component of that national framework), make any mention of problematic substance use among GBT2Q people or the need for harm reduction efforts specifically engaging this population.[355]

As for funding, the Public Health Agency of Canada administers both the *HIV and Hepatitis C Community Action Fund* (CAF), to support efforts at HIV prevention, testing, linking people to care, and reducing stigma, and the *Harm Reduction Fund*, to support front-line interventions to reduce HIV and HCV among people who use drugs. The CAF currently supports one "community alliance" project focused, in part, on addressing substance use among GBT2Q men, through interventions by GBT2Q community organizations. Under its previous three-year funding cycle (ended March 2022), the HRF supported projects by three community organizations. In the current

funding cycle (2022-2025), the HRF is again supporting service delivery by three community organizations, as well as the small project by the HIV Legal Network that includes production of this report and related resources on strengthening harm reduction among GBT2Q men and gender-diverse people. Finally, in its 2021 budget, the federal government committed \$45 million over three years to support work on advancing **sexual and reproductive health**, including via supporting the Sexual and Reproductive Health Unit of Health Canada and providing funding for community organizations (to be managed and disbursed by that Unit). That funding is supporting important initiatives, including in relation to the sexual health of 2SLGBTQ+ people. Based on the information publicly available online and informal inquiries, it does not appear that any projects have been funded from this source that address sexualized drug use among GBT2Q people as part of protecting and promoting sexual heath.

### **Drugs and substances**

The federal government launched a retooled *Canadian Drugs and Substances Strategy* in December 2016, restoring harm reduction as a pillar of such a strategy.[356] As part of this strategy, Health Canada administers the *Substance Use and Addictions Program* (SUAP), which funds "a wide range of evidence-informed and innovative problematic substance use prevention, harm reduction and treatment initiatives across Canada at the community, regional and national levels."[357] In 2022, SUAP provided one year of funding to CBRC for a national PnP project that allowed for the expansion of the "Peer N Peer" program, a peer-led queer substance use and sexual health program started by QTHC in Edmonton and MAX Ottawa, to two new partner organizations, SERC in Winnipeg and the AIDS Coalition of Nova Scotia in Halifax, but funding ended after just one year. In addition, in the current funding cycle, SUAP has supported seven projects of varying size and duration (some ended as of March 2023, others continuing until early 2024) that explicitly include GBT2Q people who use drugs (although not necessarily exclusively or primarily).

## **2SLGBTQ+ communities**

In late 2022, the federal government commendably launched the Federal 2SLGBTQI+ Action Plan: An Ongoing Commitment to Action, accompanied by a commitment in Budget 2022 of CAD \$100 million over five years to develop and implement initiatives that advance the objectives of the Action Plan. The Action Plan identifies six priority areas and related objectives, including the following: sustaining 2SLGBTQI+ community organizations in advocating for and serving their communities; supporting the resilience and resurgence of Indigenous 2SLGBTQI+ communities; improving data collection, analysis, research, and knowledge on 2SLGBTQI+ communities in Canada; and strengthening mechanisms to advance 2SLGBTQI+ issues and ensure coordinated Government of Canada responses to community priorities.[358] Addressing the needs of 2SLBTQI+ people who use drugs is a necessary part of each of these areas. Yet neither the Action Plan nor any of the funding calls to date — which also explicitly state that they will "prioritize funding for 2SLGBTQI+ communities experiencing additional marginalization" — make mention of 2SLGBTQ+ people who use drugs or of the need for research, services, and policies to address this aspect of queer communities' health.

# CONCLUSION

Problematic substance use, including sexualized use, is a significant health concern among GBT2Q people, including in relation to HIV and other STBBIs, but also beyond. Reducing the harms associated with problematic drug use, and with problematic drug policy, warrants greater sustained attention, from governments, service providers, and advocates, including harm reduction and drug policy advocates and advocates for the rights of 2SLGBTQ+ people.

GBT2Q people have particular relationships to substances that, for a range of reasons and in a variety of ways, are informed by sexual or gender minority identities. In addition, specific populations of GBT2Q people may face additional forms of stigma or have additional needs that must be considered in responding effectively to reduce harms and promote health. So, too, must interventions be designed in a fashion that recognizes and values the benefits, including pleasure and connection, that GBT2Q people derive from their use, in addition to communicating information to help people reduce risks when using. Service providers and policymakers must avoid the non-evidence-based, stigmatizing, and ultimately harmful rush to deem all substance use harmful or problematic, and to further pathologize sexual and gender minorities who use drugs.

Layered on top of insufficient and inaccessible services, criminalization and stigma create additional, significant barriers to needed interventions to protect the health of GBT2Q people who use drugs. That stigma unfortunately also exists within the GTB2Q community despite the higher prevalence of substance use, including sexualized use, among GBT2Q people. Often "mainstream" services, whether for treatment or harm reduction, are not well equipped to address the needs of GBT2Q people, and even more so for those who engage in chemsex/PnP. Proactive measures, including policy steps, can and should be taken to improve their cultural competence, as a matter of good practice and equity. But there is also a need to expand access to services by and for GBT2Q people. Such services should incorporate peers with their own experience of substance use, not only as a recipients and participants of services, but also as employed service providers.

GBT2Q people need access to a broader range of interventions, both pharmacological and psychological, for treating or reducing the harm of problematic drug use among GBT2Q people. Meanwhile, interventions to reduce harms among those who use drugs should be made friendlier and more accessible to GBT2Q people, including through their delivery in GBT2Q community spaces, both physical and virtual. In addition, services for treating problematic substance use and reducing harms of substance use need to be integrated, where appropriate, with other related services such as those for mental health and sexual health. Attending effectively to problematic substance use among GBT2Q people also often requires addressing the broader range of social determinants of health for GBT2Q people, from homophobia and other forms of stigma, discrimination, and violence to basic needs such as income security and housing. Easier access to more sustained, reliable funding for research and for interventions, including those delivered by frontline, community-based organizations, is essential. In addition, all orders of government should incorporate attention to problematic substance use among GBT2Q people in relevant strategies and initiatives and should repeal harmful drug laws and policies; this includes decriminalizing simple possession of currently criminalized substances.

## REFERENCES

- [1] Public Health Agency of Canada. HIV in Canada, Surveillance Report to December 31, 2020. Ottawa: PHAC, July 2022.
- [2] Public Health Agency of Canada, <u>Population-Specific HIV/AIDS Status Report: Gay, Bisexual, Two-Spirit and Other Men Who Have Sex with Men</u>, July 2013. In 2020, nearly two-thirds of new HIV cases among men were among GBMSM. Approximately 5% of these cases were among GBMSM who also identified as injecting drugs: <u>Public Health Agency of Canada</u> (2022), <u>supra</u>. The year before, it was noted that while the percentage of cases attributed to sex between men (without any drug injection reported) had decreased somewhat over the past decade, the percentage of cases among GBMSM who inject drugs had increased by more than 10%: Haddad N et al. <u>HIV in Canada-surveillance report, 2019.</u> Canada Communicable Disease Report 2021; 47(1): 77-86.
- [3] Robinson M. *Evidence Brief: LGTBQ People, Drug Use and Harm Reduction*. Rainbow Health Ontario & Canadian Harm Reduction Network, March 2014.
- [4] Some key examples include the following: Beddoes D et al. *The Impact Of Drugs on Different Minority Groups: A Review Of The UK Literature Part 2: Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual & Transgender (LGBT) groups* (July 2010), and the accompanying policy brief *Drugs and Diversity: Lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender (LGBT) communities Learning from the evidence* (July 2010), both available via <a href="https://www.ukdpc.org.uk/publications/">https://www.ukdpc.org.uk/publications/</a>; Hunt J. "Why the Gay and Transgender Population Experiences Higher Rates of Substance <a href="Use">Use"</a>, Center for American Progress, March 9, 2012; Hanssens C et al. *A Roadmap for Change: Federal Policy Recommendations for Addressing the Criminalization of LGBT People and People Living with HIV.* New York: Center for Gender & Sexuality Law at Columbia Law School, 2014; *Unjust: How the Broken Criminal Justice System Fails LGBT People.* Center for American Progress & Movement Advancement Project, 2016; Drug Policy Alliance, "LGBTQIA+ Communities and Drug Policy Reform" (2013) and "The LGBTQIA+ Community and the War on Drugs: Drug Use, Criminalization, and Its Impact on Health" (2018), both available via <a href="https://drugpolicy.org/issues/lgbtqia-drug-war;">https://drugpolicy.org/issues/lgbtqia-drug-war;</a> Levy J. *Chemsex: A Case Study of Drug User-Phobia.* London: INPUD, 2019; Harm Reduction International & APCOM. *Briefing note: Chemsex and harm reduction for gay men and other men who have sex with men*, July 2021.
- [5] MacFarlane D. LGBT Communities and Substance Use What Health Has To Do With It!: A Report On Consultations With LGBT Communities. Vancouver: LGBT Heath Association of BC, February 2003, <a href="https://chodarr.org/sites/default/files/chodarr1502.pdf">https://chodarr.org/sites/default/files/chodarr1502.pdf</a>; Robinson, supra; Community-Based Research Centre. Evidence brief: substance use and supervised consumption services for gay, bisexual, trans and queer men and Two-Spirit and non-binary people. Vancouver: CBRC, October 2020; Card KG et al. Improving Substance Use Related Policies for Gay, Bisexual, and Queer Men: A brief submitted to the Standing Committee on Health for the Committee's study of LGBTQ2 Health in Canada, 2019.
- [6] Joloy D. The 'good gay' versus chemsex: The articulation of a homonormative response. Sexualities 2023 (online Mar 24).
- [7] Canadian HIV/AIDS Legal Network, <u>Brief to the House of Commons Standing Committee on Health: 2SLGBTQ+ Health in Canada</u>, May 2019.
- [8] 2SLGBTQQIA+ Sub-Working Group. MMIWGSLGBTQQIA+ National Action Plan Final Report, April 2021.
- [9] Global Commission on Drug Policy. The World Drug Perception Problem: Countering Prejudices About People Who Use Drugs. 2017.
- [10] E.g. see studies cited in: C. Strong et al. <u>HIV, chemsex, and the need for harm-reduction interventions to support gay, bisexual, and other men who have sex with men.</u> *Lancet HIV* 2022; 9(10): e717-e725; Compton WM, Jones CM. <u>Substance Use among Men Who Have Sex with Men.</u> *N Engl J Med* 2021; 385(4): 352-356; Anderson-Carpenter KD et al. <u>Associations between sociodemographic characteristics and substance use disorder severity among methamphetamine-using men who have sex with men. *Subst Use Misuse* 2019; 54(11): 1763-1773.</u>

- [11] E.g. Public Health Agency of Canada. <u>M-Track: Enhanced Surveillance of HIV, Sexually Transmitted and Blood-borne Infections, and Associated Risk Behaviours among Men Who Have Sex with Men in Canada</u>. Phase 1 Report. Ottawa: Centre for Communicable Diseases and Infection Control, Infectious Disease Prevention and Control Branch, Public Health Agency of Canada, 2011; <u>Robinson</u>, supra.
- [12] Community-Based Research Centre. Blog post: <u>"Substance Use Among GBT2Q"</u>, 4 August 2022; Correspondence from B. Klassen, CBRC, 16 March 2023. For additional data, consult CBRC's "Our Stats," an online database of findings from the *Sex Now* surveys since 2015: <u>https://www.cbrc.net/ourstats</u>.
- [13] Jun HJ et al. <u>Sexual orientation and gender identity disparities in substance use disorders during young adulthood in a United States longitudinal cohort</u>. *Drug Alcohol Depend* 2019; 205: 107619.
- [14] Anderson-Carpenter et al, supra.
- [15] Bourne A. "Self-perceived problematic drug use and harm reduction service engagement among LGBTQA+ young people in Australia." *Harm Reduction* 2023, Melbourne, 16-19 April 2023, <u>Abstract HR23-523</u>.
- [16] Statistics Canada, Brief to the Standing Committee on Health: 2SLGBTQ+ Health in Canada (2019).
- [17] Lachowsky NJ et al. <u>Lifetime Doctor-Diagnosed Mental Health Conditions and Current Substance Use Among Gay and Bisexual Men Living in Vancouver, Canada</u>. Substance Use & Misuse 2017; 52(6), 785–797.
- [18] Edmundson C et al. <u>Sexualised drug use in the United Kingdom (UK): A review of the literature.</u> *Int J Drug Policy* 2018; 55: 131-148; Tomkins A et al. <u>Sexualised drug taking among men who have sex with men: a systematic review.</u> *Perspectives in Public Health* 2018; 138(4): 1-11; Maxwell S et al. <u>Chemsex behaviours among men who have sex with men: A systematic review of the literature</u>. *Int J Drug Policy* 2019; 63: 74-89; <u>Levy</u>, *supra*.
- [19] Strong et al, supra.
- [20] Moyle L et al. Pharmacosex: reimagining sex, drugs and enhancement. *Int J Drug Policy* 2020; 86: 102943, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2020.102943">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2020.102943</a>.
- [21] Stuart suggests at least some of "these additional drugs are not commonly understood to be 'chems,' as they are most often considered casual additions to the 'high', and not individually providing the actual 'high' that is sought": Stuart D. <u>Chemsex: origins of the word, a history of the phenomenon and a respect to the culture</u>. *Drugs and Alcohol Today* 2019; 19(1): 3-10. See also: Hibbert MP et al. <u>A narrative systematic review of sexualised drug use and sexual health outcomes among 2SLGBTQ+ people</u>. *Int J Drug Policy* 2021; 93: 103187.
- [22] Report: 3rd European Chemsex Forum (Paris, 2019).
- [23] Levy, supra.
- [24] Drysdale K et al. <u>Destabilising the 'problem' of chemsex: Diversity in settings, relations and practices revealed in Australian gay and bisexual men's crystal methamphetamine use.</u> *Int J Drug Policy* 2020; 78: 102697.
- [25] Hibbert et al, *supra*; Patten S et al. <u>Sexualized drug use in virtual space: A scoping review of how gay, bisexual and other men who have sex with men interact online</u>. *Canadian Journal of Human Sexuality* 2020; 29(1): 106-126.
- [26] Sang JM et al. <u>Longitudinal event-level sexual risk and substance use among gay, bisexual, and other men who have sex with men.</u> Int J Env Res & Pub Health 2021; 18: 3183.

- [27] Parent N et al. <u>The sexualised use of cannabis among young sexual minority men: "I'm actually enjoying this for the first time".</u> *Cult Health Sex* 2021; 23(7): 883-898.
- [28] Edmundson et al, *supra*; Tomkins A et al, *supra*; <u>Maxwell et al</u>, *supra*; EMIS Network. <u>EMIS-2017—The European Men-Who-Have-Sex-With-Men Internet Survey. Key Findings from 50 Countries (2019)</u>; Guerras J.-M. et al. Association of Sexualized Drug Use Patterns with HIV/STI Transmission Risk in an Internet Sample of Men Who Have Sex with Men from Seven European Countries. *Archives of Sexual Behavior* 2021; 50(2): 461-477.

#### [29] Maxwell et al, supra.

- [30] Lawn W. et al. <u>Substance-linked sex in heterosexual, homosexual and bisexual men and women: An online, cross-sectional "global drug survey" report.</u> *J Sex Med* 2019; 16: 721-732.
- [31] Amundsen E et al. <u>Chemsex among men who have sex with men: A systematic scoping review of research methods</u>. *J Homosex* 2023; 20: 1-27.
- [32] Lisboa Donosa C & Stuardo Ávila V. Aspects associated with sexualised drug use among gay men and other men who have sex with men: A cross-sectional study from the Latin America MSM Internet Survey 2018-Chile. Sex Health 2020; 17(6): 493-502, 10.1071/sh20089; studies mentioned in: Reyes-Díaz M et al. Latin American Internet Survey for Men who have Sex with Men (LAMIS-2018): Design, methods and implementation PLOS ONE 2022; 17(11): e0277518; APCOM. A qualitative scoping review of sexualized drug use (including Chemsex) of men who have sex with men and transgender women in Asia. APCOM, 2021; Wang H et al. Chemsex and chemsex associated substance use among men who have sex with men in Asia: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Drug and Alcohol Dependence 2023; 243: 109741.
- [33] Knowles Z. "Party and play in Canada: What is its impact on gay men's health." Prevention in Focus, January 17, 2019.
- [34] Brogan N et al. <u>Canadian results from the European Men-who-have-sex-with-men Internet survey (EMIS-2017).</u> Canada Communicable Disease Report 2019; 45(11): 271-282.
- [35] Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction. <u>"Methamphetamine: Canadian Drug Summary"</u>, March 2020. This figure is based on data from: <u>Canadian Tobacco Alcohol and Drugs Survey.</u> 2017 <u>Supplementary Tables</u>. Ottawa: Health Canada, 2018. While the CCSA summary provides some data regarding use based on age, gender, and First Nations status, it makes no mention of GBMSM as a population with a much higher prevalence of use.
- [36] Note that one-quarter of the men who reported engaging in chemsex were living with HIV, three times higher than the HIV prevalence (of 8%) among other men participating in the survey. It should also be noted, however, that of the men living with HIV, 92% were on antiretroviral therapy and virally suppressed, meaning no risk of sexual transmission: Paquette D. "Chemsex Use in Canada: Results from EMIS 2017." CBRC Summit 2018.
- [37] Community-Based Research Centre. Blog post: <u>"Substance Use Among GBT2Q"</u>, 4 August 2022; Lachowsky N. <u>"U=U, PrEP, Substance Use, and HIV Self-Testing: Key Findings from Sex Now 2021,"</u> 14 June 2022.
- [38] Berlin G et al. Effects of discrimination, psychological distress, and coping responses on methamphetamine use among gay, bisexual and other men who have sex with men (GBM) living with HIV and HIV-negative GBM. 31st Annual Canadian Conference on HIV/AIDS Research, 27-29 April 2022, Oral Abstract 122 (see <u>abstract book</u>, p. 85).
- [39] Card KG et al. <u>A latent class analysis of substance use and culture among gay, bisexual and other men who have sex with men.</u> Cult Health Sex 2018; 20(12): 1424-1439

- [40] McGuire M et al. <u>The Crystal Methamphetamine Project: Understanding the needs for culturally-safe supports and services addressing crystal methamphetamine use among gay, bi, and queer men.</u> Canadian Institute for Substance Use Research, 2020.
- [41] Card K et al. Perceived difficulty of getting help to reduce or abstain from substances among sexual and gender minority men who have sex with men (SGMSM) and use methamphetamine during the early period of the COVID-19 pandemic. Substance Abuse Treatment, Prevention, and Policy 2021; 16(1): 88-98.
- [42] Maxwell et al, supra.
- [43] E.g., Dolengevich-Segal H et al. Drug-related and psychopathological symptoms in HIV-positive men who have sex with men who inject drugs during sex (slamsex): Data from the U-SEX GESIDA 9416 Study. *PLOS ONE* 2019; 14(12): e0220272.
- [44] Brogan et al, supra.
- [45] McGuire et al, supra.
- [46] Schreck B et al. Slam practice: a review of the literature. Eur Addict Res 2021; 27(3): 161–78.
- [47] Scheibein F et al. <u>"Slam Sex" sexualized injecting drug use ("SIDU") amongst men who have sex with men (MSM)—a scoping review</u>. *J Homosex* 2021;68(14):2344–58.
- [48] Race K et al. Injecting as a sexual practice: Cultural formations of 'slamsex'. Sexualities 2021 (Jan 17): 1363460720986924.
- [49] Hunter et al. Reducing widespread pipe sharing and risky sex among crystal methamphetamine smokers in Toronto: do safer smoking kits have a potential role to play? Harm Reduct J 2012; 9: 9.
- [50] Schroeder SE et al. "It's not just the hit itself": the social practice of injecting drug use among gay and bisexual men in Australia. Int J Drug Policy 2022; 103: 103642.
- [51] E.g. CATIE. Methamphetamine: An overview of trends in Canada, its role in the drug poisoning crisis and other health issues.

  Prevention in Focus, Fall 2022 (31 August 2022); Buxton J. "Concurrent use and transition to methamphetamine among persons at risk of overdose (Cut Meth OD)" in: Methamphetamine and Related Psychostimulant Use: End-of-Grant Workshop. Canadian Institutes for Health Research, 15 February 2022.
- [52] Brooks O, Bach P, Dong H et al. <u>Crystal methamphetamine use subgroups and associated addiction care access and overdose risk in a Canadian urban setting</u>. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence* 2022; 232: 109274.
- [53] McNeil R et al. <u>Navigating post-eviction drug use amidst a changing drug supply: A spatially-oriented qualitative study of overlapping housing and overdose crises in Vancouver, Canada</u>. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence* 2021; 222: 108666.
- [54] Hunter et al, supra.
- [55] <u>Bourne & Weatherburn</u>, *supra*; Ahmed AK et al. <u>Social norms related to combining drugs and sex ("chemsex") among gay men in South London</u>. *Int J Drug Policy* 2016; 38: 29-35; Flores-Aranda J et al. <u>Trajectoires addictives et vécu homosexuel</u>. *Drogues, Santé et Société* 2018; 17: 28-52; Cheng B et al. <u>Factors Associated with Cessation or Reduction of Methamphetamine Use among Gay, Bisexual, and Other Men Who Have Sex with Men (gbMSM) in Vancouver Canada</u>. *Subst Use Misuse* 2020; 55(10): 1692-1701; Holmes D et al. <u>Wired Sex Assemblages Among Men Who Have Sex with Men: Sexualized Drug Use, Hookup Apps, and HIV Service Provision</u>. *J Homosex* 2023; 70(4): 754-778; <u>Íncera-Fernandez et al</u>, *supra*.

- [56] Meyer IH. Minority stress and mental health in gay men. Journal of Health and Social Behavior 1995; 36(1): 38-56; Meyer IH. Prejudice, social stress, and mental health in lesbian, gay and bisexual populations: Conceptual issues and research evidence. Psychological Bulletin 2003; 129(5): 674-697.
- [57] E.g. Lee JH et al. <u>Discrimination</u>, <u>Mental Health</u>, and <u>Substance Use Disorders Among Sexual Minority Populations</u>. *LGBT Health* 2016; 3: 258–265.
- [58] Race K et al. <u>The future of drugs: recreational drug use and sexual health among gay and other men who have sex with men.</u> *Sex Health* 2017; 14(1): 42-50.
- [59] Schroeder et al, supra.
- [60] Race K et al (2017), supra.
- [61] Ibid.
- [62] Lafortune D et al. <u>Psychological and Interpersonal Factors Associated with Sexualized Drug Use Among Men Who Have Sex with Men: A Mixed-Methods Systematic Review. Arch Sex Behav 2021;</u> 50(2): 427-460
- [63] Gaspar M et al. "Our Mental Health Counts Too: Drinking and Drugs," online at www.Goodhead.ca.
- [64] Lafortune D et al, supra.
- [65] Knowles Z. Party and play in Canada: What is its impact on gay men's health. Prevention in Focus, Spring 2019 (January 17, 2019).
- [66] Íncera-Fernández D et al. <u>Understanding Sexualized Drug Use: Substances, Reasons, Consequences, and Self-Perceptions among Men Who Have Sex with Other Men in Spain.</u> *Int J Envir Res Pub Health* 2023; 20(3): 2751; <u>Lafortune et al</u>, *supra*; Milhet M et al. <u>Chemsex experiences: narratives of pleasure.</u> *Drugs and Alcohol Today* 2019; 19(1): 11-22; Flores-Aranda J et al. <u>Let's talk about chemsex and pleasure: the missing link in chemsex services. *Drugs and Alcohol Today* 2019; 19(1): 189-196.</u>
- [67] Hibbert MP et al. <u>Psychosocial and sexual characteristics associated with sexualised drug use and chemsex among men who have sex with men (MSM) in the UK</u>. *Sexually Transmitted Infections* 2019; 95(5): 342–350.
- [68] <u>A Blueprint Guide to Supporting Black and Latino MSM Who Use Crystal Meth.</u> Harm Reduction Coalition, BEAM (Black Emotional & Mental Health) Collective & Counter Narrative Project, 2018.
- [69] MacFarlane, supra.
- [70] Flores-Aranda J et al, supra.
- [71] <u>Lafortune et al</u>, *supra*; Platteau T et al. <u>The problematic chemsex journey: a resource for prevention and harm reduction.</u> *Drugs and Alcohol Today* 2019; 19(1): 49-54.
- [72] Marziali ME. Loneliness and self-rated physical health among gay, bisexual, and other men who have sex with men in Vancouver, Canada. Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health 2020; 74(7): 553–559.
- [73] Bryant J. The rush to risk when interrogating the relationship between methamphetamine use and sexual practice among gay and bisexual men. Int J Drug Policy 2018; 55: 242-248.

- [74] Evans K. <u>The psychological roots of chemsex and how understanding the full picture can help us create meaningful support.</u> *Drugs and Alcohol Today* 2019; 19: 36-41.
- [75] Hawkins BW et al. <u>Substance use as a mechanism for social inclusion among gay</u>, <u>bisexual</u>, <u>and other men who have sex with men in Vancouver</u>, <u>Canada</u>. <u>Substance Use & Misuse</u> 2019; 54(12): 1945–1955.
- [76] Numer M et al (2023), supra.
- [77] E.g. <u>Flores-Aranda J et al</u>, supra; Numer M et al. <u>Wired Sex: Community Report</u>. Halifax: Sexual Health and Gender Research Lab, Dalhousie University, 2023; Joy P et al. <u>Sexualized Drug Use and Online Technologies: Examining the Negotiations and Practices of Gay, Bisexual and Men Who Have Sex with Men. <u>AWRY: J Crit Psych</u> 2021; 2(1): 27-48.</u>
- [78] Hunter C et al, supra.
- [79] Power J et al. <u>Sex, drugs and social connectedness: wellbeing among HIV-positive gay and bisexual men who use party-and-play drugs</u>. <u>Sexual Health</u> 2018; 15: 135-143, https://doi.org/10.1071/SH17151.
- [80] Bejaimal G. "Exploring Community Satisfaction Among Guys Who Party and Play." CBRC Summit 2020, 6 November 2020, https://youtu.be/xfxh75In\_qQ (at 23:06 29:47).
- [81] McGuire et al, supra.
- [82] Ibid.
- [83] Ibid.
- [84] <u>Stuart</u>, *supra*; Frederick BJ & Perrone D. <u>"'Party N Play' on the Internet: Subcultural formation, Craigslist, and escaping from stigma."</u> Deviant Behavior 2014; 35: 859-884; <u>Strong et al</u>, *supra*; <u>Race</u> (2015), *supra*; Numer M et al. <u>Grinding Against HIV Discourse: A Critical Exploration of Social Sexual Practices in Gay Cruising Apps</u>. *Gender, Technology and Development* 2019; 23(3): 257-276; Numer M et al. <u>Assemblages of excess and pleasures: The sociosexual uses of online and chemical technologies among men who have sex with men. *Nurs Philos* 2022; 23(1): e12370.</u>
- [85] Numer M et al (2019), supra.
- [86] Brennan DJ et al. Online Outreach Services Among Men Who Use the Internet to Seek Sex With Other Men (MISM) in Ontario, Canada: An Online Survey. J Med Internet Res 2015; 17(12): e277.
- [87] Race et al (2017), supra.
- [88] Patten S et al. <u>Sexualized drug use in virtual space: A scoping review of how gay, bisexual and other men who have sex with men interact online</u>. *Canadian Journal of Human Sexuality* 2020; 29(1): 106-126; <u>Holmes et al</u>, *supra*.
- [89] Holmes D et al. <u>Wired Sex Assemblages Among Men Who Have Sex with Men: Sexualized Drug Use, Hookup Apps, and HIV Service Provision.</u> *J Homosex* 2023; 70(4): 754-778.
- [90] Møller K. <u>Hanging, blowing, slamming and playing: Erotic control and overflow in a digital chemsex scene</u>. Sexualities 2020; 1363460720964100.
- [91] Service provider quoted in Holmes et al, supra.

- [92] Matthen and colleagues note that sexual and gender minority youth in rural areas would be among the more isolated populations that could benefit from online access to information, support, and connection to other peers, without having to be publicly identified as 2SLGBTQ+: Matten et al, *supra*.
- [93] Brennan DJ et al. <u>Providing Online-Based Sexual Health Outreach to Gay, Bisexual, and Queer Men in Ontario, Canada: Qualitative Interviews with Multisectoral Frontline Service Providers and Managers.</u> *AIDS Patient Care STDS* 2018; 32(7): 282-287; Gaspar M et al. <u>'I was just doing what a normal gay man would do, right?': The biopolitics of substance use and the mental health of sexual minority men. *Health* 2022; 26(5): 643-662.</u>
- [94] Key informant interview, 15 March 2023.
- [95] Key informant interview, Nick Boyce, Canadian Drug Policy Coalition (Ottawa), 31 March 2023.
- [96] Ibid.
- [97] Brennan et al (2015), supra.
- [98] *Grindr*, "Community Guidelines: Obey the Law." Specifically in relation to drugs, the Guidelines state: "Illegal content and depictions of illegal activity will be taken down and, when appropriate, reported to the appropriate authorities." It is worth noting that no such threat is made in relation to hate speech on the *Grindr* platform. See similar prohibitions, including on the use of specific words (e.g. "party" or "partying") in the guidelines of other popular hook-up apps such as *Scruff* ("Profile Guidelines"), *Jack'd*, an app popular particularly among men of colour and operated by the same company as *Scruff*, with identical prohibitions ("Profile Guidelines"), and *GROWLR* ("Guidelines").
- [99] User communications with Squirt.org Customer Support, August 14-29, 2022, on file.
- [100] Patten S et al, supra; Holmes et al, supra.
- [101] Holmes et al, supra.
- [102] See also: Numer M. "Service Provider Perspectives on Sexualized Drug Use Among GBMSM." CBRC Summit 2019, November 1, 2010.
- [103] Key informant interview, Mathieu Mailhot-Gagnon, 27 March 2023.
- [104] Key informant interview, 15 March 2023.
- [105] Key informant interview, Colin Johnson, Toronto Harm Reduction Alliance, 14 March 2023.
- [106] See the discussion, and studies cited, in Kidd et al, *supra*.
- [107] World Health Organization. <u>Consolidated guidelines on HIV, viral hepatitis and STI prevention, diagnosis, treatment and care for key populations.</u> Geneva: WHO, 2022.
- [108] Reback CJ et al. <u>Text Messaging Reduces HIV Risk Behaviors among Methamphetamine-using Men Who Have Sex with Men</u>. AIDS Behav 2012; 16(7): 1993-2002; Reback CJ et al. <u>Theory-Based Text-Messaging to Reduce Methamphetamine Use and HIV Sexual Risk Behaviors Among Men Who Have Sex with Men: Automated Unidirectional Delivery Outperforms Bidirectional Peer Interactive Delivery. AIDS Behav 2019; 23(1): 37-47.</u>

[109] Schwinn TM et al. <u>Preventing drug use among sexual-minority youths: findings from a tailored, web-based intervention</u>. J Adolesc Health 2015; 56(5): 571-3.

[110] Fletcher JB, Reback CJ. <u>Optimizing outpatient treatment outcomes among methamphetamine-using gay and bisexual menthrough a computerized depression intervention</u>. *J Subst Abuse Treat* 2022; 136:108663.

[111] Platteau T et al. <u>Digital chemsex support and care: The potential of just-in-time adaptive interventions</u>. *Int J Drug Policy* 2020; 85: 102927.

[112] Card KG et al. Exploring the role of sex-seeking apps and websites in the social and sexual lives of gay, bisexual and other men who have sex with men: a cross-sectional study. Sex Health 2017; 14(3): 229-237; Card KG et al. Patterns of Online and Offline Connectedness Among Gay, Bisexual, and Other Men Who Have Sex with Men. AIDS Behav 2018; 22(7): 2147-2160.

[113] <u>Strong et al</u>, *supra*.; <u>Hibbert</u>, *supra*.; Moradi S et al. <u>The association between methamphetamine use and number of sexual partners in men who have sex with men: a systematic review and meta-analysis.</u> *Substance Abuse Treatment, Prevention and Policy* 2022; 17(27): 1-11. For more detail regarding these and additional studies, see the accompanying background document.

[114] Zeggagh I & Siguier M. Complications infectieuses de la pratique du Chemsex. Médecine et maladies infectieuses formation 2022; 1(4): 166-171; Martínez-Rebollar M et al. Impact of Sexualized Substance Use and Other Risk Practices on HCV Microelimination in gbMSM Living with HIV: Urgent Need for Targeted Strategies. Results of a Retrospective Cohort Study. Infect Dis Ther 2021;10(3):1253-1266 Jin F et al. Prevalence and incidence of hepatitis C virus infection in men who have sex with men: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Gastr & Hep 2021; 6(1): 39–56, https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-1253(20)30303-4; Lockart I et al. Sexually transmitted hepatitis C infection: the evolving epidemic in HIV-positive and HIV-negative MSM. Current Opinion in Infectious Diseases 2019; 32(1): 31-37.

[115] Strong C et al, supra.

[116] E.g. see: <u>Population-Specific HIV/AIDS Status Report: Gay, Bisexual, Two-Spirit and Other Men Who Have Sex With Men</u>. Ottawa: Public Health Agency of Canada, 2013; Flores Anato JL et al. <u>Chemsex and incidence of sexually transmitted infections among Canadian preexposure prophylaxis (PrEP) users in the l'Actuel PrEP Cohort (2013-2020)</u>. Sex Transm Infect 2022; 98: 549-556.

[117] Grewal R et al. Serosorting and recreational drug use are risk factors for diagnosis of genital infection with chlamydia and gonorrhoea among HIV-positive men who have sex with men: results from a clinical cohort in Ontario, Canada. Sex Transm Infect 2017;93:71–75; Colyer SP et al. Crystal Methamphetamine Use and Initiation among Gay, Bisexual, and Other Men Who Have Sex with Men Living with HIV in a Treatment as Prevention Environment. Subst Use Misuse 2020;55(14):2428-2437; Aguilera-Mijares S et al. Variations in Sexual Behaviors by Use of Specific Substances Among Vancouver Gay, Bisexual, and Other Men Who Have Sex with Men: An Event-Level Analysis. Arch Sex Behav 2021; 50(7): 2875-2886.

[118] Blais M et al. Consommation de substances en contexte sexuel chez des hommes gbHSH de Montreal: 2009-2016. Drogues, santé et société 2018; 17(2): 76-94; Card KG et al. The additive effects of depressive symptoms and polysubstance use on HIV risk among gay, bisexual, and other men who have sex with men. Addict Behav 2018; 82: 158-165; Colyer et al. supra; Sang JM et al. Longitudinal Event-Level Sexual Risk and Substance Use among Gay, Bisexual, and Other Men Who Have Sex with Men. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 2021; 18: 3183.

[119] Card K et al. Perceived difficulty of getting help to reduce or abstain from substances among sexual and gender minority men who have sex with men (SGMSM) and use methamphetamine during the early period of the COVID-19 pandemic. Substance Abuse Treatment, Prevention, and Policy 2021; 16(1): 88-98.

[120] Pantalone DW et al. <u>A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Combination Behavioral Interventions Co-Targeting Psychosocial Syndemics and HIV-Related Health Behaviors for Sexual Minority Men</u>. Journal of Sex Research 2020; 57(6): 681-708.

- [121] Hart TA et al. <u>Crystal methamphetamine use and bacterial sexually transmitted infections (STIs) among gay, bisexual and other sexual minority men in Canada.</u> *Drug and Alcohol Dependence* 2023; 242: 109718.
- [122] Seal KH et al. <u>Predictors and prevention of nonfatal overdose among street-recruited injection heroin users in the San Francisco Bay Area, 1998-1999</u>. *Am J Public Health* 2001; 91(11): 1842–1846; O'Driscoll PT et al. <u>Predictors of accidental fatal drug overdose among a cohort of injection drug users</u>. *Am J Public Health* 2001; 91(6): 984-987.
- [123] Moazen-Zadeh E et al. A call for action on overdose among LGBTQ people in North America. Lancet Psychiatry 2019; 6(9): 725-726.
- [124] BC Centre on Substance Use. Stimulant Use Disorder: Practice Update. Vancouver: BCCSU, June 2022.
- [125] <u>Methamphetamine and Related Psychostimulant Use: End-of-Grant Workshop What We Heard Report</u>. Ottawa: Canadian Institutes of Health Research, 15 February 2022.
- [126] Íncera-Fernández D et al. <u>Understanding Sexualized Drug Use: Substances, Reasons, Consequences, and Self-Perceptions among Men Who Have Sex with Other Men in Spain.</u> *Int J Envir Res Pub Health* 2023; 20(3): 2751; Dijkstra BAG et al. <u>Unity in diversity: A systematic review on the GHB using population</u>. *Int J Drug Policy* 2021; 94: 103230; Drevin G et al. <u>Chemsex/slamsex-related intoxications: A case report involving gamma-hydroxybutyrate (GHB) and 3-methylmethcathinone (3-MMC) and a review of the literature</u>. *Forensic Sci Int* 2021; 321: 110743. See background document for additional studies.
- [127] Goodyear T et al. "Am I gonna get in trouble for acknowledging my will to be safe?": Identifying the experiences of young sexual minority men and substance use in the context of an opioid overdose crisis. Harm Reduction Journal 2020; 17(23): 1-14.
- [128] McLeod A et al. <u>MB 2SGBQ+ Men's Health Study Community Report: Needs, Service Gaps and Recommendations</u>. Winnipeg, MB. University of Manitoba, 2021.
- [129] Brooks O et al. <u>Crystal methamphetamine use subgroups and associated addiction care access and overdose risk in a Canadian urban setting</u>. *Drug Alcohol Depend* 2022; 232: 109274.
- [130] Jones et al. Methamphetamine use in the United States: epidemiological update and implications for prevention, treatment, and harm reduction. Ann NY Acad Sci 2022; 1508(1): 3-22.
- [131] Mansoor M et al. <u>Characterizing stimulant overdose: A qualitative study on perceptions and experiences of "overamping"</u>. *Int J Drug Policy* 2022;102:103592.
- [132] CATIE. "Methamphetamine: An overview of trends in Canada, its role in the drug poisoning crisis and other health issues." Prevention in Focus, Fall 2022 (31 August 2022).
- [133] Crispo JAG et al. <u>Amphetamine-Related Emergency Department Visits in Ontario, Canada, 2003-2020</u>. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry* 2023 (online Mar 8).
- [134] Government of Canada. Opioid- and stimulant-related harms in Canada (March 2023).
- [135] Mansoor et al, supra; Harding RW et al. <u>"It's called overamping"</u>: <u>experiences of overdose among people who use methamphetamine</u>. Harm Reduction Journal 2022; 19: 4.

[136] E.g. <u>Lachowsky</u> et al, *supra*; CBRC. <u>Addressing Mental Health Issues & Problematic Substance Use Among GBMSM in BC</u>. Vancouver: CBRC, 2019; Fletcher JB et al. <u>Mental Health and Substance Use Disorder Comorbidity among Methamphetamine-Using Men Who have Sex with Men</u>. *J Psychoactive Drugs* 2018; 50(3): 206-213.

[137] <u>Brogan et al</u>, supra; <u>Fletcher et al</u>, supra (2018).

[138] Lappin JM, Sara G. Psychostimulant use and the brain. Addiction 2019; 114(11):2065-2077.

[139] Lecomte T et al. <u>The prevalence of substance-induced psychotic disorder in methamphetamine misusers: A meta-analysis.</u>
Psychiatry Res 2018; 268:189-192; Arunogiri S et al. <u>A systematic review of risk factors for methamphetamine-associated psychosis.</u> Aust NZ J Psychiatry. 2018; 52(6): 514-529.

[140] McKetin R et al. <u>Mental health outcomes associated with of the use of amphetamines: A systematic review and meta-analysis.</u> *EClinicalMedicine* 2019; S2589537019301774.

[141] Voce A et al. A Systematic Review of the Symptom Profile and Course of Methamphetamine-Associated Psychosis. Substance Use & Misuse 2019; 54(4): 549-559. Note that the term "psychosis" is used in such studies to encompass a far wider range of — and in some cases much less serious — psychoactive effects than the term would likely connote to most people, including, e.g. disorganized symptoms (such as "conceptual disorganization," hyperactivity, "inappropriate affect," disorganized speech, disorganized behaviour), affective symptoms (e.g. hostility, anxiety), and "negative symptoms" (e.g. "flat affect" and "reduced movement"). Also note that, as the authors of this review point out, many of the reviewed studies did not adjust for factors known to influence the severity of psychotic symptoms, and a majority recruited from inpatient settings (i.e. hospitals or psychiatric units), meaning they likely missed methamphetamine users with milder or more transient symptoms.

[142] Íncera-Fernández D et al. Mental Health Symptoms Associated with Sexualized Drug Use (Chemsex) among Men Who Have Sex with Men: A Systematic Review. Int J Env Res Pub Health 2021; 18(24):13299.

[143] Again, note that the term "psychosis" is used broadly here to refer "to a range of conditions that affect the mind, in which there has been some loss of touch with reality, including hallucinations, delusions, and thought disorganization"; the researchers also included "psychotic symptoms without meeting diagnostic criteria for a mental disorder."

[144] Moreno-Gámez L et al. G. Chemsex and Psychosis: A Systematic Review. Behav Sci (Basel) 2022; 12(12): 516.

[145] For a review of such harms in 2019, see Farrell M et al, supra.

[146] Kevil CG et al. Methamphetamine use and cardiovascular disease. Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis & Vasculary Biology 2019; 39(9): 1739-1746; Lin AL et al. Cannabis, cocaine, methamphetamine, and opiates increase the risk of incident atrial fibrillation. Eur Heart J 2022; 43(47): 4933-4942; Somma V et al. Methamphetamine-associated cardiomyopathy: an addiction medicine perspective. Intern Med J 2023;53(1):21-26; Manja V et al. Methamphetamine-associated heart failure: a systematic review of observational studies. Heart 2023; 109(3): 168-177.

[147] "Methamphetamine, the Respiratory System and COVID-19." Ottawa: Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction, 2020.

[148] Lawson KS et al. Methamphetamine enhances HIV-1 replication in CD4+ T-cells via a novel IL-1 $\beta$  auto-regulatory loop. Frontiers in Immunology 2020; 11: 136; Liang H et al. Methamphetamine enhances HIV infection of macrophages. American Journal of Pathology 2008; 172(6): 1617-1624.

[149] Davidson M et al. Methamphetamine induces systemic inflammation and anxiety: the role of the gut-immune-brain axis. Int J Mol Sci 2022; 23(19): 11224.

[150] Cook RR. <u>Alterations to the Gastrointestinal Microbiome Associated with Methamphetamine Use among Young Men who have Sex with Men</u>. *Sci Rep* 2019; 9(1):14840; Prakash M et al. <u>Methamphetamine: Effects on the brain, gut and immune system.</u> *Pharmacological Research* 2017; 120: 60-67.

[151] <u>Lappin & Sara</u>, *supra*; Jayanthi S et al. Neurotoxicity of methamphetamine: Main effects and mechanisms. *Experimental Neurology* 2021; 344: 113795.

152] Hart CL et al. <u>Is cognitive functioning impaired in methamphetamine users? A critical review.</u> *Neuropsychopharmacology* 2012; 37: 586-608.

[153] Nassar P, Ouanounou A. Cocaine and methamphetamine: Pharmacology and dental implications. Can J Dent Hyg 2020; 54(2):75-82.

[154] Hart CL et al, supra.

[155] ACT. "HIV and partying," <a href="http://torontovibe.com/hiv-and-partying/">http://torontovibe.com/hiv-and-partying/</a>.

[156] Wilkerson JM et al. <u>Sexual Violence and Chemsex among Substance-Using Sexual and Gender Minorities in Texas.</u> Subst Use Misuse 2021; 56(14): 2141-2150.

[157] <u>Controlled Drugs and Substances Act</u>, SC 1996, s. 4 (possession) and s. 5 (trafficking and possession for the purpose of trafficking). Recent amendments repealed all mandatory minimum sentences of imprisonment for drug offences, and introduced principles aimed at encouraging police officers to consider alternatives to laying charges in cases of simple possession: *An Act to amend the Criminal Code and the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act*, SC 2022, c. 15. In addition, guidance to federal prosecutors issued in 2020 directs them to consider alternatives to prosecution for possession except in the "most serious" cases (and provides guidance as to what those circumstances are): "<u>Prosecution of Possession of Controlled Substances Contrary to s. 4(1) of the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act</u>," Guideline of the Director Issued under Section 3(3)(c) of the Director of Public Prosecutions Act, *Public Prosecution Service of Canada Deskbook*, August 17, 2020.

[158] Jesseman R, Payer D. <u>Decriminalization: Options and Evidence</u>. Ottawa: Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction, 2018; <u>The War on Drugs: Threatening public health, spreading disease and death.</u> London: Transform Drug Policy Foundation, 2015.

[159] Moreno-Gámez et al, supra, and studies cited therein.

[160] Amundsen E et al. <u>Chemsex among men who have sex with men: A systematic scoping review of research methods</u>. *J Homosex* 2023; 20: 1-27.

[161] Schwartz C et al. <u>Queering poppers literature</u>: A critical interpretative synthesis of health sciences research on alkyl nitrite use and <u>Canadian policy</u>. *Int J Drug Policy* 2022; 101: 103546.

[162] Schroeder SE et al. Constructing a 'target population': A critical analysis of public health discourse on substance use among gay and bisexual men, 2000–2020. Int J Drug Policy 2022; 108(1): 103808.

[163] Key informant interview, 15 March 2023.

[164] Bryant et al, supra.

[165] <u>Bryant et al</u>, supra, with reference to: Dowsett GW et al. <u>"Good gay men don't get "messy": injecting drug use and gay community.</u> Sexuality Res Soc Policy 2005; 2(1): 22. [166] Race K. <u>'Party and Play': Online hook-up devices and the emergence of PNP practices among gay men.</u> Sexualities 2015; 18(3): 253–275.

[167] Ismail Y et al. Empowering the search for pleasure, health and well-being outside heteronormative definitions: The role of evaluation in shaping structurally sensitive programming for 2SGBTQ+ men who Party and Play in Ontario.

New Directions for Evaluation 2022; 175: 87-107.

[168] *Ibid* (at pp. 93-94).

[169] Bourne A & Weatherburn P. <u>Substance use among men who have sex with men: patterns, motivations, impacts and intervention development need.</u> Sexually Transmitted Infections 2017; 93(4): 342-346 (and studies cited therein); <u>Paquette</u>, supra; Berlin et al, supra.

[170] See the various studies cited in the following reviews: <u>Rapid Response Service. The effect of non-injection drug use on sexual risk behaviours and ART adherence among men who have sex with men.</u> Toronto: Ontario HIV Treatment Network, September 2017; <u>Maxwell et al</u>, supra; Perera S et al. <u>Chemsex and antiretroviral therapy non-adherence in HIV-positive men who have sex with men: a systematic review.</u> Sexually Transmitted Infections 2017; 93(Suppl 1): A81-A81; <u>Strong et al</u>, supra; and see: Przybyla S et al. <u>Substance Use and Adherence to Antiretroviral Therapy among People Living with HIV in the United States</u>. *Trop Med Infect Dis* 2022; 7(11): 349.

[171] Chand S et al. Methamphetamine Induces the Release of Proadhesive Extracellular Vesicles and Promotes Syncytia Formation: A Potential Role in HIV-1 Neuropathogenesis. Viruses 2022; 7;14(3):550.

[172] Strong et al, supra.

[173] Brogan et al, *supra*; Hammoud MA. <u>The new MTV generation</u>: <u>Using methamphetamine</u>, <u>Truvada™</u>, <u>and Viagra™</u> to enhance sex and <u>stay safe</u>. *Int J Drug Policy* 2018; 55: 197–204; De La Mora L et al. <u>Chemsex Practices in PrEP</u>: <u>Beyond Addiction and Risk Toward a Healthy</u> <u>Sex Life—Baseline Experiences from a Hospital-Based PrEP Program in Barcelona, Spain. *AIDS Behav* 2022; 26: 4055–4062.</u>

[174] Roux P et al. <u>Is on-demand HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis a suitable tool for men who have sex with men who practice chemsex?</u>
Results from a sub-study of the ANRS-IPERGAY trial. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* 2018; 79: e69; O'Halloran C et al. <u>Chemsex is not a barrier to self-reported daily PrEP adherence among PROUD study participants.</u> *Int J Drug Policy* 2019; 74: 246–254; Maxwell S et al. <u>Pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) uptake and adherence experiences of gay and bisexual men who engage in chemsex: A qualitative study. *Int J Drug Policy* 2022; 103: 103630; Shuper PA et al. <u>Perceived influence of alcohol consumption, substance use, and mental health on PrEP adherence and condom use among PrEP-prescribed gay, bisexual, and other men-who-have-sex-with-men: a qualitative investigation. *BMC Public Health* 2022; 22(1): 1875; Flores Anato JL et al. <u>Chemsex practices and pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) trajectories among individuals consulting for PrEP at a large sexual health clinic in Montréal, Canada (2013-2020). *Drug Alcohol Depend* 2021; 226: 108875.</u></u></u>

[175] See the discussion in: Roth EA et al. <u>Substance Use Patterns of Gay and Bisexual Men in the Momentum Health Study.</u> *Am J Mens Health* 2018; 12(5): 1759-1773. See also: Schuler MS et al. <u>Sexual minority disparities in opioid misuse</u>, <u>perceived heroin risk and heroin access among a national sample of US adults.</u> *Drug and Alcohol Dependence* 2019; 201: 78-84; Scheim A et al. <u>Characterizing men who have sex with men and use injection drugs in Vancouver</u>, <u>Canada.</u> *AIDS Behav* 2019; 23(12): 3324-3330 (and see studies cited therein).

176] Paschen-Wolff MM et al. <u>The State of the Research on Opioid Outcomes Among Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, Queer, and Other Sexuality- and Gender-Diverse Populations: A Scoping Review.</u> LGBTQ+ Health 2023; 10(1):1-17.

[177] Connolly D, Gilchrist G. <u>Prevalence and correlates of substance use among transgender adults: a systematic review.</u> Addictive Behav 2020; 111: 106544. See also an earlier systematic review: Reisner SL. <u>Global health burden and needs of transgender populations:</u> a review. Lancet 2016; 388: 412-436.

[178] Paschen-Wolff et al, supra.

[[179] Hughto JM et al. <u>Prevalence and co-occurrence of alcohol, nicotine, and other substance use disorder diagnoses among US transgender and cisgender adults</u>. *JAMA Network Open* 2021; 4(2): e2036512.

[180] *Ibid.*, Hsiang E et al. <u>Prevalence and correlates of substance use and associations with HIV-related outcomes among trans women in the San Francisco Bay Area</u>. *BMC Infect Dis* 2022 Nov 26;22(1):886.

[181] Ruppert R et al. Review: Prevalence of Addictions among Transgender and Gender Diverse Subgroups. Int J Env Res Public Health 2021; 18(16): 8843.

[182] Ferlatte O et al. <u>Identifying Health Differences Between Transgender and Cisgender Gay</u>, <u>Bisexual and Other Men Who Have Sex With Men Using a Community-Based Approach</u>. *J Sex Res* 2020; 57(8): 1005-1013; Rutherford L et al. <u>Health and well-being of trans and non-binary participants in a community-based survey of gay</u>, <u>bisexual</u>, <u>and queer men</u>, <u>and non-binary and Two-Spirit people across Canada</u>. *PLOS One* 2021; 16(2): e0245625; CBRC, Blog post: <u>"Substance Use Among GBT2Q"</u>, 4 August 2022.

[183] Ruppert et al, supra.

[184] Scheim AI et al. <u>HIV-Related Sexual Risk Among Transgender Men Who Are Gay, Bisexual, or Have Sex With Men</u>. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* 2017; 74(4): 89-96.

[185] Taylor AB et al. <u>Being Safe, Being Me 2019: Results of the Canadian Trans and Non-binary Youth Health Survey. Vancouver, Canada: Stigma and Resilience Among Vulnerable Youth Centre, Vancouver: University of British Columbia, 2020.</u>

[186] Key informant interview, Jess Murray, Queer and Trans Health Collective (Edmonton), 23 March 2023.

[187] Laing M. <u>Two-Spirit and LGBTQ Indigenous Health</u>. Toronto: Rainbow Health Ontario, July 2016; Hackett L et al. <u>A rapid review of Indigenous boys' and men's sexual health in Canada</u>. <u>Cultural, Health & Sexuality</u> 2020; 23(5): 705-721. Hackett et al note that the phrase "boys and men" includes all those who identified as men, boys, two-spirit males or non-binary persons, regardless of sexual orientation or gender assigned at birth.

[188] Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada. <u>Canada's Residential Schools: The Legacy (Volume 5)</u>. Winnipeg: TRCC, 2015; see also "Health: Call to Action #18" in <u>Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada: Calls to Action</u>. Winnipeg: TRCC, 2015; <u>Reclaiming Power and Place: The Final Report of the National Inquiry into Missing and Murdered Indigenous Women and Girls, Volume 1a</u>. 2019. See also: Gone JP et al. <u>The impact of historical trauma on health outcomes for Indigenous populations in the USA and Canada: A systematic review.</u> <u>American Psychologist 2019</u>; 74(1): 20-35.

[189] Boyd S et al. More Harm Than Good: Drug Policy in Canada. Black Point, NS: Fernwood Publishing, 2016.

[190] Marshall S. <u>Canadian Drug Policy and the Reproduction of Indigenous Inequities</u>. International Indigenous Policy Journal 2015; 6(1).

[191] Public Safety Canada. <u>2021 Corrections and Conditional Release Statistical Overview</u>. Ottawa: PSC, 2023; Singh D et al. <u>Overincarceration of Indigenous people: a health crisis</u>. CMAJ 2019; 191:E487-8.

[192] Hunt, supra.

[193] <u>Policy Brief: Indigenous Harm Reduction = Reducing the Harms of Colonialism</u>. Canadian Aboriginal AIDS Network & Interagency Coalition on AIDS and Development, 2019.

[194] Lavalley J et al. "I Used to be Scared to Even Like Stand Beside Somebody Who Had It": HIV Risk Behaviours and Perceptions among Indigenous People Who Use Drugs. International Indigenous Policy Journal 2021; 12(3); Hackett et al, supra.

[195] Anderson M & Champagne M. <u>Opinion: Crystal meth is a colonial crisis and its root causes must be addressed.</u> *CBC News*, 29 April 2018.

[196] 2SLGBTQQIA+ Sub-Working Group. MMIWGSLGBTQQIA+ National Action Plan Final Report. April 2021; Hunt, supra; Hunt S. An Introduction to Health of Two-Spirit People: Historical, contemporary and emergent issues. Prince George, BC: National Collaborating Centre for Aboriginal Health, 2016; Hackett et al, supra; Biderman M et al. Pathways for sexual health promotion among Indigenous boys and men: stakeholder perspectives. AlterNative: An International Journal of Indigenous Peoples 2021; 17(3): 387-396; Evans-Campbell T et al. Indian boarding school experience, substance use, and mental health among urban Two-Spirit American Indian/Alaska Natives. American Journal of Drug and Alcohol Abuse 2012; 38(5): 421-7.

[197] Hunt, supra; Hackett et al, supra.

[198] Taylor C. Health and safety issues for Aboriginal transgender/Two Spirit people in Manitoba. Canadian Journal of Aboriginal Community-Based Research 2009; 2: 63-84; Ristock J et al. Aboriginal two-spirit and LGBTQ migration, mobility and health: Vancouver Final Report, September 2011 (with reference to: Teengs-O'Brien D, Travers R. River of life, rapids of change: Understanding HIV vulnerability among Two-Spirit youth who migrate to Toronto. Canadian Journal of Aboriginal Community-Based HIV/AIDS Research 2006; 1: 17-28). See also: Ristock J et al. Aboriginal Two-Spirit and LGBTQ Migration, Mobility and Health Research Project: Winnipeg Final Report,

November 2010; Ristock J et al. Migration, Mobility and the Health and Well-Being of Aboriginal Two-Spirit/LGBTQ People: Findings from a Winnipeg Project. Journal of Indigenous HIV Research 2011; 4: 5-30; Scheim AI et al. Barriers to well-being for Aboriginal gender-diverse people: Results from the Trans PULSE project in Ontario, Canada. Ethnicity and Inequalities in Health and Social Care 2013; 6(4): 108-120.

[199] Brennan DJ et al. Resilience among two-spirit males who have been living with HIV long-term: Findings from a scoping review. Journal of Indigenous HIV Research 2021; 12: 5-28.

[200] Haddad N et al. <u>HIV in Canada—Surveillance Report, 2019</u>. *Canada Communicable Disease Report* 2021; 47(1): 77-86; Haddad N et al. <u>HIV in Canada—Surveillance Report, 2017</u>. *Canada Communicable Disease Report* 2018; 44(12): 324-32.

[201] Tarasuk J et al. Findings among Indigenous participants of the Tracks survey of people who inject drugs in Canada, Phase 4, 2017–2019. Canada Communicable Disease Report 2021;47(1):37–46.

[202] <u>Methamphetamine and Related Psychostimulant Use: End-of-Grant Workshop – What We Heard Report</u>. Ottawa: Canadian Institutes of Health Research, 15 February 2022.

[203] Goodman A et al. <u>"They treated me like crap and I know it was because I was Native"</u>: The healthcare experiences of Aboriginal Peoples living in Vancouver's inner city. Social Science & Medicine 2017; 178: 87–94.

[204] Zoccole A et al. <u>Addressing Homophobia in Relation to HIV/AIDS in Aboriginal Communities: Final Report of the Environmental Scan</u> <u>2004-05</u>. Ottawa: Canadian Aboriginal AIDS Network, 2005.

[205] See, e.g., Logie CH et al. "Automatic assumption of your gender, sexuality and sexual practices is also discrimination": Exploring sexual healthcare experiences and recommendations among sexually and gender diverse persons in Arctic Canada. Health Soc Care Community 2019; 27(5): 1204-1213.

[206] <u>Brennan et al</u> (2021), supra; Ristock et al, <u>Vancouver Final Report</u>, supra; Ristock et al, <u>Winnipeg Final Report</u>, supra; 1: 17-28). See also: Ristock, J et al. <u>Aboriginal Two-Spirit and LGBTQ Migration</u>, <u>Mobility and Health Research Project: Winnipeg Final Report</u>, November 2010; Ristock et al, <u>Journal of Indigenous HIV Research</u> 2011, supra.

- [207] Laing, supra.
- [208] Merasty, supra.
- [209] Brennan et al, (2021) supra.
- [210] E.g. see: Dell CA et al. <u>The Role of 'Kijigabandan' and 'Manadjitowin' in Understanding Harm Reduction Policies and Programs for Aboriginal Peoples</u>. *Native Social Work Journal* 2010; 7: 109-137; <u>CAAN & ICAD</u>, *supra*; Native Youth Sexual Health Network. <u>Indigenizing Harm Reduction</u>. 2015; Canadian Aboriginal AIDS Network. <u>Harm Reduction Implementation Guide</u>. n.d.; Lezard P. "Harm Reduction" (PowerPoint toolkit). Ontario Federation of Indian Friendship Centres, 2021.
- [211] HIV Legal Network & CAAN. Policy brief on HIV, hepatitis C and STBBIs among Indigenous people. Toronto, 2023.
- [212] Hunt, supra (p. 23).
- [213] Jackson R et al. "Our gifts are the same": Resilient journeys of long-term HIV-positive two-spirit men in Ontario, Canada. Journal of Indigenous HIV Research 2021; 12: 46-64; CAAN & ICAD, supra.
- [214] George J et al. <u>The rationale for development a programme of services by and for Indigenous men in a First Nations community</u>. *AlterNative: An International Journal of Indigenous Peoples* 2019; 15(2): 158-167; <u>Honouring Our Strengths: A Renewed Framework to Address Substance Use Issues Among First Nations People in Canada</u>. Assembly of First Nations, Thunderbird Partnership Foundation & Indigenous Services Canada, 2011.
- [215] <u>Brennan et al</u> (2021), supra.
- [216] <u>2-Spirited People of the 1st Nations</u>, *supra*.
- [217] <u>Honouring Our Strengths</u>, supra.
- [218] Hunt, supra (pp. 12, 25).
- [219] Hart T et al. "Research on HIV Sexual Risk Behaviour Among MSM from Ethnoracial Communities," in: Ontario Gay Men's HIV Prevention Strategy: Gay, Bi, MSM Situation Report. Toronto: AIDS Bureau, Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care, November 2006 (pp. 49-86).
- [220] Canadian HIV/AIDS Black, African and Caribbean Network. <u>"Fact Sheet: HIV Stigma in African, Caribbean and Black Communities,"</u> undated.
- [221] Harawa NT. <u>Sexual behavior, sexual identity, and substance abuse among low-income bisexual and non-gay-identifying African American men who have sex with men</u>. Arch Sex Behav 2008; 37(5): 748-62; Flores R et al. "I feel like marijuana is the only drug that wouldn't kill me": perceptions of cannabis use in previously incarcerated Black men who have sex with other men. Harm Reduction Journal 2023; 20: 13.
- [222] Ibid. See also: Owusu-Bempah A. Race and policing in historical context: Dehumanization and the policing of Black people in the 21st century. Theor Criminol 2017; 21(1): 23–34; Feelemyer J et al. Longitudinal associations between the disruption of incarceration and community re-entry on substance use risk escalation among Black men who have sex with men: a causal analysis. Drug and Alcohol Dependence 2022; 213: 108123.

- [223] Anderson-Carpenter et al, supra and previous studies cited therein.
- [224] Jordan A et al. <u>Racial and ethnic differences in alcohol, cannabis, and illicit substance use treatment: a systematic review and narrative synthesis of studies done in the USA</u>. *Lancet Psychiatry* 2022; 9(8): 660-675.
- [225] Black Gay Men's Network of Ontario. "Substance use." Online: <a href="https://bgmn.ca/about/substance-use/">https://bgmn.ca/about/substance-use/</a>. Similar points are echoed in the recent joint work of harm reduction and Black organizations in the US: <a href="https://bgmn.ca/about/substance-use/">A Blueprint Guide to Supporting Black and Latino MSM Who Use</a> <a href="https://bgmn.ca/about/substance-use/">Crystal Meth</a>. Harm Reduction Coalition, BEAM Collective & Counter Narrative Project, 2018.
- [226] Fletcher JB & Reback CJ. <u>Mental health disorders among homeless</u>, <u>substance-dependent men who have sex with men.</u> *Drug Alcohol Rev* 2017; 36(4): 555-559.
- [227] Szeto L. Panel presentation: "Mental Health and Substance Use Services for LGBT+ People who are Deaf: Recommendations and Resources," CBRC Summit 2019, 1 November 2019.
- [228] In a recent review of studies examining how GBMSM use social networking sites and apps to facilitate sexualized drug use with partners, one identifiable gap is the lack of focus on older GBMSM: "While a few studies collected data from a wide variety of ages, the majority... focused on younger or middle-aged adults, with not a single article having older adults as their primary focus": Patten et al, supra. There is a need for more and better data regarding particular factors affecting substance use among older GBMSM and how best to support them with interventions for preventing, treating, and reducing the harms of problematic substance use.
- [229] E.g. Marshal MP et al. Sexual orientation and adolescent substance use: a meta-analysis and methodological review. Addiction 2008;103(4): 546–56; Rosario M et al. Sexual-orientation disparities in substance use in emerging adults: a function of stress and attachment paradigms. Psychol Addict Behav 2014; 28(3): 790-804; Konishi C et al. Population-level evaluation of school-based interventions to prevent problem substance use among gay, lesbian and bisexual adolescents in Canada. Prevention Medicine 2013; 57(6): 929-933; and see also the Canadian data summarized in: Robinson, supra; Kidd SA et al. The 2015 national Canadian homeless youth survey: mental health and addiction findings. Canadian Journal of Psychiatry 2017; 62(7): 493-500
- [230] Watson RJ et al. <u>Associations Between Community-Level LGBTQ-Supportive Factors and Substance Use Among Sexual Minority Adolescents</u>. *LGBT Health* 2020; 7(2): 1-8.
- [231] Goodyear T et al, supra.
- [232] Belak B et al. Position Paper: Sex Work Law Reform: Implications for Male Sex Workers in Vancouver and Beyond. Vancouver: Health Initiative for Men, 2013, <a href="https://checkhimout.ca/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/HIM-Position-Paper-Sex-Work-Law-Reform-2.pdf">https://checkhimout.ca/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/HIM-Position-Paper-Sex-Work-Law-Reform-2.pdf</a>.
- [233] Matthen P et al. "I walked into the industry for survival and came out of a closet:" How gender and sexual identities shape sex work experiences among men, two-spirit and trans people in Vancouver. Men and Masculinities 2018; 21(4): 479-500. They also note that, for some, sex work has been a means of expressing and exploring stigmatized aspects of their identities, contrary to the assumption, embedded in current Canadian law, that sex work is inherently oppressive and exploitative.
- [234] <u>Taylor et al</u>, supra.; Armstrong HL et al. <u>Factors associated with transactional sex among a cohort of gay, bisexual, and other men who have sex with men in Vancouver, Canada</u>. Sexual Health 2021; 18(6): 487-497.
- [235] Colyer SP et al. <u>HIV treatment optimism and crystal methamphetamine use and initiation among HIV-negative men who have sex with men in Vancouver, Canada: A longitudinal analysis</u>. Drug Alcohol Depend 2018;185:67-74.

[236] Baral SD et al. Male sex workers: practices, contexts, and vulnerabilities for HIV acquisition and transmission. Lancet 2015; 385: 260-73; Berg RC et al. Links between transactional sex and HIV/STI-risk and substance use among a large sample of European men who have sex with men. BMC Infect Dis 2019; 19(1): 686; Drückler S et al. Substance Use and Sexual Risk Behavior Among Male and Transgender Women Sex Workers at the Prostitution Outreach Center in Amsterdam, the Netherlands. Sex Transm Dis 2020; 47(2): 114-121; Argento E. Preventing sexually transmitted and blood borne infections (STBBIs) among sex workers: a critical review of the evidence on determinants and interventions in high-income countries. BMC Infect Dis 2019; 19(1): 212.

[237] See, e.g., Argento E et al. <u>The Loss of Boystown and Transition to Online Sex Work: Strategies and Barriers to Increase Safety Among Men Sex Workers and Clients of Men</u>. *American Journal of Public Health* 2018; 12(6): 1994–2005.

[238] Karam J, Conrad R. On the Move: A Needs Assessment of Guys in the Sex Industry Working in Québec-Montréal-Ottawa-Toronto. MAX Ottawa et al, Fall 2020; Gerrard-Martinez R. On the Move 2.0: A Follow-Up Needs Assessment of Guys in the Sex Industry Working in Toronto-Ottawa- Montréal-Québec. Fall 2020/Winter 2021.

[239] Redwood R. "Myths and Realities of Male Sex Work: A Personal Perspective," in: van der Meulen E et al, eds., *Selling Sex: Experience, Advocacy and Research on Sex Work in Canada*. Vancouver: UBC Press, 2013.

[240] E.g. see the perspectives of sex workers reflected in the community-based research report <u>Challenges: Ottawa area sex workers</u> <u>speak out</u>, <u>supra</u> and <u>Gerrard-Martinez</u>, <u>supra</u>; Jiao Z, Bungay V. <u>Intersections of stigma, mental health and sex work: How Canadian menengaged in sex work navigate and resist stigma to protect their mental health</u>. <u>Journal of Sex Research</u> 2019; 56(4-5), 641-649; Siegel K et al. <u>Perceived Stigma and Stigma Management Strategies Among Online Male Sex Workers</u>. <u>Arch Sex Behav</u> 2022; 51(5): 2711-2730.

[241] Lazarus L et al. Occupational stigma as a primary barrier to health care for street-based sex workers in Canada. Cult Health Sex 2012; 14(2): 139-50; Argento E et al. The impact of end-demand legislation on sex workers' access to health and sex worker-led services: A community-based prospective cohort study in Canada. PLOS One 2020; 15(4): e0225783; Lyons CE et al. The role of sex work laws and stigmas in increasing HIV risks among sex workers. Nature Communications 2020; 11(1): 773; Platt L et al. Associations between sex work laws and sex workers' health: a systematic review and meta-analysis of quantitative and qualitative studies. PLOS Med 2018; 15(12): e1002680; Johnson L et al. Interventions to improve health and the determinants of health among sex workers in high-income countries: a systematic review. Lancet Public Health 2023; 8(2): e141-e154.

[242] Goldenberg S et al. <u>Police-related barriers to harm reduction linked to non-fatal overdose amongst sex workers who use drugs:</u> Results of a community-based cohort in Metro Vancouver, Canada. Int J Drug Policy 2020; 76: 102618,

[243] Armstrong et al, supra.

[244] See companion document for more detailed review of the evidence regarding socio-economic status and sexual orientation, and the relationships between income, homelessness, and substance use among GBT2Q people.

[245] Anderson-Carpenter et al, supra.

[246] Li MJ et al. <u>Intersecting burdens: Homophobic victimization</u>, <u>unstable housing</u>, <u>and methamphetamine use in a cohort of men of color who have sex with men</u>. Drug Alcohol Depend 2018; 192: 179-185.

[247] Kinitz DJ et al. Health of two-spirit, lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender people experiencing poverty in Canada: a review. Health Promotion International 2021; 37(1): daab057; Bauer GR et al. Occurrence of multiple mental health or substance use outcomes among bisexuals: a respondent-driven sampling study. BMC Public Health 2016; 16: 497; Lachowsky NJ et al. Lifetime Doctor-Diagnosed Mental Health Conditions and Current Substance Use Among Gay and Bisexual Men Living in Vancouver, Canada. Substance Use & Misuse 2017; 52(6), 785–797. See also: B. Rosner et al. Substance use among sexual minorities in the US – Linked to inequalities and unmet need for mental health treatment? Results from the National Survey on Drug Use and Health (NSDUH). Journal of Psychiatric Research 2021; 135: 107-118; Schroeder SE et al. Does sexuality matter? A cross-sectional study of drug use, social injecting, and access to injection-specific care among men who inject drugs in Melbourne, Australia. Harm Reduction Journal 2023; 20(1): 9.

[248] Ecker J. <u>Queer, young, and homeless: A review of the literature</u>. *Child & Youth Services* 2016; 1–37; Gaetz S et al. <u>Without a Home: The National Youth Homelessness Survey</u>. Toronto: Canadian Observatory on Homelessness Press, 2016; Abramovich A. <u>Evidence</u>, House of Commons Standing Committee on Health, Mtg. 138, 9 April 2019.

[249] Ecker, supra; Kidd et al, supra; Abramovich A et al. Investigating the impacts of COVID-19 among LGBTQ2S youth experiencing homelessness. PLOS ONE 2021; 16(9): e0257693; Hail-Jares K et al. Queer homelessness: the distinct experiences of sexuality and transgender diverse youth. Journal of LGBT Youth 2021 (online 16 Oct).

- [250] Randle J et al. <u>Housing experiences in Canada: LGBTQ2+ people in 2018</u>. *Housing Statistics in Canada*. Ottawa: Statistics Canada, November 22, 2021; Uppal S. <u>"A portrait of Canadians who have been homeless."</u> Ottawa: Statistics Canada, 14 March 2022.
- [251] <u>Transforming Our Systems: the 2022 report of the National Advisory Council on Poverty</u>. Ottawa: Government of Canada, 2022.
- [252] Ecker J et al. A Review of the Literature on LGBTQ Adults Who Experience Homelessness. Journal of Homosexuality 2017; 66(3): 297.
- [253] Card KG et al. A latent class analysis of substance use and culture among gay, bisexual and other men who have sex with men. Cult Health Sex 2018; 20(12): 1424-1439.
- [254] McLeod et al, supra.

[255] Fraser B et al. <u>LGBTIQ+ Homelessness</u>: A Review of the Literature. *Int J Env Res Pub Health* 2019; 16: 2677. See also: McCarthy L & Parr S. <u>Is LGBT homelessness different? Reviewing the relationship between LGBT identity and homelessness.</u> *Housing Studies* 2022 (online 10 Aug).

[256] Reback CJ et al. Prevention case management improves socioeconomic standing and reduces symptoms of psychological and emotional distress among transgender women. AIDS Care 2012; 24: 1136-1144; Nyamathi AM et al. Impact of Community-Based Programs on Incarceration Outcomes Among Gay and Bisexual Stimulant-Using Homeless Adults. Community Mental Health Journal 2016; 52(8): 1037-1042; Nyamathi AM et al. Impact of tailored interventions to reduce drug use and sexual risk behaviors among homeless gay and bisexual men. American Journal of Men's Health 2017; 11: 208-220. A subsequent review, however, has characterized this last study as poor quality for several reasons, including inappropriate control conditions and poor statistical analysis, and disputes the conclusion that the intervention was associated with a reduction in number of sexual partners: Sewell J et al. Effectiveness of interventions aimed at reducing HIV acquisition and transmission among gay and bisexual men who have sex with men (GBMSM) in high income settings: A systematic review. PLOS One 2022; 17(10): e0276209.

[257] Among people who inject drugs surveyed between January 2017 and May 2019 in 14 sentinel sites across Canada, three-quarters (75.7%) reported ever having been incarcerated: Public Health Agency of Canada. <u>Determinants of HIV and Hepatitis C among people who inject drugs in Canada, 2017-2019</u>. *Canada Communicable Disease Report* 2020; 46(5): 149; Kouyoumdjian F et al. <u>Health status prisoners in Canada: Narrative review</u>. *Canadian Family Physician* 2016; 62: 215-222.

[258] Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness Canada. "Corrections Fast Facts: Drugs in Prisons", 2007 (on file); Kouyoumdjian F et al. Health status prisoners in Canada: Narrative review. Canadian Family Physician 2016; 62: 215-222; Butsang T et al. Sex differences in preincarceration mental illness, substance use, injury and sexually transmitted infections and health service utilization: a longitudinal linkage study of people serving federal sentences in Ontario. Health Justice 2023; 11: 19; Chu SKH et al. Points of Perspective: Research Report on the Federal Prison Needle Exchange Program in Canada. HIV Legal Network and Toronto Metropolitan University, November 2022. See also: Cram S, MacDonald SF. Men Offenders' Substance Use Patterns: An Ethnocultural Comparison over Time (2006 to 2019) (RIB-20-08). Ottawa: Correctional Service of Canada, 2022; Kent P, Young M. Proportion of Crimes Associated with Substance Use (RIB-19-13). Ottawa: Correctional Service of Canada, 2021.

[259] Public Safety Canada. 2021 Corrections and Conditional Release Statistical Overview. Ottawa, 2023. See also the first Canadian study presenting detailed incarceration rates by race, reporting substantial over-representation of Black men in provincial correctional facilities in Ontario, and that a large proportion of Black men experience incarceration: Owusu-Bempa A et al. Race and Incarceration: The Representation and Characteristics of Black People in Provincial Correctional Facilities in Ontario, Canada. Race and Justice 2021: 21533687211006461.

[260] Harvey TD et al. <u>Availability of accessible representative health data to examine sexual and gender minority disparities in incarceration and its health implications in the United States</u>, 2010-2020. *LGBT Health* 2022; 9(2): 81-93.

[261] Jacobsen K et al. <u>Prevalence and Correlates of Incarceration Among Trans Men, Nonbinary People, and Two-Spirit People in Canada</u>. *Journal of Correctional Health Care* 2023; 29(1): 47-59.

[262] Scheim A et al. Joint Effort: Prison Experiences of Trans PULSE Participants and Recommendations for Change. Trans PULSE E-Bulletin 2013 (April 22); 3(3).

[263] MacDonald SF et al. <u>Examination of Gender Diverse Offenders</u>, Research Report No. R-442. Ottawa: Correctional Service Canada, 2022. In CSC's assessment, nearly 70% of the trans people included in this profile had a "moderate" (17.8%) or "high" (52%) severity of "substance abuse" as measured using CSC's Computerized Assessment of Substance Abuse (CASA) index, which incorporates various standardized instruments.

[264] Consultation with expert researchers in this field confirmed this assessment, and correspondence (on file) with CSC's Research Branch confirms that CSC does not have data regarding sexual orientation of those in federal institutions.

[265] Jacobsen K et al, supra.

[266] Stone J, et al. <u>Incarceration history and risk of HIV and hepatitis C virus acquisition among people who inject drugs: a systematic review and meta-analysis</u>. Lancet Infect Dis 2018; 18(12): 1397–1409.

[267] Jacobsen K et al, supra.

[268] E.g. van der Meulen E. et al. On Point: Recommendations for Prison-Based Needle and Syringe Programs in Canada. Toronto, ON: Canadian HIV/AIDS Legal Network, 2016; Chu et al, supra; HIV Legal Network & CAAN. Policy Brief on HIV, Hepatitis C and STBBIs among Indigenous People, March 2023.

[269] E.g. Canadian Medical Association, Resolution 26 of 17 August 2005; Canadian Public Health Association. Intervener Factum in Simons et al v. Minister of Public Safety et al, 2020 ONSC 1431 (CanLII); United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime. A Handbook for Starting and Managing Needle and Syringe Programmes in Prisons and Other Closed Settings. Vienna: UNODC, 2014; UNAIDS. Fact Sheet: HIV and People in Prisons and Other Closed Settings. Geneva: UNAIDS, 2021; Office of the Correctional Investigator. Office of the Correctional Investigator Annual Report 2021-2022. Ottawa: OCI, 2022.

[270] Kidd JD et al. <u>A scoping review of alcohol, tobacco, and other drug use treatment interventions for sexual and gender minority populations</u>. *J Subst Abuse Treat* 2022; 133: 108539.

[271] Centre for Addiction and Mental Health. *Opioid Agonist Therapy: A Synthesis of Canadian Guidelines for Treating Opioid Use Disorder*. Toronto: CAMH, May 2021.

[272] E.g. Girouard MP et al. <u>Understanding and treating opioid use disorders in lesbian gay, bisexual, transgender, and queer populations</u>. Subst Abuse 2019; 40(3): 335-9.

[273] Corace K. "Scoping review of evidence regarding psychosocial and pharmacologic interventions for methamphetamine use disorder and problematic methamphetamine use: planning and prioritizing future research," in: <u>Methamphetamine and Related Psychostimulant Use: End-of-Grant Workshop – What We Heard Report</u>. Canadian Institutes for Health Research, 15 February 2022.

[274] *Ibid*; Karamouzian M. "What works for methamphetamine use disorder? A systematic review of reviews," in: <u>Methamphetamine and Related Psychostimulant Use: End-of-Grant Workshop – What We Heard Report.</u> Canadian Institutes for Health Research, 15 February 2022; Li M, Shoptaw S. <u>Clinical management of psychostimulant withdrawal: review of the evidence</u>. <u>Addiction</u> 2023; 118(4): 750-762.

[275] British Columbia Centre on Substance Use, supra.

[276] Canadian Association of People who Use Drugs. Safe Supply: Concept Document. February 2019.

[277] *Ibid.*, pp. 4-5.

[278] *Ibid.*, p. 9.

[279] AshaRani PV et al. Non-pharmacological interventions for methamphetamine use disorder: a systematic review. Drug Alcohol Depend 2020; 212: 108060. Since this review, there have been additional reports in the literature of the value of aerobic exercise as an intervention in treating methamphetamine use disorder: e.g. Xu J et al. Effects of moderate-intensity exercise on social health and physical and mental health of methamphetamine-dependent individuals: A randomized controlled trial. Front Psychiatry 2022: 13:997960 (and previous studies cited therein).

[280] Ronsley C et al. Treatment of stimulant use disorder: A systematic review of reviews. PLOS ONE 2020; 15(6): e0234809,

[281] Knight R et al. Interventions to address substance use and sexual risk among gay, bisexual and other men who have sex with men who use methamphetamine: A systematic review. Drug Alcohol Depend 2019; 194: 410–429. See also: Knight R. Investments in implementation science are needed to address the harms associated with the sexualized use of substances among gay, bisexual and other men who have sex with men. J Int AIDS Soc 2018, 21, e25141.

[282] See: studies regarding GBMSM-tailored CBT programs discussed in <u>AshaRani et al</u>; Burgess K et al. <u>Re-Wired: treatment and peer support for men who have sex with men who use methamphetamine.</u> Sex Health 2018; 15(2): 157-159; Carrico AW et al. <u>Randomized controlled trail of a positive affect intervention for methamphetamine users.</u> Drug and Alcohol Dependence 2018; 192: 8-15; Carrico AW et al. <u>Randomized controlled trial of a positive affect intervention to reduce HIV viral load among sexual minority men who use methamphetamine.</u> Journal of the International AIDS Society 2019; 22(12): e25436; Olem D et al. <u>Finding sunshine on a cloudy day: A positive affect intervention for co-occurring methamphetamine use and HIV.</u> Cognitive and Behavioral Practice 2022; 29(2): 267-279; Blair CS et al. <u>Contingency Management for Integrated Harm Reduction Among Men Who Have Sex with Men Who Use Methamphetamine in Los Angeles: A Pilot Assessment</u>. AIDS Behav 2023; 27(6): 1962-1971.

[283] Pantalone DW et al. <u>A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Combination Behavioral Interventions Co-Targeting Psychosocial Syndemics and HIV-Related Health Behaviors for Sexual Minority Men</u>. Journal of Sex Research 2020; 57(6): 681-708.

[284] Reback CJ & Shoptaw S. <u>Development of an evidence-based, gay-specific cognitive behavioral therapy intervention for methamphetamine-abusing gay and bisexual men</u>. *Addict Behav* 2014; 39(8): 1286-1291; Shoptaw S et al. <u>Behavioral treatment approaches for methamphetamine dependence and HIV-related sexual risk behaviors among urban gay and bisexual men</u>. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence* 2005; 78(2): 125-134.

[285] Foreman-Mackey A & Kazatchkine C. <u>Overdue for a Change: Scaling up Supervised Consumption Services in Canada</u>. Toronto: Canadian HIV/AIDS Legal Network, 2019; Russell C et al. <u>'Small communities, large oversight': The impact of recent legislative changes concerning supervised consumption services on small communities in Ontario, Canada</u>. *IJDP* 2020; 82: 102822.

- [286] Wild TC et al. Public support for harm reduction: A population survey of Canadian adults. PLOS ONE 2021; 16(5): e0251860.
- [287] Maghsoudi N et al. <u>Drug checking services for people who use drugs: a systematic review</u>. *Addiction* 2022; 117(3): 532-544.
- [288] CAPUD, supra; National Safer Supply Community of Practice. Prescribed Safer Supply Programs: Emerging Evidence. 2023
- [289] Haines M & O'Byrne M. Safer opioid supply: qualitative program evaluation. Harm Reduction Journal 2023; 20: 53.
- [290] Karamouzian M et al. "Challenges of implementing safer supply initiatives in Canada: A qualitative analysis." *Harm Reduction 2023: Strength in Solidarity, Melbourne*, 16-19 April 2023, Abstract <u>HR23-88</u>.
- [291] See DULF's detailed exemption request at <a href="https://www.dulf.ca/sect56">https://www.dulf.ca/sect56</a>.

[292] Mok J et al. <u>Use of Cannabis for Harm Reduction Among People at High Risk for Overdose in Vancouver, Canada (2016–2018)</u>.

American Journal of Public Health 2021; 111: 969-972. Mok J et al. <u>Use of Cannabis as a Harm Reduction Strategy Among People Who Use Drugs: A Cohort Study.</u> Cannabis and Cannabinoid Research 2022 (May 31), doi: 10.1089/can.2021.0229; Lake SL. <u>Cannabis use during an opioid-related public health crisis: implications for therapeutic advancements and harm reduction initiatives.</u> PhD Dissertation, University of British Columbia, 2020; Paul B et al. <u>"Something that actually works": Cannabis use among young people in the context of street entrenchment. *PLOS One* 2020; 15(7): e0236243.</u>

[293] Note that in addition to fixed-site SCS at various community health centres and a few mobile SCS in some specific cities, there is at least one SCS embedded in a hospital (operating at the <u>Royal Alexandra Hospital</u> in Edmonton, AB since April 2018): Dong KA et al. <u>Supervised consumption services for acute care hospital patients</u>. CMAJ 2020; 192(18): E476-E479. The federal correctional system has also implemented in June 2019 an overdose prevention site in one federal prison (Drumheller Institution in Drumheller, AB): Correctional Service Canada. "<u>The Overdose Prevention Service</u>".

[294] Gaudette et al. <u>Needs and experiences of people practicing chemsex with support services: toward chemsex-affirmative interventions</u>. Journal of Men's Health 2022; 18(12): 57-67.

[295] E.g. <u>Salway et al</u> (2019), supra.

[296] WHO, supra.

- [297] Farrell M et al. Responding to global stimulant use: challenges and opportunities. Lancet 2019; 394: 1652-1667; Strong et al, supra.
- [298] Mansoor et al, supra; Harding RW et al, supra.
- [299] Wilkerson JM et al. <u>Substance-use and sexual harm reduction strategies of methamphetamine-using men who have sex with men and inject drugs</u>. AIDS Care 2015; 27(8): 1047-54.

- [300] Brogan et al, supra; Knight et al (2018), supra.
- [301] Knight et al (2019), supra; Knight et al (2018), supra.
- [302] Karamouzian M, supra.
- [303] Chayama KL et al. <u>Young sexual and gender minority men's perspectives on drug checking services in Metro Vancouver, Canada: a qualitative study.</u> *Harm Reduction 2023*, Melbourne, 16-19 April 2023, Abstract HR23-250.
- [304] Government of Canada. <u>Background Document: Public Consultation on Strengthening Canada's Approach to Substance Use Issues.</u>
  Ottawa: September 2018.
- [305] Government of Canada. What we heard: Strengthening Canada's approach to substance use issues. Ottawa, 2019.
- [306] Chaiton M et al. Mental Health and Addiction Services Exclusive to LGBTQ2S+ during COVID-19: An Environmental Scan. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2022; 19(10): 5919.
- [307] Scheim A et al. <u>HIV incidence among men who have sex with men and inject drugs in a Canadian setting</u>. *AIDS Behav* 2018; 22(12): 3957–3961.
- [308] Edmonton 2SLGBTQ+ Substance Use Survey. Edmonton, AB: Queer & Trans Health Collective et al, 2018.
- [309] Salway T et al. <u>The need and desire for mental health and substance use-related services among clients of publicly funded sexually transmitted infection clinics in Vancouver, Canada</u>. *Journal of Public Health Management and Practice* 2019; 5(3): E1–10.
- [310] Arthur S et al. <u>Supporting Gay, Bisexual, Trans, Queer, and Two-Spirit (GBT2Q) People who Use Crystal Methamphetamine</u>. Vancouver: Community-Based Research Centre, 2021.
- [311] Gaudette et al, supra.
- [312] CBRC, "Substance Use Among GBT2Q", blog post August 4, 2022.
- [313] Government of Canada, Background Document (2018), supra.
- [314] Ibid. See also: Slaunwhite AK. <u>The Role of Gender and Income in Predicting Barriers to Mental Health Care in Canada</u>. Community Mental Health Journal 2015; 51 (5): 621–627; Ross LE et al. <u>In Spite of the System: A Qualitatively-Driven Mixed Methods Analysis of the Mental Health Service Experiences of LGBTQ People Living in Poverty in Ontario, Canada</u>. PLOS One 2018; 13(8): e0201437; 2 Spirits in Motion Society. <u>2 Spirit Health Legislation Project: Final Report</u>. Vancouver: 2SiMs, 2022.
- [315] Salway et al (2019), supra.
- [316] Ferlatte O et al. <u>Perceived Barriers to Mental Health Services Among Canadian Sexual and Gender Minorities with Depression and at Risk of Suicide</u>. Community Ment Health J 2019; 55(8): 1313-1321.
- [317] Gaspar et al, 2019, supra.

[318] Card K et al. Perceived difficulty of getting help to reduce or abstain from substances among sexual and gender minority men who have sex with men (SGMSM) and use methamphetamine during the early period of the COVID-19 pandemic. Substance Abuse Treatment, Prevention, and Policy 2021; 16(1): 88-98; Fulcher K et al. <u>Understanding the Service Needs and Preferences of Men Who Have Sex with Men Who Use Crystal Methamphetamine in British Columbia, Canada: a Qualitative Study</u>. Int J Ment Health Addiction 2022; <u>Gaudette et al</u>, supra.

[319] Agnew ER et al. <u>Variations in stigma by sexual orientation and substance use: An investigation of double stigma</u>. *Journal of Gay & Lesbian Social Services* 2023; 35(1): 1-12; Brener L et al. <u>The impact of sources of stigma on health care avoidance among gay and bisexual men in Australia</u>. *AIDS Care* 2022; 1–9; Eaton LA et al. <u>The role of stigma and medical mistrust in the routine health care engagement of Black men who have sex with men</u>. *Am J Public Health* 2014; 105(2): e75-82; Li MJ et al. <u>Intersecting burdens: Homophobic victimization</u>, <u>unstable housing, and methamphetamine use in a cohort of men of color who have sex with men</u>. *Drug Alcohol Depend* 2019; 192: 179-85.

[320] Kidd et al, supra.

[321] Bauer GR et al. Reported emergency department avoidance, use, and experiences of transgender persons in Ontario, Canada: results from a respondent-driven sampling survey. Ann Emerg Med 2014; 63(6):713-20.e1.

[322] Giblon R, Bauer GR. <u>Health care availability, quality, and unmet need: a comparison of transgender and cisgender residents of Ontario, Canada</u>. *BMC Health Serv Res* 2017; 17(1): 283.

[323] Cumming C et al. <u>Barriers to accessing methamphetamine treatment: A systematic review and meta-analysis</u>. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence* 2016; 168: 263-273; Hammarlund R et al. <u>Review of the effects of self-stigma and perceived social stigma on the treatment-seeking decisions of individuals with drug- and alcohol-use disorders</u>. *Subst Abuse Rehabil* 2018; 9:115-136; Government of Canada. <u>Background Document: Public Consultation on Strengthening Canada's Approach to Substance Use Issues</u>. Ottawa: September 2018.

[324] Salway et al (2019), supra.

[325] Edmonton 2SLGBTQ+ Substance Use Survey, supra.

[326] Arthur S et al. Supporting Gay, Bisexual, Trans, Queer, and Two-Spirit (GBT2Q) People who Use Crystal Methamphetamine. Vancouver: Community-Based Research Centre, 2021, p. 15.

[327] Gaudette et al, supra.

[328] Gaudette et al, supra.

[329] McGuire et al, 2020, supra.

[330] MacFarlane, supra.

[331] Day M. Guest editorial, Special issue: "Chemsex – Apps, drugs and the right to pleasure," Drugs and Alcohol Today 2019; 19(1): 1-2.

[332] E.g. <u>Dowsett et al</u>, supra; Ahmed AK et al. <u>Social norms related to combining drugs and sex ("chemsex") among gay men in South London</u>. *Int J Drug Policy* 2016; 38: 29-35; Treloar C et al. <u>Stigma as understood by key informants: A social ecological approach to gay and bisexual men's use of crystal methamphetamine for sex. *Int J Drug Policy* 2021; 94: 103229; <u>Levy</u>, *supra*.</u>

[333] <u>Edmonton 2SLGBTQ+ Substance Use Survey</u>, *supra*.; <u>Flores-Aranda et al</u>, *supra*; Souleymanov R et al. <u>Social Exclusion</u>, <u>Resilience and Social Worker Preparedness: Providing Services to Gay and Bisexual Men Who Party-N-Play</u>. *British Journal of Social Work* 2021; 51(8): 3228-3247; <u>Card et al</u> (2021), *supra*.

[334] Fulcher et al, supra.

[335] Card et al (2021), supra.

[336] Thomas A. "Harm Reduction the Peer N Peer Way: Community Support at the Nexus of Sex and Drugs." Community-Based Research Centre, 9 January 2023.

[337] Bourne & Weatherburn, supra.

[338] Ralphs R, Gray P. New psychoactive substances: new service provider challenges. Drugs: Education Prevention and Policy 2017; 25(4): 1-12; Smiles C et al. Needle exchange practitioners accounts of delivering harm reduction advice for chemsex: implications for policy and practice. Drugs: Education, Prevention and Policy 2023; 30(3): 250-258.

[339] Fulcher et al, supra.

[340] Arthur et al, supra.

[341] <u>Gaudette et al</u>, <u>supra</u>. See also: Bedi A et al. <u>Peer-led education may be an effective harm reduction strategy for men who have sex with men engaging in 'chemsex'</u>. Int J STD & AIDS 2020; 31(4): 392; Nagington M, King S. <u>Support, care and peer support for gay and bi men engaging in chemsex</u>. Health & Social Care in the Community 2022; 30(6).

[342] McGuire et al, 2020, supra.

[343] Johnson C. Remarks during "Webinar: A Conversation on Anti-Racism in Substance Use Work." Public Health Ontario, 28 March 2022.

[344] Marshall Z et al. Peering into the literature: a systematic review of the roles of people who inject drugs in harm reduction initiatives. Drug Alcohol Depend 2015; 151: 1-14. See also: Jürgens R. "Nothing About Us Without Us": Greater, Meaningful Involvement of People Who Use Illegal Drugs: A Public Health, Ethical, and Human Rights Imperative. Toronto: Canadian HIV/AIDS Legal Network, 2005.

[345] Touesnard N et al. Hear Us, See Us, Respect Us: Respecting the Expertise of People Who Use Drugs. CAPUD & CDPC, 2021; People with Lived Expertise of Drug Use National Working Group et al. Having a voice and saving livings: a qualitative survey on employment impacts of people with lived experience of drug use working in harm reduction. Harm Reduction Journal 2021; 18(1): 1; "From principle to practice: What does the literature tell us about the engagement of people who use drugs in harm reduction programming?" Prevention in Focus, Spring 2021 (9 February 2021).

[346] See, e.g., <u>Decriminalization Done Right: A Rights-Based Path for Drug Policy</u>, 2021, a common platform of Canadian civil society organizations on decriminalization; Health Canada Expert Task Force on Substance Use: <u>Report 1: Recommendations on alternatives to criminal penalties for simple possession of controlled substances</u> (May 2021) and <u>Report 2: Recommendations on the federal government's drug policy as articulated in a draft Canadian Drugs and Substances Strategy (CDSS)</u>; and UN Chief Executives Board, <u>"United Nations system common position supporting the implementation of the international drug control policy through effective interagency collaboration,"</u> UN Doc. CEB/2018/2 (Annex 1), 18 January 2019.

[347] Health Canada. "Exemption from Controlled Drugs and Substances Act: Personal possession of small amounts of certain illegal drugs in British Columbia (January 31, 2023 to January 31, 2026)". 1 February 2023. For background, see: Decriminalizing People Who Use Drugs: Making the Ask, Minimizing the Harms – A Primer for Municipal and Provincial Governments. Toronto: HIV Legal Network, 2020.

[348] See recommendations to this effect in: Butler-McPhee J et al. <u>The Good Samaritan Drug Overdose Act: The Good, the Bad, and the Ineffective</u>. Toronto: Canadian HIV/AIDS Legal Network, 2020.

[349] Wilton J et al. <u>Use of an HIV-risk screening tool to identify optimal candidates for PrEP scale-up among men who have sex with men in Toronto, Canada: Disconnect between objective and subjective HIV risk. *Journal of the IAS* 2016; 19(1): 20777; Schwartz C. <u>Vapour and mirrors: poppers in the context of Canadian drug policy</u>, Community-Based Research Centre, 2019; Schwartz C et al. <u>Poppers, queer sex and a Canadian crackdown: Examining the experiences of alkyl nitrite use among young sexual minority men. *Int J Drug Policy* 2020; 77(): 102670; Lachowsky N. "U=U, PrEP, Substance Use, and HIV Self-Testing: Key Findings from Sex Now 2021," 14 June 2022.</u></u>

[350] Community-Based Research Centre et al. <u>"Response to Health Canada's Policy on Poppers,"</u> June 2021; Knight R et al. <u>Assessing options for poppers policy in Canada: A call to action for evidence-based policy reform</u>. *Int J Drug Policy* 2023; 115: 104017.

[351] Goldenberg S et al. <u>Police-related barriers to harm reduction linked to non-fatal overdose amongst sex workers who use drugs:</u> Results of a community-based cohort in Metro Vancouver, Canada. *Int J Drug Policy* 2020; 76: 102618, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2019.102618">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2019.102618</a>.

[352] Canadian Association for Sex Work Law Reform. <u>Safety, Dignity, Equality: Recommendations for Sex Work Law Reform in Canada</u>, 2017.

[353] For a discussion of the community/academic collaboration in constructing Monbuzz.ca, see: Aubut V et al. A community-based case study of the co-construction of an online intervention with gay and bisexual men who use substances, Journal of Community Practice 2023; Flores-Aranda J. Online intervention as strategy to reach men who have sex with other men and who use substances in a sexual context. Development of the MONBUZZ.Ca project. Frontiers in Psychiatry 2019; 10: 183; Goyette M et al. Links SU-Sex: Development of a screening tool for health-risk sexual behaviours related to substance use among men who have sex with men. Sexual Health 2018; 15(2): 160, https://doi.org/10.1071/SH17134.

[354] Public Health Agency of Canada. HIV in Canada, Surveillance Report to December 31, 2020 (July 2022).

[355] <u>Reducing the health impact of sexually transmitted and blood-borne infections in Canada by 2030: A pan-Canadian STBBI framework for action</u>. Ottawa: Government of Canada, 2018; <u>Accelerating our response: Government of Canada five-year action plan on sexually transmitted and blood-borne infections</u>, Ottawa: Government of Canada, 2019.

[356] Government of Canada. "The New Canadian Drugs and Substances Strategy," 12 December 2016.

[357] "Health Canada Funding: Substance Use and Addictions Program," www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/substance-use/canadian-drugs-substances-strategy/funding.html#a1.

[358] Government of Canada. Federal 2SLGBTQI+ Action Plan: An Ongoing Commitment to Action

text Control Compulsion Coping Concealment Consequences Care Competer passion Comprehensive Change Community Colonization Culture Ceremony nk Club Craving Connection Cock Condom Cum Cam Consent Conversation C pulsion Coping Concealment Consequences Care Competence Compassior prehensive Change Community Colonization Culture Ceremony Chems Cryst ring Connection Cock Condom Cum Cam Consent Conversation Context Cont pulsion Coping Concealment Consequences Care Competence Compassior prehensive Change Community Colonization Culture Ceremony Chems Cryst ring Connection Cock Condom Cum Cam Consent Conversation Context Cont pulsion Coping Concealment Consequences Chems Crystal Crank Club Cravi

ms Crystal Crank Club Craving Connection Cock <u>Condom Cum Cam Consent (</u>

nection Cock Condom Cum Cam Consent Conversation Context Control Com cealment Consequences Care Competence Compassion Comprehensive Ch munity Colonization Culture Ceremony Chems Crystal Crank Club Craving Co dom Cum Cam Consent Conversation Context Control Compulsion Coping Ce cealmentCare Competence Compassion Comprehensive Change Communit ure Consequences Care Competence Compassion Comprehensive Change C nization Culture Ceremony Chems Crystal Crank Change Club Craving Care C

sent Conversation Context Control Culture Club Ceremony Community Conc sequences Care Competence Connection Comprehensive Change Communi nization Ceremony Chems Crystal Care Club Craving Connection Cock Cond passion Conversation Context Control Community Coping Club Concealmen

sequences Chems Crystal Crank Club Craving Connection Cock Condom Cun cealment Conversation Context Control Compulsion Coping Concealment Co emony Chems Crystal Crank Club Craving Connection Cock Condom Cum Car versation Context Control Compulsion Coping Concealment Consequences C petence Compassion Comprehensive Change Community Colonization Cultu ms Crystal Crank Club Craving Connection Cock Condom Cum Cam Consent ( text Control Compulsion Coping Concealment Consequences Care Competer passion Comprehensive Change Community Colonization Culture Ceremony nk Club Craving Connection Cock Condom Cum Cam Consent Conversation C

pulsion Coping Concealment Consequences Care Competence Compassior

prehensive Change Community Colonization Culture Ceremony Chems Cryst



is Cryst ext Cont pulsion Coping 50 feet to the compassion prehensive Change Community Colonization Culture Ceremony Chems Cryst ring Connection Cock Condom Cum Cam Consent Conversation Context Cont pulsion Coping Concealment Consequences Care Competence Compassior prehensive Change Community Colonization Culture Ceremony Chems Cryst ring Connection Cock Condom Cum Cam Consent Conversation Context Cont